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IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Greif, Inc.
and subsidiaries (this “Form 10-K”) or incorporated herein, including, without limitation, statements regarding our
future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, goals and plans and objectives of management
for future operations, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “project,”
“believe,” “continue,” “on track” or “target” or the negative thereof or variations thereon or similar terminology. All
forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K are based on information currently available to our management.
Forward-looking statements speak only as the date the statements were made. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in forward-looking statements have a reasonable basis, we can give no assurance that these
expectations will prove to be correct. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual events or results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the statements. For a
discussion of the most significant risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from
those projected, see “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K. The risks described in this Form 10-K are not all
inclusive, and given these and other possible risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results. All forward-looking statements made in this
Form 10-K are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference to such risk factors. Except to the limited extent
required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
(a) General Development of Business

We are a leading global producer of industrial packaging products and services with manufacturing facilities located
in over 50 countries. We offer a comprehensive line of rigid industrial packaging products, such as steel, fibre and
plastic drums, rigid intermediate bulk containers, closure systems for industrial packaging products, transit protection
products, water bottles and reconditioned containers, and services such as container lifecycle management, blending,
filling and other packaging services, logistics and warehousing. We are also a leading global producer of flexible
intermediate bulk containers and North American provider of industrial and consumer multiwall bag products. We
also produce containerboard and corrugated products for niche markets in North America. We sell timber to third
parties from our timberland in the southeastern United States that we manage to maximize long-term value. We also
own timberland in Canada that we do not actively manage. In addition, we sell, from time to time, timberland and
special use land, which consists of surplus land, higher and better use (“HBU”) land, and development land. Our
customers range from Fortune 500 companies to medium and small-sized companies in a cross section of industries.
We were founded in 1877 in Cleveland, Ohio, as “Vanderwyst and Greif,” a cooperage shop co-founded by one of
four Greif brothers. One year after our founding, the other three Greif brothers were invited to join the business,
renamed Greif Bros. Company, making wooden barrels, casks and kegs to transport post-Civil War goods nationally
and internationally. We later purchased nearly 300,000 acres of timberland to provide raw materials for our
cooperage plants. We still own significant timber properties located in the southeastern United States and in Canada.
In 1926, we incorporated as a Delaware corporation and made a public offering as The Greif Bros. Cooperage
Corporation. In 1951, we moved our headquarters from Cleveland, Ohio to Delaware, Ohio, which is in the
Columbus metro-area, where our corporate headquarters are currently located. Since the latter half of the 1900s, we
have transitioned from our keg and barrel heading mills, stave mills and cooperage facilities to a global producer of
industrial packaging products. Following our acquisition of Van Leer in 2001, a global steel and plastic drum
manufacturer, we changed our name to Greif, Inc.
Our fiscal year begins on November 1 and ends on October 31 of the following year. Any references in this
Form 10-K to the years 2010, 2009 or 2008, or to any quarter of those years, relate to the fiscal year ending in that
year.
As used in this Form 10-K, the terms “Greif,” “Company”, “our company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Greif, Inc.
and its subsidiaries.
(b) Financial Information about Segments

We operate in four business segments: Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services; Flexible Products & Services; Paper
Packaging; and Land Management. Information related to each of these segments is included in Note 17 to the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
(c) Narrative Description of Business
Products and Services

In the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment, we are a leading global provider of rigid industrial packaging
products, including steel, fibre and plastic drums, rigid intermediate bulk containers, closure systems for industrial
packaging products, transit protection products, water bottles and reconditioned containers, and services, such as
container lifecycle management, blending, filling and other packaging services, logistics and warehousing. We sell
our industrial packaging products to customers in industries such as chemicals, paints and pigments, food and
beverage, petroleum, industrial coatings, agricultural, pharmaceutical and mineral, among others.
In the Flexible Products & Services segment, we are a leading global producer of flexible intermediate bulk
containers and a North American provider of industrial and consumer multiwall bag products. Our flexible
intermediate bulk containers consist of a polypropylene-based woven fabric that is partly produced at our production
sites, as well as sourced from strategic regional suppliers. Our flexible products are sold globally and service
customers and market segments similar to those served by
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our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment. Additionally, our flexible products significantly expand our
presence in the agricultural and food industries, among others. Our industrial and consumer multiwall bag products
are used to ship a wide range of industrial and consumer products, such as seed, fertilizers, chemicals, concrete, flour,
sugar, feed, pet foods, popcorn, charcoal and salt, primarily for the agricultural, chemical, building products and food
industries.
In the Paper Packaging segment, we sell containerboard, corrugated sheets and other corrugated products to
customers in North America in industries such as packaging, automotive, food and building products. Our corrugated
container products are used to ship such diverse products as home appliances, small machinery, grocery products,
building products, automotive components, books and furniture, as well as numerous other applications. Operations
related to our industrial and consumer multiwall bag products have been reclassified to our Flexible Products &
Services segment.
In the Land Management segment, we are focused on the active harvesting and regeneration of our United States
timber properties to achieve sustainable long-term yields. While timber sales are subject to fluctuations, we seek to
maintain a consistent cutting schedule, within the limits of market and weather conditions. We also sell, from time to
time, timberland and special use land, which consists of surplus land, HBU land and development land.
As of October 31, 2010, we owned approximately 267,150 acres of timber property in the southeastern United States
and approximately 24,700 acres of timber property in Canada.
Customers

Due to the variety of our products, we have many customers buying different types of our products and due to the
scope of our sales, no one customer is considered principal in our total operations.
Backlog

We supply a cross-section of industries, such as chemicals, food products, petroleum products, pharmaceuticals and
metal products, and must make spot deliveries on a day-to-day basis as our products are required by our customers.
We do not operate on a backlog to any significant extent and maintain only limited levels of finished goods. Many
customers place their orders weekly for delivery during the week.
Competition

The markets in which we sell our products are highly competitive with many participants. Although no single
company dominates, we face significant competitors in each of our businesses. Our competitors include large
vertically integrated companies as well as numerous smaller companies. The industries in which we compete are
particularly sensitive to price fluctuations caused by shifts in industry capacity and other cyclical industry conditions.
Other competitive factors include design, quality and service, with varying emphasis depending on product line.
In both the rigid industrial packaging industry and flexible industrial packaging industry, we compete by offering a
comprehensive line of products on a global basis. In the paper packaging industry, we compete by concentrating on
providing value-added, higher-margin corrugated products to niche markets. In addition, over the past several years
we have closed higher cost facilities and otherwise restructured our operations, which we believe have significantly
improved our cost competitiveness.
Compliance with Governmental Regulations Concerning Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to extensive federal, state, local and international laws, regulations, rules and ordinances
relating to pollution, the protection of the environment, the generation, storage, handling, transportation, treatment,
disposal and remediation of hazardous substances and waste materials and numerous other environmental laws and
regulations. In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to periodic environmental inspections and monitoring
by governmental enforcement authorities. In addition, certain of our production facilities require environmental
permits that are subject to revocation, modification and renewal.
Based on current information, we believe that the probable costs of the remediation of company-owned property will
not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. We believe that we have
adequately reserved for our liability for these matters as of October 31, 2010.
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We do not believe that compliance with federal, state, local and international provisions, which have been enacted or
adopted regulating the discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the
environment, has had or will have a material effect upon our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position.
We do not anticipate any material capital expenditures related to environmental control in 2011.
Refer also to Item 7 of this Form 10-K and Note 14 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information concerning environmental expenses and cash expenditures for
2010, 2009 and 2008, and our reserves for environmental liabilities at October 31, 2010.
Raw Materials

Steel, resin and containerboard are the principal raw materials for the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
segment, resin is the primary raw material for the Flexible Products & Services segment, and pulpwood, old
corrugated containers for recycling and containerboard are the principal raw materials for the Paper Packaging
segment. We satisfy most of our needs for these raw materials through purchases on the open market or under shortterm and long-term supply agreements. All of these raw materials are purchased in highly competitive, pricesensitive markets, which have historically exhibited price, demand and supply cyclicality. From time to time, some of
these raw materials have been in short supply at certain of our manufacturing facilities. In those situations, we ship
the raw materials in short supply from one or more of our other facilities with sufficient supply to the facility or
facilities experiencing the shortage. To date, raw material shortages have not had a material adverse effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.
Research and Development

While research and development projects are important to our continued growth, the amount expended in any year is
not material in relation to our results of operations.
Other

Our businesses are not materially dependent upon patents, trademarks, licenses or franchises.
No material portion of our businesses is subject to renegotiation of profits or termination of contracts or subcontracts
at the election of a governmental agency or authority.
The businesses of our segments are not seasonal to any material extent.
Employees

As of October 31, 2010, we had approximately 12,250 full time employees, which has increased significantly from
the prior year as a result of twelve acquisitions completed during 2010, particularly in the Flexible Products &
Services segment. A significant number of our full time employees are covered under collective bargaining
agreements. We believe that our employee relations are generally good.
(d) Financial Information about Geographic Areas

Our operations are located in North and South America, Europe, the Middle East, Africa and the Asia Pacific region.
Information related to each of these areas is included in Note 17 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. Refer to Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk, included
in Item 7A of this Form 10-K.
(e) Available Information

We maintain a website at www.greif.com. We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) and make available, free of charge, on or through our website, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q or Form 10-Q/A, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy and information statements and
amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as
reasonably practicable after we have electronically filed such material with, or furnished it to, the SEC.
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Any of the materials we file with the SEC may also be read and/or copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at
100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the SEC’s Public Reference Room may be
obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.
(f) Other Matters

Our common equity securities are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbols GEF and
GEF.B. Michael J. Gasser, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has timely certified to the NYSE that, at the
date of the certification, he was unaware of any violation by our Company of the NYSE’s corporate governance
listing standards. In addition, Mr. Gasser and Donald S. Huml, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, have provided certain certifications in this Form 10-K regarding the quality of our public disclosures. Refer
to Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Form 10-K.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Statements contained in this Form 10-K may be “forward-looking” within the meaning of Section 21E of the
Exchange Act. Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause our
operating results to differ materially from those projected. The following factors, among others, in some cases have
affected, and in the future could affect, our actual financial and/or operational performance.
The Current and Future Challenging Global Economy may Adversely Affect Our Business.

The current global economic downturn and any further economic decline in future reporting periods could negatively
affect our business and results of operations. The volatility of the current economic climate makes it difficult for us to
predict the complete impact of this slowdown on our business and results of operations. Due to these current
economic conditions, our customers may face financial difficulties, the unavailability of or reduction in commercial
credit, or both, that may result in decreased sales by and revenues to our company. Certain of our customers may
cease operations or seek bankruptcy protection, which would reduce our cash flows and adversely impact our results
of operations. Our customers that are financially viable and not experiencing economic distress may elect to reduce
the volume of orders for our products in an effort to remain financially stable or as a result of the unavailability of
commercial credit which would negatively affect our results of operations. We may also have difficulty accessing the
global credit markets due to the tightening of commercial credit availability and the financial difficulties of our
customers, which would result in decreased ability to fund capital-intensive strategic projects and our ongoing
acquisition strategy. Further, we may experience challenges in forecasting revenues and operating results due to these
global economic conditions. The difficulty in forecasting revenues and operating results may result in volatility in the
market price of our common stock.
In addition, the lenders under our Credit Agreement and other borrowing facilities described in Item 7 of this
Form 10-K under “Liquidity and Capital Resources — Borrowing Arrangements” and the counterparties with whom
we maintain interest rate swap agreements, cross-currency interest rate swaps, currency forward contracts and
derivatives and other hedge agreements may be unable to perform their lending or payment obligations in whole or in
part, or may cease operations or seek bankruptcy protection, which would negatively affect our cash flows and our
results of operations.
Historically, Our Business has been Sensitive to Changes in General Economic or Business Conditions.

Our customers generally consist of other manufacturers and suppliers who purchase industrial packaging products
and containerboard and related corrugated products for their own containment and shipping purposes. Because we
supply a cross section of industries, such as chemicals, food products, petroleum products, pharmaceuticals, metal
products, agricultural and agrichemical products, and have operations in many countries, demand for our products
and services has historically corresponded to changes in general economic and business conditions of the industries
and countries in which we operate. Accordingly, our financial performance is substantially dependent upon the
general economic conditions existing in these industries and countries, and any prolonged or substantial economic
downturn in the markets in which we operate, including the current economic downturn, could have a material
adverse affect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
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Our Operations are Subject to Currency Exchange and Political Risks that could Adversely Affect Our Results of
Operations.

We have operations in over 50 countries. As a result of our international operations, we are subject to certain risks
that could disrupt our operations or force us to incur unanticipated costs.
Our operating performance is affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates by:
•

translations into United States dollars for financial reporting purposes of the assets and liabilities of our
international operations conducted in local currencies; and

•

gains or losses from transactions conducted in currencies other than the operation’s functional currency.

We are subject to various other risks associated with operating in international countries, such as the following:
•

political, social and economic instability;

•

war, civil disturbance or acts of terrorism;

•

taking of property by nationalization or expropriation without fair compensation;

•

changes in government policies and regulations;

•

imposition of limitations on conversions of currencies into United States dollars or remittance of dividends
and other payments by international subsidiaries;

•

imposition or increase of withholding and other taxes on remittances and other payments by international
subsidiaries;

•

hyperinflation in certain countries and the current threat of global deflation; and

•

impositions or increase of investment and other restrictions or requirements by non-United States
governments.

The Continuing Consolidation of Our Customer Base for Industrial Packaging, Containerboard and Corrugated Products, as
well as the Continuing Consolidation of Our Suppliers of Raw Materials, may Intensify Pricing Pressures and may
Negatively Impact Our Financial Performance.

Over the last few years, many of our large industrial packaging, containerboard and corrugated products customers
have acquired, or been acquired by, companies with similar or complementary product lines. In addition, many of our
suppliers of raw materials such as steel, resin and paper, have undergone a similar process of consolidation. This
consolidation has increased the concentration of our largest customers, resulting in increased pricing pressures from
our customers. The consolidation of our largest suppliers has resulted in increased cost pressures from our suppliers.
Any future consolidation of our customer base or our suppliers could negatively impact our financial performance.
We Operate in Highly Competitive Industries.

Each of our business segments operates in highly competitive industries. The most important competitive factors we
face are price, quality, design and service. To the extent that one or more of our competitors become more successful
with respect to any of these key competitive factors, we could lose customers and our sales could decline. In addition,
due to the tendency of certain customers to diversify their suppliers, we could be unable to increase or maintain sales
volumes with particular customers. Certain of our competitors are substantially larger and have significantly greater
financial resources.
Our Business is Sensitive to Changes in Industry Demands.

Industry demand for containerboard in the United States and certain of our industrial packaging products in our
United States and international markets has varied in recent years causing competitive pricing pressures for those
products. We compete in industries that are capital intensive, which generally leads to continued production as long
as prices are sufficient to cover marginal costs. As a result, changes in industry demands like the current economic
slowdown, including any resulting industry over-capacity, may cause substantial price competition and, in turn,
negatively impact our financial performance.
Raw Material and Energy Price Fluctuations and Shortages Could Adversely Affect Our Ability to Obtain the Materials
Needed to Manufacture Our Products and Could Adversely Affect Our Manufacturing Costs.

The principal raw materials used in the manufacture of our products are steel, resin, pulpwood, old corrugated
containers for recycling, and containerboard, which we purchase in highly competitive, price sensitive markets.
These raw materials have

9

Table of Contents
historically exhibited price and demand cyclicality. Some of these materials have been, and in the future may be, in
short supply. However, we have not recently experienced any significant difficulty in obtaining our principal raw
materials. We have long-term supply contracts in place for obtaining a portion of our principal raw materials. The
cost of producing our products is also sensitive to the price of energy (including its impact on transportation costs).
We have, from time to time, entered into short-term contracts to hedge certain of our energy costs. Energy prices, in
particular oil and natural gas, have fluctuated in recent years, with a corresponding effect on our production costs.
Potential legislation, regulatory action and international treaties related to climate change, especially those related to
the regulation of greenhouse gases, may result in significant increases in raw material and energy costs. There can be
no assurance that we will be able to recoup any past or future increases in the cost of energy and raw materials.
We may Encounter Difficulties Arising from Acquisitions.

We have invested a substantial amount of capital in acquisitions, joint ventures or strategic investments, and we
expect that we will continue to do so in the foreseeable future. We are continually evaluating acquisitions, joint
ventures and strategic investments that are significant to our business both in the United States and internationally.
Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including the failure to retain key customers, employees and contracts, the
inability to integrate businesses without material disruption, unanticipated costs incurred in connection with
integrating businesses, the incurrence of liabilities greater than anticipated or operating results that are less than
anticipated, the inability to realize the projected value, and the projected synergies are not realized. In addition,
acquisitions and integration activities require time and attention of management and other key personnel, and other
companies in our industries have similar acquisition strategies. There can be no assurance that any acquisitions will
be successfully integrated into our operations, that competition for acquisitions will not intensify or that we will be
able to complete such acquisitions on acceptable terms and conditions. The costs of unsuccessful acquisition efforts
may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
We may Incur Additional Restructuring Costs and there is no Guarantee that Our Efforts to Reduce Costs will be
Successful.

We have restructured portions of our operations from time to time in recent years, particularly following acquisitions
of businesses and periods of economic downturn, and it is possible that we may engage in additional restructuring
opportunities. Because we are not able to predict with certainty acquisition opportunities that may become available
to us, market conditions, the loss of large customers, or the selling prices for our products, we also may not be able to
predict with certainty when it will be appropriate to undertake restructurings. It is also possible, in connection with
these restructuring efforts, that our costs could be higher than we anticipate and that we may not realize the expected
benefits.
As discussed elsewhere, we are also pursuing a transformation to become a leaner, more market-focused,
performance-driven company — what we call the “Greif Business System.” We believe that the Greif Business
System has and will continue to generate productivity improvements and achieve permanent cost reductions. While
we expect our cost saving initiatives to result in significant savings throughout our organization, our estimated
savings are based on several assumptions that may prove to be inaccurate, and as a result, we cannot assure you that
we will realize these cost savings or that, if realized, these cost savings will be sustained. If we cannot successfully
implement and sustain the strategic cost reductions or other cost savings plans, our financial conditions and results of
operations would be negatively affected.
Tax Legislation Initiatives or Challenges to Our Tax Positions Could Adversely Affect Our Results of Operations and
Financial Condition.

We are a large multinational corporation with operations in the United States and international jurisdictions. As such,
we are subject to the tax laws and regulations of the U.S. federal, state and local governments and of many
international jurisdictions. From time to time, various legislative initiatives may be proposed that could adversely
affect our tax positions. There can be no assurance that our effective tax rate or tax payments will not be adversely
affected by these initiatives. In addition, U.S. federal, state and local, as well as international, tax laws and
regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations. There can be no assurance that our tax
positions will not be challenged by relevant tax authorities or that we would be successful in any such challenge.
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Several Operations are Conducted by Joint Ventures that we cannot Operate Solely for Our Benefit.

Several operations, particularly in emerging markets, are conducted through joint ventures, such as a significant joint
venture in our Flexible Products & Services segment. In joint ventures, we share ownership and, in some instances,
management of a company with one or more parties who may or may not have the same goals, strategies, priorities or
resources as we do. In general, joint ventures are intended to be operated for the benefit of all co-owners, rather than
for our exclusive benefit. Operating a business as a joint venture often requires additional organizational formalities
as well as time-consuming procedures for sharing information and making decisions. In certain cases, our joint
venture partners must agree in order for the applicable joint venture to take certain actions, including acquisitions, the
sale of assets, budget approvals, borrowing money and granting liens on joint venture property. Our inability to take
unilateral action that we believe is in our best interests may have an adverse effect on the financial performance of
the joint venture and the return on our investment. In joint ventures, we believe our relationship with our co-owners
is an important factor to the success of the joint venture, and if a co-owner changes, our relationship may be
adversely affected. In addition, the benefits from a successful joint venture are shared among the co-owners, so that
we do not receive all the benefits from our successful joint ventures. Finally, we may be required on a legal or
practical basis or both, to accept liability for obligations of a joint venture beyond our economic interest, including in
cases where our co-owner becomes bankrupt or is otherwise unable to meet its commitments. For additional
information with respect to the joint venture relating to our Flexible Products & Services segment, refer to Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation — Business Acquisitions.
Our Ability to Attract, Develop and Retain Talented Employees, Managers and Executives is Critical to Our Success.

Our ability to attract, develop and retain talented employees, including executives and other key managers, is
important to our business. The loss of certain key officers and employees, or the failure to attract and develop
talented new executives and managers, could have a materially adverse effect on our business.
Our Business may be Adversely Impacted by Work Stoppages and Other Labor Relations Matters.

We are subject to risk of work stoppages and other labor relations matters because a significant number of our
employees are represented by unions. We have experienced work stoppages and strikes in the past, and there may be
work stoppages and strikes in the future. Any prolonged work stoppage or strike at any one of our principal
manufacturing facilities could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
We may be Subject to Losses that Might not be Covered in Whole or in Part by Existing Insurance Reserves or Insurance
Coverage. These Uninsured Losses Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Performance.

We are self-insured for certain of the claims made under our employee medical and dental insurance programs and
for certain of our workers’ compensation claims. We establish reserves for estimated costs related to pending claims,
administrative fees and claims incurred but not reported. Because establishing reserves is an inherently uncertain
process involving estimates, currently established reserves may not be adequate to cover the actual liability for
claims made under our employee medical and dental insurance programs and for certain of our workers’
compensation claims. If we conclude that our estimates are incorrect and our reserves are inadequate for these
claims, we will need to increase our reserves, which could adversely affect our financial performance.
We carry comprehensive liability, fire and extended coverage insurance on most of our facilities, with policy
specifications and insured limits customarily carried for similar properties. However, there are certain types of losses,
such as losses resulting from wars, acts of terrorism, or hurricanes, tornados, or other natural disasters, that generally
are not insured because they are either uninsurable or not economically insurable. Should an uninsured loss or a loss
in excess of insured limits occur, we could lose capital invested in that property, as well as the anticipated future
revenues derived from the manufacturing activities conducted at that property, while remaining obligated for any
indebtedness or other financial obligations related to the property. Any such loss would adversely impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
We purchase insurance policies covering general liability and product liability with substantial policy limits.
However, there can be no assurance that any liability claim would be adequately covered by our applicable insurance
policies or it would not be excluded from coverage based on the terms and conditions of the policy. This could also
apply to any applicable contractual indemnity.
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Our Business Depends on the Uninterrupted Operations of Our Facilities, Systems and Business Functions, including Our
Information Technology and Other Business Systems.

Our business is dependent upon our ability to execute, in an efficient and uninterrupted fashion, necessary business
functions, such as accessing key business data, order processing, invoicing and the operation of information
technology dependent manufacturing equipment. A shut-down of or inability to access one or more of our facilities, a
power outage, a pandemic, or a failure of one or more of our information technology, telecommunications or other
systems could significantly impair our ability to perform such functions on a timely basis.
Our information technology systems exist on platforms in more than 50 countries, many of which have been acquired
in connection with business acquisitions, resulting in a complex technical infrastructure. Such complexity creates
difficulties and inefficiencies in monitoring business results and consolidating financial data and could result in a
material adverse effect on our business operations and financial performance.
A security breach of our computer systems could also interrupt or damage our operations or harm our reputation. In
addition, we could be subject to liability if confidential customer information is misappropriated from our computer
system. Despite the implementation of security measures, these systems may be vulnerable to physical break-ins,
computer viruses, programming errors or similar disruptive problems.
We have established a business continuity plan in an effort to ensure the continuation of core business operations in
the event that normal operations could not be performed due to a catastrophic event. While we continue to test and
assess our business continuity plan to ensure it meets the needs of our core business operations and addresses
multiple business interruption events, there is no assurance that core business operations could be performed upon
the occurrence of such an event.
Legislation/Regulation Related to Climate Change and Environmental and Health and Safety Matters and Product Liability
Claims Could Negatively Impact Our Operations and Financial Performance.

We must comply with extensive U.S. and non-U.S. laws, rules and regulations regarding environmental matters, such
as air, soil and water quality, waste disposal and climate change. We must also comply with extensive laws, rules and
regulations regarding safety and health matters. There can be no assurance that compliance with existing and new
laws, rules and regulations will not require significant expenditures. For example, the passage of the Health Care
Reform Act in 2010 could significantly increase the cost of the health care benefits provided to our U.S. employees.
In addition, the failure to comply materially with such existing and new laws, rules and regulations could adversely
affect our operations and financial performance.
We believe it is also likely that the scientific and political attention to issues concerning the extent and causes of
climate change will continue, with the potential for further regulations that could affect our operations and financial
performance. As an update to legislation and regulatory activity that impacts or could impact our business:
•

The U.S. EPA issued a finding in 2009 that greenhouse gases contribute to air pollution that endangers
public health and welfare. The endangerment finding and EPA’s determination that greenhouse gases are
subject to regulation under the Clean Air Act, will lead to widespread regulation of stationary sources of
greenhouse gas emissions.

•

Congress may continue to consider legislation on greenhouse gas emissions, which may include a cap and
trade system for stationary sources and a carbon fee on transportation fuels.

•

The Canadian government has added bisphenol A (BPA), a chemical monomer used primarily in the
production of plastic and epoxy resins, to the list of toxic substances in Schedule 1 of the Canadian
Environmental Protection Act, 1999. Such designation may lead to additional regulation of the use of BPA in
food contact applications.

Although there may be adverse financial impact (including compliance costs, potential permitting delays and
increased cost of energy, raw materials and transportation) associated with any such legislation, regulation or other
action, the extent and magnitude of that impact cannot be reliably or accurately estimated due to the fact that some
requirements have only recently been adopted and the present uncertainty regarding other additional measures and
how they will be implemented.
Furthermore, litigation or claims against us with respect to such matters could adversely affect our operations and
financial performance. We may also become subject to product liability claims that could adversely affect our
operations and financial performance.
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Changing Climate Conditions May Adversely Affect Our Operations and Financial Performance.

Climate change, to the extent it produces rising temperatures and sea levels and changes in weather patterns, could
impact the frequency or severity of weather events, wildfires and flooding. These types of events may adversely
impact our suppliers, our customers and their ability to purchase our products and our ability to manufacture and
transport our products on a timely basis and could result in a material adverse effect on our business operations and
financial performance.
The Frequency and Volume of Our Timber and Timberland Sales will Impact Our Financial Performance.

We have a significant inventory of standing timber and timberland and approximately 59,150 acres of special use
properties in the United States and Canada as of October 31, 2010. The frequency, demand for and volume of sales
of timber, timberland and special use properties will have an effect on our financial performance. In addition,
volatility in the real estate market for special use properties could negatively affect our results of operations.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following are our principal operating locations and the products manufactured at such facilities or the use of such
facilities. We consider our operating properties to be in satisfactory condition and adequate to meet our present
needs. However, we expect to make further additions, improvements and consolidations of our properties to support
our business expansion.
Location

Products or Use

RIGID INDUSTRIAL PACKAGING & SERVICES
Algeria
Steel drums
Argentina
Steel and plastic drums, water bottles and distribution centers
Australia
Closures
Austria
Steel drums and administrative office
Belgium
Steel and plastic drums and coordination center (shared services)
Brazil
Steel and plastic drums, water bottles, closures and general office
Canada
Fibre, steel and plastic drums, blending and packaging services and administrative
office
Chile
Steel drums, water bottles and distribution centers
China
Steel drums, closures and general offices
Colombia
Steel and plastic drums and water bottles
Costa Rica
Steel drums
Czech Republic
Steel drums
Denmark
Fibre drums, intermediate bulk containers
Egypt
Steel drums
France
Steel and plastic drums, closures and distribution centers
Germany
Fibre, steel and plastic drums, closures and distribution centers
Greece
Steel drums
Guatemala
Steel drums
Hungary
Steel drums
Ireland
Warehouse
Italy
Steel and plastic drums, water bottles and distribution center
Jamaica
Distribution center
Japan
Steel drums
Kazakhstan
Distribution center
Kenya
Steel and plastic drums
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Owned

Leased

1
3
—
—
2
6

—
1
2
1
1
7

6
—
—
1
—
1
1
1
4
3
1
1
1
—
1
—
—
—
—

1
2
12
1
1
—
1
—
2
2
1
—
—
1
1
1
2
1
1
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Malaysia
Mexico
Morocco
Netherlands
Nigeria
Norway
Philippines
Poland
Portugal
Russia
Saudi Arabia
Singapore
South Africa
Spain
Sweden
Turkey
Ukraine
United Arab Emirates
United Kingdom
United States
Uruguay
Venezuela
Vietnam

Products or Use

Steel and plastic drums
Fibre, steel and plastic drums, closures and distribution centers
Steel and plastic drums and plastic bottles
Fibre, steel and plastic drums, closures, research center and general offices
Steel and plastic drums
Steel drums
Steel drums and water bottles
Steel drums and water bottles
Steel drums
Steel drums, water bottles and intermediate bulk containers
Steel drums
Steel drums, steel parts and distribution center
Steel and plastic drums and distribution centers
Steel drums and distribution centers
Fibre and steel drums and distribution centers
Steel drums and water bottles
Distribution center and water bottles
Steel drums
Steel and plastic drums, water bottles and distribution centers
Fibre, steel and plastic drums, intermediate bulk containers, closures, steel parts, water
bottles, and distribution centers and blending and packaging services
Steel and plastic drums
Steel and plastic drums and water bottles
Steel drums

FLEXIBLE PRODUCTS & SERVICES:
Australia
Distribution center and administrative offices
Austria
Distribution center
Belgium
Manufacturing plant
China
Manufacturing plant, administrative office, and sales offices
Finland
Manufacturing plants
France
Manufacturing plant and distribution centers
Germany
Distribution center and administrative offices
India
Distribution center and administrative offices
Ireland
Distribution center
Mexico
Manufacturing plant
Netherlands
Manufacturing plant, distribution center and administrative offices
Pakistan
Manufacturing plant and administrative offices
Poland
Manufacturing plant
Portugal
Manufacturing plant
Romania
Manufacturing plants
Spain
Distribution center
Sweden
Distribution center
Turkey
Manufacturing plants
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Owned

Leased

—
2
1
4
—
1
—
—
—
9
—
—
—
3
3
1
—
—
3

1
1
—
—
3
—
1
1
1
1
1
1
5
—
1
—
1
1
3

21
—
2
—

23
1
—
1

—
—
—
1
1
1
—
—
—
—
—
4
—
—
—
—
—
1

6
1
1
4
1
2
4
2
1
1
3
2
1
1
2
1
1
3
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United Kingdom
Ukraine
United States
Vietnam
PAPER PACKAGING:
United States

Products or Use

Owned

Leased

Manufacturing plant and distribution centers
Manufacturing plants
Multiwall bags and distribution centers
Manufacturing plant

—
1
2
—

2
1
5
1

Corrugated sheets, containers and other products, containerboard, investment property
and distribution centers
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5

LAND MANAGEMENT:
United States

General offices

4

1

CORPORATE:
United States

Principal and general offices

2

—

We also own a substantial number of timber properties comprising approximately 267,150 acres in the states of
Alabama, Louisiana and Mississippi and approximately 24,700 acres in the provinces of Ontario and Quebec in
Canada as of October 31, 2010.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We do not have any pending material legal proceedings.
From time to time, various legal proceedings arise at the country, state or local levels involving environmental sites
to which we have shipped, directly or indirectly, small amounts of toxic waste, such as paint solvents. To date, we
have been classified as a “de minimis” participant and such proceedings do not involve potential monetary sanctions
in excess of $100,000.
ITEM 4. (RESERVED)
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Shares of our Class A and Class B Common Stock are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbols
GEF and GEF.B, respectively.
Financial information regarding our two classes of common stock, as well as the number of holders of each class and
the high, low and closing sales prices for each class for each quarterly period for the two most recent years, is
included in Note 18 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
We pay quarterly dividends of varying amounts computed on the basis described in Note 15 to the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. The annual dividends paid for the last two
years are as follows:
2010 Year Dividends per Share – Class A $1.60; Class B $2.39
2009 Year Dividends per Share – Class A $1.52; Class B $2.27
The terms of our current credit agreement limit our ability to make “restricted payments,” which include dividends
and purchases, redemptions and acquisitions of our equity interests. The payment of dividends and other restricted
payments are subject to the condition that certain defaults not exist under the terms of our current credit agreement
and are limited in amount by a formula based, in part, on our consolidated net income. Refer to “Liquidity and
Capital Resources—Borrowing Arrangements” in Item 7 of this Form 10-K.
The following table sets forth our purchases of our shares of Class B Common Stock during 2010. No shares of
Class A Common Stock were purchased during 2010.
Issuer Purchases of Class B Common Stock

Period

November 2009
December 2009
January 2010
February 2010
March 2010
April 2010
May 2010
June 2010
July 2010
August 2010
September 2010
October 2010
Total

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Average Price
Paid Per Share

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
50,000
—
—
—
—
50,000

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$53.92
—
—
—
—

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs(1)

Maximum Number of
Shares that May
Yet be Purchased
under the Plans
or Programs(1)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
50,000
—
—
—
—
50,000

1,166,728
1,166,728
1,166,728
1,166,728
1,166,728
1,166,728
1,166,728
1,116,728
1,116,728
1,116,728
1,116,728
1,116,728

(1) Our Board of Directors has authorized a stock repurchase program which permits us to purchase up to 4.0 million shares of our Class A or
Class B Common Stock, or any combination thereof. As of October 31, 2010, the maximum number of shares that could be purchased was
1,116,728 which may be any combination of Class A or Class B Common Stock.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance of shares of our Class A and B Common Stock to that of the
Standard and Poor’s 500 Index and our industry group (Peer Index) assuming $100 invested on October 31, 2005.
The graph does not purport to represent our value.

The Peer Index comprises the containers and packaging index as shown by Dow Jones.
Equity compensation plan information required by Items 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be found under the caption
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the 2011 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by
reference.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The five-year selected financial data is as follows (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) (1) :
2010

2009 (2)

2008 (2)

2007 (2)

2006 (2)

$3,461,537
$ 209,985
$3,498,445
$ 965,589

$2,792,217
$ 110,646
$2,823,929
$ 738,608

$3,790,531
$ 241,748
$2,792,749
$ 673,171

$3,331,597
$ 156,457
$2,687,537
$ 622,685

$2,630,337
$ 144,531
$2,222,683
$ 481,408

$
$

3.60
5.40

$
$

1.91
2.86

$
$

4.16
6.23

$
$

2.70
4.04

$
$

2.51
3.76

$
$

3.58
5.40

$
$

1.91
2.86

$
$

4.11
6.23

$
$

2.65
4.04

$
$

2.46
3.76

$
$

1.60
2.39

$
$

1.52
2.27

$
$

1.32
1.97

$
$

0.92
1.37

$
$

0.60
0.89

As of and for the years ended October 31,

Net sales
Net income attributable to Greif, Inc.
Total assets
Long-term debt, including current portion of long-term debt
Basic earnings per share:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Diluted earnings per share:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Dividends per share:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

(1) All share information presented in this table has been adjusted to reflect a 2-for-1 stock split of our shares of Class A and Class B Common
Stock as of the close of business on March 19, 2007 distributed on April 11, 2007.
(2) In the first quarter of 2010, our Company changed from using a combination of first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) and last-in, first-out (“LIFO”)
inventory accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of its businesses. All amounts included herein have been presented on the FIFO
basis.
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The results of operations include the effects of pretax restructuring charges of $26.7 million, $66.6 million,
$43.2 million, $21.2 million and $33.2 million for 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively; pretax debt
extinguishment charges of $0.8 million and $23.5 million for 2009 and 2007, respectively; restructuring-related
inventory charges of $0.1 million and $10.8 million for 2010 and 2009 respectively; timberland gains of
$41.3 million for 2006; and pretax acquisition-related charges of $27.2 million for 2010.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The purpose of this section is to discuss and analyze our consolidated financial condition, liquidity and capital
resources and results of operations. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes, which appear elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The terms “Greif,” “our company,” “we,” “us,” and
“our” as used in this discussion refer to Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries.
This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 27,
2010 (the “May 27 Form 8-K”), which updated certain sections of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 31, 2009 to reflect revised financial information and disclosures resulting from the application of
a change in an accounting principle from using a combination of the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) and the first-in, firstout (“FIFO”) inventory accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of our businesses effective November 1,
2009. This discussion and analysis includes the financial information and disclosures contained in the May 27
Form 8-K.
In the second quarter of 2010, we acquired one of the world’s largest producers of flexible intermediate bulk
containers. As a result of this acquisition, we created a new reporting segment called the Flexible Products &
Services segment. Our multiwall bag operations, previously included in the Paper Packaging segment, have been
reclassified and included in the Flexible Products & Services segment for all periods presented. The Industrial
Packaging segment has been renamed the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment.
During 2010, we completed the acquisition of twelve industrial packaging companies with businesses located in
North America, South America, Europe and Asia and entered into a joint venture with a Saudia Arabian company for
the flexible industrial packaging business. See “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Acquisitions, Divestitures and
Other Significant Transactions” for a further discussion of these transactions.
Business Segments

We operate in four business segments: Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services; Flexible Products & Services; Paper
Packaging; and Land Management.
We are a leading global provider of rigid industrial packaging products, such as steel, fibre and plastic drums, rigid
intermediate bulk containers, closure systems for industrial packaging products, transit protection products, water
bottles and reconditioned containers, and services, such as container lifecycle management, blending, filling and
other packaging services, logistics and warehousing. We sell our industrial packaging products to customers in
industries such as chemicals, paints and pigments, food and beverage, petroleum, industrial coatings, agricultural,
pharmaceutical and mineral, among others.
We are a leading global producer of flexible intermediate bulk containers and a North American provider of
industrial and consumer multiwall bag products. Our flexible intermediate bulk containers consist of a
polypropylene-based woven fabric that is partly produced at our integrated production sites, as well as sourced from
strategic regional suppliers. Our flexible products are sold globally and service customers and market segments
similar to those served by our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment. Additionally, our flexible products
significantly expand our presence in the agricultural and food industries, among others. Our industrial and consumer
multiwall bag products are used to ship a wide range of industrial and consumer products, such as seed, fertilizers,
chemicals, concrete, flour, sugar, feed, pet foods, popcorn, charcoal and salt, primarily for the agricultural, chemical,
building products and food industries.
We sell containerboard, corrugated sheets and other corrugated products to customers in North America in industries
such as packaging, automotive, food and building products. Our corrugated container products are used to ship such
diverse products
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as home appliances, small machinery, grocery products, building products, automotive components, books and
furniture, as well as numerous other applications. Operations related to our industrial and consumer multiwall bag
products have been reclassified to our Flexible Products & Services segment.
We own approximately 267,150 acres of timber properties in the southeastern United States, which were actively
managed, and approximately 24,700 acres of timber properties in Canada. Our Land Management segment is focused
on the active harvesting and regeneration of our United States timber properties to achieve sustainable long-term
yields. While timber sales are subject to fluctuations, we seek to maintain a consistent cutting schedule, within the
limits of market and weather conditions. We also sell, from time to time, timberland and special use land, which
consists of surplus land, higher and better use (“HBU”) land, and development land.
In 2003, we began a transformation to become a leaner, more market-focused, performance-driven company—what
we call the “Greif Business System.” We believe the Greif Business System has and will continue to generate
productivity improvements and achieve permanent cost reductions. The Greif Business System continues to focus on
opportunities such as improved labor productivity, material yield and other manufacturing efficiencies, along with
further plant consolidations. In addition, as part of the Greif Business System, we have launched a strategic sourcing
initiative to more effectively leverage our global spending and lay the foundation for a world-class sourcing and
supply chain capability. In response to the economic slowdown that began at the end of 2008, we accelerated the
implementation of certain Greif Business System initiatives.
Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of these consolidated financial statements, in accordance with these
principles, require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated
financial statements.
A summary of our significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. We believe that the consistent application of these policies enables
us to provide readers of the consolidated financial statements with useful and reliable information about our results of
operations and financial condition. The following are the accounting policies that we believe are most important to
the portrayal of our results of operations and financial condition and require our most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments.
Allowance for Accounts Receivable. We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable based on a
combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial
obligations to us, we record a specific allowance for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the net recognized
receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. In addition, we recognize allowances for bad debts
based on the length of time receivables are past due with allowance percentages, based on our historical experiences,
applied on a graduated scale relative to the age of the receivable amounts. If circumstances change (e.g., higher than
expected bad debt experience or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its
financial obligations to us), our estimates of the recoverability of amounts due to us could change by a material
amount.
Inventory. At the beginning of fiscal 2010, we changed our method of accounting for inventories at certain of our
U.S. locations from the lower of cost, as determined by the LIFO method of accounting, or market to the lower of
cost, as determined by the FIFO method of accounting, or market. We believe that this change is preferable because:
(1) the change conforms to a single method of accounting for all of our inventories on a U.S. and global basis, (2) the
change simplifies financial disclosures, (3) financial statement comparability and analysis for investors and analysts
is improved, and (4) the majority of our key competitors use FIFO. The financial information presented has been
adjusted for all prior periods presented as if we had used FIFO instead of LIFO for each reporting period for all of
our operations. The change in accounting principle is further discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
Inventory Reserves. Reserves for slow moving and obsolete inventories are provided based on historical experience,
inventory aging and product demand. We continuously evaluate the adequacy of these reserves and make
adjustments to these reserves as required. We also evaluate reserves for losses under firm purchase commitments for
goods or inventories.
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Net Assets Held for Sale. Net assets held for sale represent land, buildings and land improvements less accumulated
depreciation. We record net assets held for sale in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360
“Property, Plant, and Equipment”, at the lower of carrying value or fair value less cost to sell. Fair value is based on
the estimated proceeds from the sale of the facility utilizing recent purchase offers, market comparables and/or data
obtained from our commercial real estate broker. Our estimate as to fair value is regularly reviewed and subject to
changes in the commercial real estate markets and our continuing evaluation as to the facility’s acceptable sale price.
Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets. We account for goodwill in accordance with
ASC 350, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other”. Under ASC 350, purchased goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment annually or when indicators of impairment
exist. Intangible assets with finite lives, primarily customer relationships, patents and trademarks, continue to be
amortized over their useful lives. In conducting the impairment test, the estimated fair value of our reporting units is
compared to its carrying amount including goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds the carrying amount, then no
impairment exists. If the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value, further analysis is performed to assess
impairment.
Our determination of estimated fair value of the reporting units is based on a discounted cash flow analysis, a
multiple of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) and, if available, a review of
the price/earnings ratio for publicly traded companies similar in nature, scope and size of the applicable reporting
unit. The discount rates used for impairment testing are based on the risk-free rate plus an adjustment for risk factors.
The EBITDA multiples used for impairment testing are judgmentally selected based on factors such as the nature,
scope and size of the applicable reporting unit. The use of alternative estimates, peer groups or changes in the
industry, or adjusting the discount rate, EBITDA multiples or price earnings ratios used could affect the estimated
fair value of the assets and potentially result in impairment. Any identified impairment would result in an adjustment
to our results of operations.
We performed our annual impairment tests in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, which resulted in no impairment charges.
Decreasing the price/earnings ratio of competitors used for impairment testing by 1 percent or increasing the discount
rate in the discounted cash flow analysis used for impairment testing by 1 percent would not have indicated
impairment for any of our reporting units for fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008.
Properties, Plants and Equipment. Depreciation on properties, plants and equipment is provided on the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of our assets.
We own timber properties in the southeastern United States and in Canada. With respect to our United States timber
properties, which consisted of approximately 267,150 acres at October 31, 2010, depletion expense is computed on
the basis of cost and the estimated recoverable timber acquired. Our land costs are maintained by tract. Merchantable
timber costs are maintained by five product classes, pine saw timber, pine chip-n-saw, pine pulpwood, hardwood
sawtimber and hardwood pulpwood, within a “depletion block,” with each depletion block based upon a geographic
district or subdistrict. Currently, we have eight depletion blocks. These same depletion blocks are used for premerchantable timber costs. Each year, we estimate the volume of our merchantable timber for the five product
classes by each depletion block. These estimates are based on the current state in the growth cycle and not on
quantities to be available in future years. Our estimates do not include costs to be incurred in the future. We then
project these volumes to the end of the year. Upon acquisition of a new timberland tract, we record separate amounts
for land, merchantable timber and pre-merchantable timber allocated as a percentage of the values being purchased.
These acquisition volumes and costs acquired during the year are added to the totals for each product class within the
appropriate depletion block(s). The total of the beginning, one-year growth and acquisition volumes are divided by
the total undepleted historical cost to arrive at a depletion rate, which is then used for the current year. As timber is
sold, we multiply the volumes sold by the depletion rate for the current year to arrive at the depletion cost. Our
Canadian timber properties, which consisted of approximately 24,700 acres at October 31, 2010, did not have any
depletion expense since they were not actively managed at this time.
We believe that the lives and methods of determining depreciation and depletion are reasonable; however, using
other lives and methods could provide materially different results.
At October 31, 2010 and 2009, we had capitalized interest costs of $5.3 million and $2.7 million, respectively.
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Restructuring Reserves. Restructuring reserves are determined in accordance with appropriate accounting guidance,
including ASC 420, “Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations”. Under ASC 420, a liability is measured at its fair value and
recognized as incurred.
Income Taxes. We record a tax provision for the anticipated tax consequences of our reported results of operations.
In accordance with ASC 740, “Income Taxes” the provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and
liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and for
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently
enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be
realized or settled. We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is believed more
likely than not to be realized.
Our effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in the
various jurisdictions in which we operate. Significant judgment is required in determining our effective tax rate and
in evaluating our tax positions.
In accordance with ASC 740, “Income Taxes”, we believe it is more likely than not that forecasted income, including
income that may be generated as a result of certain tax planning strategies, together with the tax effects of the
deferred tax liabilities, will be sufficient to fully recover the remaining deferred tax assets. In the event that all or part
of the net deferred tax assets are determined not to be realizable in the future, an adjustment to the valuation
allowance would be charged to earnings, in the period such determination is made. In addition, the calculation of tax
liabilities involves significant judgment in estimating the impact of uncertainties in the application of ASC 740 and
other complex tax laws. Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with our expectations could have a
material impact on our financial condition and operating results.
A number of years may elapse before a particular matter, for which we have established a reserve, is audited and
finally resolved. The number of years with open tax audits varies depending on the tax jurisdiction. While it is often
difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular tax matter, we believe that our
reserves reflect the outcome of known tax contingencies. Unfavorable settlement of any particular issue would
require use of our cash. Favorable resolution would be recognized as a reduction to our effective tax rate in the
period of resolution.
We have estimated the reasonably possible expected net change in unrecognized tax benefits through October 31,
2010 based on lapses of the applicable statues of limitation on unrecognized tax benefits. The estimated net decrease
in unrecognized tax benefits for the next 12 months ranges from $0 to $0.8 million. Actual results may differ from
this estimated range.
Pension and Postretirement Benefits. Pension and postretirement benefit expenses and liabilities are determined by
our actuaries using assumptions about the discount rate, expected return on plan assets, rate of compensation increase
and health care cost trend rates to determine pension and postretirement benefit liabilities. Further discussion of our
pension and postretirement benefit plans and related assumptions is contained in Note 13 to the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. The results would be different using other
assumptions.
Environmental Cleanup Costs. We expense environmental expenditures related to existing conditions caused by past
or current operations and from which no current or future benefit is discernable. Expenditures that extend the life of
the related property, or mitigate or prevent future environmental contamination, are capitalized. Reserves for large
environmental exposures are principally based on environmental studies and cost estimates provided by third parties,
but also take into account management estimates. Reserves for less significant environmental exposures are
principally based on management estimates.
Environmental expenses were $0.2 million, ($2.1) million, and $0.4 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. In
2010, we reduced the environmental liability at three of our facilities by $5.9 million consistent with revised third
party estimates which reduced our total estimated cleanup costs. Environmental cash expenditures were $1.7 million,
$3.4 million, and $3.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Our reserves for environmental liabilities at
October 31, 2010 amounted to $26.2 million, which included a reserve of $14.5 million related to our blending
facility in Chicago, Illinois, $8.4 million related to our European drum facilities and $1.9 million related to our
facility in Lier, Belgium. The remaining reserves were for asserted and unasserted environmental litigation, claims
and/or assessments at manufacturing sites and other locations where we believe it is probable the outcome of such
matters will be unfavorable to us, but the environmental exposure at any one of
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those sites was not individually material. We cannot determine the timing of payments for our environmental
exposure beyond 2010.
We anticipate that expenditures for remediation costs at most of the sites will be made over an extended period of
time. Given the inherent uncertainties in evaluating environmental exposures, actual costs may vary from those
estimated at October 31, 2010. Our exposure to adverse developments with respect to any individual site is not
expected to be material. Although environmental remediation could have a material effect on results of operations if
a series of adverse developments occur in a particular quarter or fiscal year, we believe that the chance of a series of
adverse developments occurring in the same quarter or fiscal year is remote. Future information and developments
will require us to continually reassess the expected impact of these environmental matters.
Contingencies. Various lawsuits, claims and proceedings have been or may be instituted or asserted against us,
including those pertaining to environmental, product liability, and safety and health matters. While the amounts
claimed may be substantial, the ultimate liability cannot currently be determined because of the considerable
uncertainties that exist.
All lawsuits, claims and proceedings are considered by us in establishing reserves for contingencies in accordance
with ASC 450, “Contingencies”. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 450, we accrue for a litigation-related
liability when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
Based on currently available information known to us, we believe that our reserves for these litigation-related
liabilities are reasonable and that the ultimate outcome of any pending matters is not likely to have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results from operations.
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets. We have agreed to sell trade receivables meeting certain eligibility
requirements that the seller of those receivables had purchased from other of our subsidiaries under a factoring
agreement. The structure of the transactions provide for a legal true sale, on a revolving basis, of the receivables
transferred from various subsidiaries to the respective financial institutions or their affiliates. These institutions fund
an initial purchase price of a certain percentage of eligible receivables based on a formula with the initial purchase
price approximating 75 percent to 90 percent of eligible receivables. The remaining deferred purchase price is settled
upon collection of the receivables. At the balance sheet reporting dates, we remove from accounts receivable the
amount of proceeds received from the initial purchase price since they meet the applicable criteria of ASC 860,
“Transfers and Servicing”. The receivables are sold on a non-recourse basis with the total funds in the servicing
collection accounts pledged to the institutions between settlement dates.
Fair Value Measurements. ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements for financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities. Additionally, this guidance established a three-level fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The three levels of inputs used to measure fair values are as follows:
•

Level 1 —Observable inputs such as unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and
liabilities.

•

Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

•

Level 3 —Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the
fair value of the assets and liabilities.

Equity Earnings (Losses) of Unconsolidated Affiliates and Non-Controlling Interests. ASC 810, “Consolidation”
improves the relevance, comparability and transparency of the financial information that a reporting entity provides
in its consolidated financial statements. ASC 810 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. ASC 810 also changes the way the
consolidated financial statements are presented, establishes a single method of accounting for changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation, requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss
in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated and expands disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
that clearly identify and distinguish between the parent’s ownership interest and the interest of the noncontrolling
owners of a subsidiary. The provisions of ASC 810 have been applied prospectively as of the beginning of 2010.
However, the presentation and disclosure requirements have been applied retrospectively for all periods presented.
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Equity earnings represent investments in affiliates in which we do not exercise control and have a 20 percent or more
voting interest. Such investments in affiliates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. If the fair
value of an investment in an affiliate is below its carrying value and the difference is deemed to be other than
temporary, the difference between the fair value and the carrying value is charged to earnings.
Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue when title passes to customers or services have been rendered, with
appropriate provision for returns and allowances. Revenue is recognized in accordance with ASC 605, “Revenue
Recognition”.
Timberland disposals, timber and special use property revenues are recognized when closings have occurred,
required down payments have been received, title and possession have been transferred to the buyer, and all other
criteria for sale and profit recognition have been satisfied.
We report the sale of surplus and HBU property in our consolidated statements of income under “gain on disposals of
property, plants, and equipment, net” and report the sale of development property under “net sales” and “cost of
goods sold.” All HBU and development property, together with surplus property, is used by us to productively grow
and sell timber until sold.
Other Items. Other items that could have a significant impact on our financial statements include the risks and
uncertainties listed in Item 1A under “Risk Factors.” Actual results could differ materially using different estimates
and assumptions, or if conditions are significantly different in the future.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Historically, revenues and earnings may or may not be representative of future operating results due to various
economic and other factors.
The non-GAAP financial measure of operating profit before the impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related
inventory charges, timberland disposals, net and acquisition-related costs is used throughout the following discussion
of our results of operations (except that acquisition-related costs are only applicable to the 2010 fiscal year,
restructuring-related inventory charges are only applicable to the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment,
timberland disposal, net are only applicable to the Land Management segment, and acquisition-related costs are only
applicable to the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services and Flexible Products & Services segments). Operating
profit before the impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges, timberland disposals, net,
and acquisition-related costs is equal to operating profit plus restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory
charges, timberland losses and acquisition-related costs. We use operating profit before the impact of restructuring
charges, restructuring-related inventory charges, timberland disposals, net and acquisition-related costs because we
believe that this measure provides a better indication of our operational performance since it excludes restructuring
charges, restructuring-related inventory charges and acquisition-related costs, which are not representative of
ongoing operations, and timberland disposals, net which are volatile from period to period, and because it provides a
more stable platform on which to compare our historical performance.
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The following table sets forth the net sales and operating profit for each of our business segments for 2010, 2009 and
2008 (Dollars in thousands):
For the year ended October 31,

Net Sales
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Flexible Products & Services
Paper Packaging
Land Management
Total net sales
Operating Profit:
Operating profit, before the impact of restructuring charges, restructuringrelated inventory charges, timberland disposals, net and acquisitionrelated costs:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Flexible Products & Services
Paper Packaging
Land Management
Total operating profit before the impact of restructuring charges,
restructuring-related inventory charges, timberland disposals,
net and acquisition-related costs:
Restructuring charges:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Flexible Products & Services
Paper Packaging
Land Management
Restructuring charges
Restructuring-related inventory charges:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Timberland disposals, net
Land Management
Acquisition-related costs:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Flexible Products & Services
Acquisition-related costs
Operating profit:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Flexible Products & Services
Paper Packaging
Land Management
Total operating profit
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2010

2009
(As Adjusted) 1

2008
(As Adjusted) 1

$2,587,854
233,119
624,092
16,472
3,461,537

$2,266,890
43,975
460,712
20,640
2,792,217

$3,074,834
52,604
644,298
18,795
3,790,531

$ 291,066
18,761
60,640
9,001

$ 210,908
8,588
35,526
22,237

$ 325,956
8,679
69,967
20,571

379,468

277,259

425,173

20,980
624
5,142
—
26,746

65,742
—
685
163
66,590

33,971
—
9,155
76
43,202

131

10,772

—

—

—

340

7,672
19,504
27,176

—
—
—

—
—
—

134,394
8,588
34,841
22,074
$ 199,897

291,985
8,679
60,812
20,835
$ 382,311

262,283
(1,367)
55,498
9,001
$ 325,415
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(1) Amounts presented in 2009 and 2008 reflect the change in accounting principle from using a combination of the LIFO and FIFO inventory
accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of our businesses effective November 1, 2009 and the realignment of the multiwall bag
operations, which was previously included in the Paper Packaging segment, into the Flexible Products & Services segment.

Year 2010 Compared to Year 2009

Net Sales

Net sales increased 24.0 percent on a year over year basis to $3,461.5 million in 2010 from $2,792.2 million in 2009.
The $669.3 million increase was due to higher sales volumes, higher selling prices and favorable foreign currency
translation. The $669.3 million increase was due to Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services ($321.0 million increase),
Flexible Products & Services ($189.1 million increase) and Paper Packaging ($163.4 million increase) offset by Land
Management ($4.2 million decrease).

Operating Costs

Cost of products sold, as a percentage of net sales, was 79.7 percent for 2010 compared to 82.1 percent for 2009. The
lower cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales were primarily due to improved productivity in 2010,
permanent cost savings achieved during 2009 and the execution of our Greif Business System.
SG&A expenses were $362.9 million, or 10.5 percent of net sales, in 2010 compared to $267.6 million, or
9.6 percent of net sales, in 2009. The dollar increase in SG&A expense was primarily due to the inclusion of SG&A
of acquired companies and higher employment-related costs as compared to the same period in 2009, when normal
salary increases and certain employee related benefits were curtailed. SG&A expense as a percentage of net sales
primarily increased as a result of acquisition-related costs, which were previously capitalized. Excluding acquisitionrelated costs, SG&A expenses as a percent of net sales were 9.7 percent and 9.6 percent in 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Restructuring and Restructuring-Related Inventory Charges

Restructuring charges were $26.7 million and $66.6 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Restructuring-related
inventory charges were $0.1 million and $10.8 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Restructuring charges for 2010 consisted of $13.7 million in employee separation costs, $2.9 million in asset
impairments, $2.4 million in professional fees and $7.7 million in other restructuring costs. The focus of the 2010
restructuring activities was on integration of recent acquisitions in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services and
Flexible Products & Services segments. In addition, we recorded $0.1 million of restructuring-related inventory
charges as a cost of products sold in our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment. Seven plants in the Rigid
Industrial Packaging & Services segment, two plants in the Paper Packaging segment and one plant in Flexible
Products & Services segment were closed. A total of 232 employees were severed during 2010.
Restructuring charges for 2009 consisted of $28.4 million in employee separation costs, $19.6 million in asset
impairments, $0.3 million in professional fees, and $18.3 million in other restructuring costs. The focus of the 2009
restructuring activities was on business realignment due to the economic downturn and further implementation of the
Greif Business System. Nineteen plants in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment were closed. A total of
1,294 employees were severed during 2009. In addition, we recorded $10.8 million of restructuring-related inventory
charges as a cost of products sold in our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment related to excess inventory
adjustments of closed facilities.
See Note 7 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional
disclosures regarding our restructuring activities.

Timberland Disposals, Net

For both 2010 and 2009, we recorded no net gain on sale of timberland property.
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Acquisition-Related Costs

There were $27.2 million of acquisition-related costs recognized in 2010 that were included in SG&A expenses. This
amount included $19.1 million of acquisition costs previously capitalized as part of the purchase price of
acquisitions, of which $6.1 million was incurred prior to November 1, 2009, the date on which we adopted ASC 805,
“Business Combinations”. In addition, we incurred post acquisition-related integration costs of $8.1 million which
represented costs associated with integrating acquired companies, such as costs associated with Greif Business
System initiatives, sourcing and supply chain initiatives, and finance and administrative reorganizations.
Operating Profit

Operating profit was $325.4 million and $199.9 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Operating profit before the
impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges and acquisition-related costs was
$379.5 million for 2010 compared to $277.3 million for 2009. The $102.2 million increase in operating profit before
the impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges and acquisition-related costs was
principally due to increases in Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services ($80.2 million), Flexible Products & Services
($10.2 million) and Paper Packaging ($25.1 million) partially offset by a decrease in Land Management
($13.2 million).
Segment Review
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services

Our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment offers a comprehensive line of rigid industrial packaging
products, such as steel, fibre and plastic drums, rigid intermediate bulk containers, closure systems for industrial
packaging products, transit protection products, water bottles and reconditioned containers, and services, such as
container lifecycle management, blending, filling and other packaging services, logistics and warehousing. The key
factors influencing profitability in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment are:
•

Selling prices, customer demand and sales volumes;

•

Raw material costs, primarily steel, resin and containerboard;

•

Energy and transportation costs;

•

Benefits from executing the Greif Business System;

•

Restructuring charges;

•

Contributions from recent acquisitions;

•

Divestiture of business units; and

•

Impact of foreign currency translation.

In this segment, net sales were $2,587.9 million in 2010 compared to $2,266.9 million 2009. The 14.2 percent
increase in net sales was due to higher sales volumes and favorable foreign currency translation, partially offset by
lower selling prices reflecting lower average raw material costs.
Gross profit margin for the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment was 21.0 percent in 2010 compared to
17.9 percent in 2009. This increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to higher sales volume, lower material
costs and continued benefits from executing the Greif Business System.
Operating profit was $262.3 million in 2010 compared to $134.4 million in 2009. Operating profit before the impact
of restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges and acquisition-related costs increased to
$291.1 million in 2010 compared to $210.9 million in 2009. The increase in operating profit before the impact of
restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges and acquisition-related costs was primarily due to
higher net sales, lower material costs, higher productivity and permanent cost savings achieved during 2009 from the
execution of the Greif Business System, partially offset by lower net gains on asset disposals.
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Flexible Products & Services

Our Flexible Products & Services segment offers a comprehensive line of flexible products, such as flexible
intermediate bulk containers and multiwall bags. The key factors influencing profitability in the Flexible Products &
Services segment are:
•

Selling prices, customer demand and sales volumes;

•

Raw material costs, primarily resin and containerboard;

•

Energy and transportation costs;

•

Benefits from executing the Greif Business System;

•

Contributions from recent acquisitions; and

•

Impact of foreign currency translation.

In this segment, net sales were $233.1 million in 2010 compared to $44.0 million in 2009. The increase was
primarily due to acquisitions throughout 2010. Both periods included our multiwall bag operations, which were
previously included in the Paper Packaging segment, but which have been reclassified to conform to the current
year’s presentation.
Gross profit margin for the Flexible Products & Services segment was 21.1 percent in 2010 compared to 31.1 percent
in 2009. This decrease in gross profit margin was primarily due to the acquisition in 2010 of several businesses that
currently operate with lower margins.
This segment experienced an operating loss of $1.4 million in 2010 compared to an operating profit of $8.6 million
in 2009. Operating profit before the impact of restructuring charges and acquisition-related costs increased to
$18.8 million in 2010 from $8.6 million in 2009 primarily due to acquisitions throughout 2010.
Paper Packaging

Our Paper Packaging segment sells containerboard, corrugated sheets, and corrugated containers in North America.
The key factors influencing profitability in the Paper Packaging segment are:
•

Selling prices, customer demand and sales volumes;

•

Raw material costs, primarily old corrugated containers;

•

Energy and transportation costs;

•

Benefits from executing the Greif Business System;

•

Contributions from recent acquisitions;

•

Divestiture of business units; and

•

Restructuring charges.

In this segment, net sales were $624.1 million in 2010 compared to $460.7 million in 2009. The 35.5 percent increase
in net sales was due to higher sales volumes and higher selling prices.
Gross profit margin for the Paper Packaging segment was 16.8 percent in 2010 compared to 15.2 percent in 2009.
This increase in gross profit margin was primarily driven by higher sales volumes and continued benefits from
executing the Greif Business System partially offset by higher material costs.
Operating profit was $55.5 million and $34.8 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Operating profit before the
impact of restructuring charges increased to $60.6 million in 2010 compared to $35.5 million in 2009. The increase
in operating profit before the impact of restructuring charges was primarily due to higher net sales and permanent
cost savings achieved during 2009 from the execution of the Greif Business System, partially offset by higher
material costs.
Land Management

As of October 31, 2010, our Land Management segment consisted of approximately 267,150 acres of timber
properties in the southeastern United States, which are actively harvested and regenerated, and approximately
24,700 acres in Canada. The key factors influencing profitability in the Land Management segment are:
•

Planned level of timber sales;
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•

Selling prices and customer demand;

•

Gains (losses) on sale of timberland; and

•

Gains on the sale of special use properties (surplus, HBU, and development properties).

In this segment, net sales were $16.5 million in 2010 compared to $20.6 million in 2009. While timber sales are
subject to fluctuations, we seek to maintain a consistent cutting schedule, within the limits of market and weather
conditions.
Gross profit margin for the Land Management segment was 46.7 percent in 2010 compared to 53.5 percent in 2009.
This decrease in gross profit margin was primarily driven by changes in product mix.
Operating profit was $9.0 million and $22.1 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Operating profit before the
impact of restructuring charges was $9.0 million in 2010 compared to $22.2 million in 2009. Included in these
amounts were profits from the sale of special use properties of $3.3 million in 2010 and $14.8 million in 2009.
In order to maximize the value of our timber property, we continue to review our current portfolio and explore the
development of certain of these properties in Canada and the United States. This process has led us to characterize
our property as follows:
•

Surplus property, meaning land that cannot be efficiently or effectively managed by us, whether due to
parcel size, lack of productivity, location, access limitations or for other reasons.

•

HBU property, meaning land that in its current state has a higher market value for uses other than growing
and selling timber.

•

Development property, meaning HBU land that, with additional investment, may have a significantly higher
market value than its HBU market value.

•

Timberland, meaning land that is best suited for growing and selling timber.

We report the sale of surplus and HBU property in our consolidated statements of income under “gain on disposals of
properties, plants and equipment, net” and report the sale of development property under “net sales” and “cost of
products sold.” All HBU and development property, together with surplus property, continues to be used by us to
productively grow and sell timber until sold.
Whether timberland has a higher value for uses other than growing and selling timber is a determination based upon
several variables, such as proximity to population centers, anticipated population growth in the area, the topography
of the land, aesthetic considerations, including access to lakes or rivers, the condition of the surrounding land,
availability of utilities, markets for timber and economic considerations both nationally and locally. Given these
considerations, the characterization of land is not a static process, but requires an ongoing review and recharacterization as circumstances change.
At October 31, 2010, we estimated that there were approximately 59,150 acres in Canada and the United States of
special use property, which we expect will be available for sale in the next five to seven years.
Other Income Statement Changes
Gain on Disposal of Properties, Plants and Equipment, Net

For 2010, we recorded a gain on disposal of properties, plants and equipment, net of $11.4 million, primarily
consisting of a $6.6 million pre-tax net gain on the sale of specific Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment
assets and facilities in North America, $1.4 million in specific Paper Packaging segment assets, $0.1 million in net
gains from the sale of Flexible Products and Services assets and $3.3 million in net gains from the sale of surplus and
HBU timber properties. During 2009, we recorded a gain on disposal of properties, plants and equipment, net of
$34.4 million, primarily consisting of a $17.2 million pre-tax net gain on the sale of specific Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services segment assets and facilities in North America and $14.8 million in net gains from the sale of
surplus and HBU timber properties.
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net was $65.8 million and $53.6 million 2010 and 2009, respectively. The increase in interest
expense, net was primarily attributable to higher average debt outstanding and an increase in our borrowing costs. In
October 2010, we entered
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into a new $1.0 billion senior secured credit facility which replaced our then-existing $700 million senior secured
credit facility. See “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Borrowing Arrangements” for a further discussion of this
credit facility.
Debt Extinguishment Charges

There were no debt extinguishment charges in 2010 and $0.8 million in 2009.
Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net for 2010 and 2009 was $7.1 million and $7.2 million, respectively. The slight decrease in other
expense, net was primarily due to fees associated with the sale of our non-United States accounts receivable.
Income Tax Expense

During 2010, the effective tax rate was 16.1% compared to 17.4% in 2009. The change in the effective tax rate was
primarily due to a change in the mix of income between the United States and non-U.S. locations for the respective
periods as well as an incremental benefit from an alternative fuel tax credit. The effective tax rate may fluctuate
based on the mix of income inside and outside the United States and other factors.
Equity Earnings (Losses) of Unconsolidated Affiliates, Net of Tax and Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Equity earnings (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax were $3.5 million and ($0.4) million for 2010 and
2009, respectively.
In addition, some of our subsidiaries are not wholly-owned by us, which means we own a majority interest in those
subsidiaries, and other unrelated persons own the remaining portion. Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests reflect the portion of earnings or losses of operations of these subsidiaries that are owned by persons
otherwise unrelated to us. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests for the year ended October 31, 2010
and 2009 were $5.5 million and $3.2 million, respectively, and were deducted from net income to arrive at net
income attributable to Greif, Inc.
Net Income

Based on the foregoing, net income increased $99.4 million to $210.0 million in 2010 from $110.6 million in 2009.
Year 2009 Compared to Year 2008
Net Sales

Net sales decreased 26.3 percent on a year over year basis to $2,792.2 million in 2009 from $3,790.5 million in 2008.
The $998.3 million decrease was due to lower sales volumes, unfavorable foreign currency translation, and lower
selling prices. The constant-currency decrease was primarily due to lower sales volumes resulting from the sharp
decline in the global economy.
Operating Costs

Cost of products sold, as a percentage of net sales, increased to 82.1 percent in 2009 from 81.4 percent in 2008
primarily as a result of higher raw material costs partially offset by contributions from further execution of
incremental and accelerated Greif Business System initiatives and specific contingency actions. Driving the increase
further was $10.8 million of restructuring-related inventory charges.
SG&A expenses were $267.6 million, or 9.6 percent of net sales, in 2009 compared to $339.2 million, or 9.0 percent
of net sales, in 2008. The dollar decrease in our SG&A expense was primarily due to the reduction in personnel on a
period over period basis, tighter controls over SG&A expenses, and accelerated Greif Business System and specific
contingency initiatives including the curtailment of normal salary increases and certain employee related benefits and
reductions on both travel related programs and professional fees. SG&A expense as a percentage of net sales
increased as a result of decreased net sales in 2009 as compared to 2008.
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Restructuring and Restructuring-Related Inventory Charges

Restructuring charges were $66.6 million and $43.2 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Restructuring-related
inventory charges were $10.8 million in 2009 and no restructuring-related inventory charges were incurred in 2008.
Restructuring charges for 2009 consisted of $28.4 million in employee separation costs, $19.6 million in asset
impairments, $0.3 million in professional fees and $18.3 million in other restructuring costs. The focus of the 2009
restructuring activities was on business realignment due to the global economic downturn and further implementation
of the Greif Business System. Nineteen plants in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment were closed. A
total of 1,294 employees were severed during 2009. In addition, we recorded $10.8 million of restructuring-related
inventory charges as a cost of products sold in our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment related to excess
inventory adjustments of closed facilities.
Restructuring charges for 2008 consisted of $20.6 million in employee separation costs, $12.3 million in asset
impairments, $0.4 million in professional fees and $9.9 million in other restructuring costs, primarily consisting of
facility consolidation and lease termination costs. Six plants in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment
and four company-owned plants in the Paper Packaging segment were closed. Additionally, severance costs were
incurred due to the elimination of certain operating and administrative positions throughout the world. A total of
630 employees were severed during 2008.
See Note 7 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of the Form 10-K for additional
disclosures regarding our restructuring activities.
Timberland Disposals, Net

For 2009, we recorded no net gain on sale of timberland property compared to a net gain of $0.3 million in 2008.
Operating Profit

Operating profit was $199.9 million and $382.3 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Operating profit before the
impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges and timberland disposals, net was
$277.3 million for 2009 compared to $425.2 million for 2008. The $147.9 million decrease in operating profit before
the impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges and timberland disposals, net was
principally due to decreases in Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services ($115.0 million), Flexible Products & Services
($0.1 million), and Paper Packaging ($34.4 million), offset by an increase in Land Management ($1.7 million).
Operating profit, expressed as a percentage of net sales, decreased to 7.1 percent for 2009 from 10.1 percent in 2008.
Operating profit before restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory charges, and the impact of timberland
disposals, net, expressed as a percentage of net sales, decreased to 9.9 percent for 2009 from 11.2 percent in 2008.
Segment Review
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services

Our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment offers a comprehensive line of rigid industrial packaging
products, such as steel, fibre and plastic drums, rigid intermediate bulk containers, closure systems for industrial
packaging products, transit protection products, and water bottles, and services, such as blending, filling and other
packaging services, logistics and warehousing. The key factors influencing profitability in the Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services segment are:
•

Selling prices, customer demand and sales volumes;

•

Raw material costs, primarily steel, resin and containerboard;

•

Energy and transportation costs;

•

Benefits from executing the Greif Business System;

•

Restructuring charges;

•

Contributions from recent acquisitions;

•

Divestiture of business units; and

•

Impact of foreign currency translation.

30

Table of Contents
In this segment, net sales decreased 26.3 percent to $2,266.9 million in 2009 compared to $3,074.8 million in 2008
due to lower sales volume, unfavorable foreign currency translation, and lower selling prices. The Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services segment was directly impacted by lower sales volumes resulting from the sharp decline in the
global economy and lower selling prices primarily resulting from the pass-through of lower raw material costs.
Gross profit margin for the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment was 17.9 percent in 2009 compared to
18.8 percent in 2008. This decrease in gross profit margin was primarily due to lower sales volume partially offset by
the continued benefits from executing the Greif Business System and specific contingency actions (lower labor,
transportation, and other manufacturing costs).
Operating profit was $134.4 million in 2009 compared to $292.0 million in 2008. Operating profit before the impact
of restructuring charges and restructuring-related inventory charges decreased to $210.9 million in 2009 compared to
$326.0 million in 2008. The decrease in operating profit before the impact of restructuring charges and restructuringrelated inventory charges was primarily due to lower net sales which were partially offset by net gains on asset
disposals, lower raw material costs, partially offset by lower of cost or market steel inventory write-downs early in
the year and by increased supply chain costs caused by temporary reductions in the supply of steel on the spot market
in certain regions later in the year.
Flexible Products & Services

Our Flexible Products & Services segment offers a comprehensive line of multiwall bags. The key factors
influencing profitability in the Flexible Products & Services segment are:
•

Selling prices, customer demand and sales volumes;

•

Raw material costs, primarily containerboard;

•

Energy and transportation costs; and

•

Benefits from executing the Greif Business System.

In this segment, net sales were $44.0 million in 2009 compared to $52.6 million in 2008. This 16.4 percent decrease
was due to lower sales volumes resulting from the sharp decline in the global economy. Both periods included our
multiwall bag operations, which were previously included in the Paper Packaging segment, but which have been
reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
Gross profit margin for the Flexible Products & Services segment was 31.1 percent in 2009 compared to 27.7 percent
in 2008. This increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to lower product costs, the continued implementation
of the Greif Business System and specific contingency actions (lower labor, transportation, and other manufacturing
costs).
Operating profit was $8.6 million in 2009 and $8.7 million in 2008.
Paper Packaging

Our Paper Packaging segment sells containerboard, corrugated sheets, and corrugated containers in North America.
The key factors influencing profitability in the Paper Packaging segment are:
•

Selling prices, customer demand and sales volumes;

•

Raw material costs, primarily old corrugated containers;

•

Energy and transportation costs;

•

Benefits from executing the Greif Business System; and

•

Restructuring charges.

In this segment, net sales decreased 28.5 percent to $460.7 million in 2009 from $644.3 million in 2008. The
$183.6 million decrease was primarily due to lower sales volumes and lower selling prices.
Gross profit margin for the Paper Packaging segment was 15.2 percent in 2009 compared to 16.4 percent in 2008.
This decrease in gross profit margin was primarily the result of decreasing sales volume partially offset by the
continued implementation of the Greif Business System.
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Operating profit was $34.8 million and $60.8 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Operating profit before the
impact of restructuring charges decreased to $35.5 million in 2009 compared to $70.0 million in 2008. The decrease
in operating profit before the impact of restructuring charges was primarily due to lower net sales, partially offset by
lower raw material costs, especially for old corrugated containers. In addition, labor, transportation and energy costs
were lower in 2009 as compared to 2008.
Land Management

As of October 31, 2009, our Land Management segment consisted of approximately 256,700 acres of timber
properties in the southeastern United States, which are actively harvested and regenerated, and approximately
25,050 acres in Canada. The key factors influencing profitability in the Land Management segment are:
•

Planned level of timber sales;

•

Selling prices and customer demand;

•

Gains (losses) on sale of timberland; and

•

Sale of special use properties (surplus, HBU, and development properties).

In this segment, net sales were $20.6 million in 2009 compared to $18.8 million in 2008. While timber sales are
subject to fluctuations, we seek to maintain a consistent cutting schedule, within the limits of market and weather
conditions.
Gross profit margin for the Land Management segment was 53.5 percent in 2009 compared to 39.3 percent in 2008.
This increase in gross profit margin was primarily driven by the change in product mix.
Operating profit was $22.1 million and $20.8 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Operating profit before the
impact of restructuring charges and timberland disposals, net was $22.2 million in 2009 compared to $20.6 million in
2008. Included in these amounts were profits from the sale of special use properties of $14.8 million in 2009 and
$16.8 million in 2008.
At October 31, 2009, we estimated that there were approximately 58,900 acres in Canada and the United States of
special use property, which we expect will be available for sale in the next five to seven years.
Other Income Statement Changes
Gain on Disposal of Properties, Plants and Equipment, Net

For 2009, we recorded a gain on disposal of properties, plants and equipment, net of $34.4 million, primarily
consisting of a $17.2 million pre-tax net gain on the sale of specific Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment
assets and facilities in North America and $14.8 million in net gains from the sale of surplus and HBU timber
properties. During 2008, gain on disposal of properties, plants and equipment, net was $59.5 million, primarily
consisting of a $29.9 million pre-tax net gain on the divestiture of business units in Australia and our controlling
interest in a Zimbabwean operation and $15.2 million in net gains from the sale of surplus and HBU timber
properties.
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, was $53.6 million and $49.6 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. The increase was
primarily due to higher outstanding debt and increased borrowing costs in connection with our entering into a
$700 million senior secured credit facility and our issuance of $250 million of Senior Notes due 2019 at 7.75%, both
of which occurred in 2009.
Debt Extinguishment Charges

In 2009, we completed a $700 million senior secured credit facility. This facility replaced an existing $450 million
revolving credit facility that was scheduled to mature in March 2010. As a result of this transaction, a debt
extinguishment charge of $0.8 million related to the write-off of unamortized capitalized debt issuance costs was
recorded. No debt extinguishment charges were incurred in 2008.
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Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net was $7.2 million in 2009 compared to $8.8 million in 2008. The decrease was primarily due to
foreign exchange losses of $0.1 million in 2009 as compared to losses of $1.7 million in 2008.
Income Tax Expense

During 2009, the effective tax rate was 17.4% compared to 24.2% in 2008. The decrease in the effective tax rate was
primarily due a change in the mix of income in the United States compared to regions outside of the United States,
where tax rates were lower, among other factors. The effective tax rate may fluctuate based on the mix of income
inside and outside the United States and other factors.
Equity Earnings (Losses) of Unconsolidated Affiliates, Net of Tax and Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Equity earnings (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax were ($0.4) million in 2009 compared to a gain of
$1.6 million in 2008.
In addition, some of our subsidiaries are not wholly-owned by us, which means we own a majority interest in those
subsidiaries, and other unrelated persons own the remaining portion. Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests reflect the portion of earnings or losses of operations of these subsidiaries that are owned by persons
otherwise unrelated to us. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests for the year ended October 31, 2009
and 2008 were $3.2 million and $5.6 million, respectively, and were deducted from net income to arrive at net
income attributable to Greif, Inc.
Net Income

Based on the foregoing, net income decreased $131.1 million to $110.6 million in 2009 from $241.7 million in 2008.
BALANCE SHEET CHANGES

The $143.1 million increase in trade accounts receivable was primarily related to higher 2010 sales as compared to
2009 sales, extended credit terms with customers and acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South America, Europe
and Asia.
The $157.7 million increase in inventories was mainly driven by higher raw material prices, steel costs, higher
overall business activity levels and acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South America, Europe and Asia.
The $28.4 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets was primarily due to acquisitions in 2010 in
North America, South America, Europe and Asia.
The $117.6 million increase in goodwill primarily related to acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South America,
Europe and Asia. Refer to Note 6 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this
Form 10-K.
The $41.9 million increase in other intangibles primarily related to acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South
America, Europe and Asia. Refer to Note 6 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of
this Form 10-K for our intangible asset detail by asset class.
The $7.5 million increase in other long-term assets primarily related to acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South
America, Europe and Asia.
The $182.8 million increase in net property, plant and equipment primarily related to acquisitions in 2010 in North
America, South America, Europe and Asia.
The $112.5 million increase in accounts payable primarily related to higher raw material costs, especially steel,
timing of payments, foreign currency translation and acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South America, Europe
and Asia.
The $16.4 million increase in accrued payroll and employee benefits primarily related to the increase in headcount
and acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South America, Europe and Asia.
The $41.3 million increase in short-term borrowings was primarily related to acquisitions in 2010 in North America,
South America, Europe and Asia.
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The $24.4 million increase in other current liabilities was primarily related to acquisitions in 2010 in North America,
South America, Europe and Asia.
The $227.0 million increase in long-term debt and the current portion of long-term debt primarily related to
acquisitions in 2010 in North America, South America, Europe and Asia and purchases of properties, plants and
equipment.
The $12.0 million decrease in pension liabilities was primarily due to the recovering market in 2010.
The $9.5 million decrease in other long-term liabilities primarily related to a fair value adjustment of $14.9 million
related to foreign currency swaps.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are operating cash flows, the proceeds from our trade accounts receivable credit
facility, proceeds from the sale of our non-United States accounts receivable and borrowings under our 2010 Credit
Agreement and Senior Notes, further discussed below. We have used these sources to fund our working capital
needs, capital expenditures, cash dividends, common stock repurchases and acquisitions. We anticipate continuing to
fund these items in a like manner. We currently expect that operating cash flows, the proceeds from our trade
accounts receivable credit facility, proceeds from the sale of our non-United States accounts receivable and
borrowings under our 2010 Credit Agreement and Senior Notes will be sufficient to fund our currently anticipated
working capital, capital expenditures, debt repayment, potential acquisitions of businesses and other liquidity needs
for at least 12 months. At October 31, 2010, we had $695.6 million available to borrow under our 2010 Credit
Agreement, as described below.
Capital Expenditures

During 2010, 2009 and 2008, we invested $144.1 million (excluding $21.0 million for timberland properties),
$124.7 million (excluding $1.0 million for timberland properties), and $143.1 million (excluding $2.5 million for
timberland properties) in capital expenditures, respectively.
We anticipate future capital expenditures, excluding the potential purchase of timberland properties, of
approximately $140 million through October 31, 2011. These expenditures will be used to fund a manufacturing site
for the Flexible Products & Services segment and to replace and improve existing equipment.
Acquisitions, Divestitures and Other Significant Transactions

During 2010, we completed acquisitions of seven rigid industrial packaging companies and made a contingent
purchase price payment related to a 2008 rigid industrial packaging acquisition. The seven rigid industrial packaging
companies consisted of a European company purchased in November 2009, an Asian company purchased in June
2010, two North American drum reconditioning companies purchased in July and August 2010, one European
company purchased in August 2010, a 51 percent interest in a Middle Eastern company and a South American
company purchased in September 2010.
During 2010, we completed acquisitions of five flexible products companies. These five flexible product companies
conduct business throughout Europe, Asia and North America and were acquired in February, June, August and
September 2010. On September 29, 2010, we entered into a joint venture agreement with Dabbagh Group Holding
Company Limited, a Saudi Arabia corporation (“Dabbagh”), and National Scientific Company Limited, a
Saudi Arabia limited liability company and a subsidiary of Dabbagh (“NSC”), referred to herein as the Flexible
Packaging Joint Venture (“Flexible Packaging JV”). Thereafter, we contributed the five acquired flexible product
companies to the Flexible Packaging JV. We own 50 percent of the Flexible Packaging JV but exercise management
control of its operations. The results of the Flexible Packaging JV have been consolidated within our 2010 results.
The aggregate purchase price for the twelve 2010 acquisitions was $176.2 million.
During 2009, we acquired five Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services companies and one paper packaging company
and made a contingent purchase price payment related to a 2005 acquisition for an aggregate purchase price of
$90.8 million. These six acquisitions consisted of the acquisition of two North American industrial packaging
companies in February 2009, a North American industrial packaging company in June 2009, an Asian industrial
packaging company in July 2009, a South American industrial packaging company in October 2009, and a 75 percent
interest in a North American paper packaging company in October 2009.
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During 2010, we sold specific Paper Packaging segment assets and facilities in North America. The net gain from
these sales was immaterial.
During 2009, we sold specific Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment assets and facilities in North America.
The net gain from these sales was $17.1 million and was included in gain on disposal of properties, plants and
equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated statement of income.
Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional
disclosures regarding our 2010 and 2009 acquisitions and other significant transactions.
Borrowing Arrangements

Credit Agreement

On October 29, 2010, we and two of our international subsidiaries, as borrowers, obtained a $1.0 billion senior
secured credit facility pursuant to an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “2010 Credit Agreement”) with a
syndicate of financial institutions. The 2010 Credit Agreement replaced our then existing credit agreement (the “2009
Credit Agreement”) that provided us with a $500 million revolving multicurrency credit facility and a $200 million
term loan, both expiring in February 2012. The revolving multicurrency credit facility under the 2009 Credit
Agreement was available for ongoing working capital and capital expenditure needs, for general corporate purposes,
and to finance acquisitions. Interest was based on either a euro currency rate or an alternative base rate that resets
periodically plus a calculated margin.
The 2010 Credit Agreement provides us with a $750 million revolving multicurrency credit facility and a
$250 million term loan, both expiring October 29, 2015, with an option to add $250 million to the facilities with the
agreement of the lenders. The $250 million term loan is scheduled to amortize by the payment of principal in the
amount of $3.1 million each quarter-end for the first eight quarters, $6.3 million each quarter-end for the next eleven
quarters and $156.3 million on the maturity date. The revolving credit facility under the 2010 Credit Agreement is
available to fund ongoing working capital and capital expenditure needs, for general corporate purposes, to finance
acquisitions and to refinance amounts outstanding under the 2009 Credit Agreement. Interest is based on a
Eurodollar rate or a base rate that resets periodically plus an agreed upon margin amount. On October 29, 2010, a
total of $374 million was borrowed under the 2010 Credit Agreement to pay the obligations outstanding under the
2009 Credit Agreement in full and certain costs and expenses incurred in connection with the 2010 Credit
Agreement. As of October 31, 2010, a total of $273.7 million was outstanding under the 2010 Credit Agreement,
with available borrowing capacity of $695.6 million. The weighted average interest rate on the 2010 Credit
Agreement was 3.67% for the year ended October 31, 2010 and at October 31, 2010.
The 2010 Credit Agreement contains certain covenants, which include financial covenants that require us to maintain
a certain leverage ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. The leverage ratio generally requires that at the end of any
fiscal quarter we will not permit the ratio of (a) our total consolidated indebtedness, to (b) our consolidated net
income plus depreciation, depletion and amortization, interest expense (including capitalized interest), income taxes,
and minus certain extraordinary gains and non-recurring gains (or plus certain extraordinary losses and non-recurring
losses) and plus or minus certain other items for the preceding twelve months (“adjusted EBITDA”) to be greater
than 3.75 to 1 (or 3.5 to 1, during any collateral release period). The fixed charge coverage ratio generally requires
that at the end of any fiscal quarter we will not permit the ratio of (a) (i) our adjusted EBITDA, less (ii) the aggregate
amount of certain of our cash capital expenditures, and less (iii) the aggregate amount of our federal, state, local and
foreign income taxes actually paid in cash (other than taxes related to asset sales not in the ordinary course of
business), to (b) the sum of (i) our consolidated interest expense to the extent paid or payable in cash and (ii) the
aggregate principal amount of all of our regularly scheduled principal payments or redemptions or similar
acquisitions for value of outstanding debt for borrowed money, but excluding any such payments to the extent
refinanced through the incurrence of additional indebtedness, to be less than 1.5 to 1, during the applicable trailing
twelve month period. On October 31, 2010, we were in compliance with these two covenants.
The terms of the 2010 Credit Agreement limit our ability to make “restricted payments,” which include dividends
and purchases, redemptions and acquisitions of our equity interests. The repayment of amounts borrowed under the
2010 Credit Agreement are secured by a security interest in the personal property of Greif, Inc. and certain of our
United States subsidiaries, including equipment and inventory and certain intangible assets, as well as a pledge of the
capital stock of substantially all of our United States subsidiaries. The repayment of amounts borrowed under the
2010 Credit Agreement will also be secured, in part,
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by capital stock of the non-U.S. subsidiaries that are parties to the 2010 Credit Agreement and their non-U.S. parent
companies, following the completion of a corporate reorganization. However, in the event that we receive and
maintain an investment grade rating from either Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor’s Corporation,
we may request the release of such collateral. The payment of outstanding principal under the 2010 Credit
Agreement and accrued interest thereon may be accelerated and become immediately due and payable upon our
default in its payment or other performance obligations or its failure to comply with the financial and other covenants
in the 2010 Credit Agreement, subject to applicable notice requirements and cure periods as provided in the 2010
Credit Agreement.
Refer to Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional
disclosures regarding the 2010 Credit Agreement.
Senior Notes

We have issued $300.0 million of our 6.75% Senior Notes due February 1, 2017. Proceeds from the issuance of these
Senior Notes were principally used to fund the purchase of our previously outstanding senior subordinated notes and
for general corporate purposes. These Senior Notes are general unsecured obligations of Greif, Inc. only, provide for
semi-annual payments of interest at a fixed rate of 6.75%, and do not require any principal payments prior to
maturity on February 1, 2017. These Senior Notes are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries and thereby are
effectively subordinated to all of our subsidiaries’ existing and future indebtedness. The Indenture pursuant to which
these Senior Notes were issued contains covenants, which, among other things, limit our ability to create liens on our
assets to secure debt and to enter into sale and leaseback transactions. These covenants are subject to a number of
limitations and exceptions as set forth in the Indenture. At October 31, 2010, we were in compliance with these
covenants.
We have issued $250.0 million of our 7.75% Senior Notes due August 1, 2019. Proceeds from the issuance of these
Senior Notes were principally used for general corporate purposes, including the repayment of amounts outstanding
under our revolving multicurrency credit facility under the 2009 Credit Agreement, without any permanent reduction
of the commitments. These Senior Notes are general unsecured obligations of Greif, Inc. only, provide for semiannual payments of interest at a fixed rate of 7.75%, and do not require any principal payments prior to maturity on
August 1, 2019. These Senior Notes are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries and thereby are effectively
subordinated to all of our subsidiaries’ existing and future indebtedness. The Indenture pursuant to which these
Senior Notes were issued contains covenants, which, among other things, limit our ability to create liens on our
assets to secure debt and to enter into sale and leaseback transactions. These covenants are subject to a number of
limitations and exceptions as set forth in the Indenture. At October 31, 2010, we were in compliance with these
covenants.
Refer to Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional
disclosures regarding the Senior Notes discussed above.
United States Trade Accounts Receivable Credit Facility

We have a $135.0 million trade accounts receivable facility (the “Receivables Facility”) with a financial institution
and its affiliate (the “Purchasers”). The Receivables Facility matures in December 2013, subject to earlier
termination by the Purchasers of their purchase commitment in December 2010. In addition, we can terminate the
Receivables Facility at any time upon five days prior written notice. The Receivables Facility is secured by certain of
our United States trade receivables and bears interest at a variable rate based on the commercial paper rate, or
alternatively, the London Interbank Offered Rate, plus a margin. Interest is payable on a monthly basis and the
principal balance is payable upon termination of the Receivables Facility. The Receivables Facility contains certain
covenants, including financial covenants for leverage and fixed charge ratios identical to the 2010 Credit Agreement.
Proceeds of the Receivables Facility are available for working capital and general corporate purposes. At October 31,
2010, $135.0 million was outstanding under the Receivables Facility.
Refer to Note 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional
disclosures regarding the Receivables Facility.
Sale of Non-United States Accounts Receivable

Certain of our international subsidiaries have entered into discounted receivables purchase agreements and factoring
agreements (the “RPAs”) pursuant to which trade receivables generated from certain countries other than the United
States

36

Table of Contents
and which meet certain eligibility requirements are sold to certain international banks or their affiliates. The structure
of these transactions provides for a legal true sale, on a revolving basis, of the receivables transferred from our
various subsidiaries to the respective banks. The banks fund an initial purchase price of a certain percentage of
eligible receivables based on a formula with the initial purchase price approximating 75 percent to 90 percent of
eligible receivables. The remaining deferred purchase price is settled upon collection of the receivables. At the
balance sheet reporting dates, we remove from accounts receivable the amount of proceeds received from the initial
purchase price since they meet the applicable criteria of ASC 860, “Transfers and Servicing”, and continue to
recognize the deferred purchase price in our accounts receivable. The receivables are sold on a non-recourse basis
with the total funds in the servicing collection accounts pledged to the respective banks between the settlement dates.
The maximum amount of aggregate receivables that may be sold under our various RPAs, was $175.7 million at
October 31, 2010. The number does not account for the Brazilian RPA which does not have a maximum. At
October 31, 2010, total accounts receivable of $177.2 million were sold under the various RPAs, of which
$6.9 million related to the Brazilian RPA.
At the time the receivables are initially sold, the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
assets sold are included as a loss on sale and classified as “other expense” in the consolidated statements of
operations. Expenses associated with the various RPAs totaled $6.8 million for the year ended October 31, 2010.
Additionally, we perform collections and administrative functions on the receivables sold similar to the procedures
we use for collecting all of our receivables. The servicing liability for these receivables is not material to the
consolidated financial statements.
Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional
information regarding these various RPAs.
Other

In addition to the amounts borrowed against the 2010 Credit Agreement and proceeds from the Senior Notes and the
United States trade accounts receivable credit facility, at October 31, 2010, we had outstanding other debt of
$72.1 million, comprised of $11.2 million in long-term debt and $60.9 million in short-term borrowings.
At October 31, 2010, annual maturities, including the current portion, of long-term debt under our various financing
arrangements were $12.5 million in 2011, $23.7 million in 2012, $160.0 million in 2013, $25.0 million in 2014,
$198.7 million in 2015 and $545.7 million thereafter.
At October 31, 2010 and 2009, we had deferred financing fees and debt issuance costs of $19.9 million and
$14.9 million, respectively, which are included in other long-term assets.
Financial Instruments
Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swaps

We entered into a cross-currency interest rate swap agreement which was designated as a hedge of a net investment
in a foreign operation. Under this swap agreement, we received interest semi-annually from the counterparties in an
amount equal to a fixed rate of 6.75% on $200.0 million and paid interest in an amount equal to a fixed rate of 6.25%
on €146.6 million. During the third quarter of 2010, we terminated this swap agreement, including any future cash
flows. The termination of this swap agreement resulted in a cash gain of $25.7 million ($15.8 million, net of tax)
which is included within foreign currency translation adjustments. At October 31, 2009, we had recorded an other
comprehensive loss of $14.6 million as a result of this swap agreement.
Interest Rate Derivatives

We have interest rate swap agreements with various maturities through 2012. These interest rate swap agreements are
used to manage our fixed and floating rate debt mix. Under these swap agreements, we receive interest monthly from
the counterparties based upon a designated LIBOR, and we pay interest based upon a designated fixed rate over the
life of the swap agreements.
We have two interest rate derivatives (floating to fixed swap agreements recorded as cash flow hedges) with a total
notional amount of $125 million. Under these swap agreements, we receive interest based upon a variable interest
rate from the
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counterparties (weighted average of 0.26% at October 31, 2010 and 0.25% at October 31, 2009) and pay interest
based upon a fixed interest rate (weighted average of 1.78% at October 31, 2010 and 2.71% at October 31, 2009).
The other comprehensive loss on these interest rate derivatives was $2.0 million at October 31, 2010 and $2.3 million
at October 31, 2009.
In the first quarter of 2010, we entered into a $100.0 million fixed to floating swap agreement which was recorded as
a fair value hedge. Under this swap agreement, we received interest from the counterparty based upon a fixed rate of
6.75% and paid interest based upon a variable rate on a semi-annual basis. In the third quarter of 2010, we terminated
this swap agreement, including any future cash flows. The termination of this swap agreement resulted in a cash gain
of $3.6 million.
Foreign Exchange Hedges

At October 31, 2010, we had outstanding foreign currency forward contracts in the notional amount of
$252.9 million ($70.5 million at October 31, 2009). The purpose of these contracts is to hedge our exposure to
foreign currency transactions and short-term intercompany loan balances in our international businesses. The fair
value of these contracts at October 31, 2010 resulted in a gain of $0.8 million recorded in the consolidated statements
of operations and a loss of $2.3 million recorded in other comprehensive income. The fair value of similar contracts
at October 31, 2009 resulted in an immaterial loss in the consolidated statements of operations.
Energy Hedges

We have entered into certain cash flow hedge agreements to mitigate our exposure to cost fluctuations in natural gas
prices through October 31, 2010. Under these hedge agreements, we have agreed to purchase natural gas at a fixed
price. At October 31, 2010, the notional amount of these hedge agreements was $2.4 million ($4.0 million at
October 31, 2009). The other comprehensive loss on these hedge agreements was $0.3 million at October 31, 2010
and $0.6 million at October 31, 2009. As a result of the high correlation between the hedged instruments and the
underlying transactions, ineffectiveness has not had a material impact on our consolidated statements of operations
for the year ended October 31, 2010.
Contractual Obligations

As of October 31, 2010, we had the following contractual obligations (Dollars in millions):

Long-term debt
Current portion of long-term debt
Short-term borrowing
Capital lease obligations
Operating leases
Liabilities held by special purpose entities
Total

Total

Less than 1 year

1-3 years

$1,323.5
12.5
64.6
11.3
9.6
67.2
$1,488.7

$ 50.8
12.5
64.6
1.6
3.5
2.2
$135.2

$360.6
—
—
4.0
3.8
4.5
$372.9

Payments Due by Period
3-5 years
After 5 years

$288.0
—
—
5.7
2.1
2.2
$298.0

$624.1
—
—
—
0.2
58.3
$682.6

Note: Amounts presented in the contractual obligation table include interest.
Our unrecognized tax benefits under ASC 740, “Income Taxes” have been excluded from the contractual obligations
table because of the inherent uncertainty and the inability to reasonably estimate the timing of cash outflows.
Stock Repurchase Program and Other Share Acquisitions

Our Board of Directors has authorized us to purchase up to four million shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B
Common Stock or any combination of the foregoing. During 2010, we repurchased no shares of Class A Common
Stock, and we repurchased 50,000 shares of Class B Common Stock (refer to Item 5 to this Form 10-K for additional
information regarding these repurchases). As of October 31, 2010, we had repurchased 2,883,272 shares, including
1,416,752 shares of Class A Common Stock and 1,466,520 shares of Class B Common Stock, under this program.
The total cost of the shares repurchased from November 1, 2007 through October 31, 2010 was $27.3 million.
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Effects of Inflation

Inflation did not have a material impact on our operations during 2010, 2009 or 2008.
Subsequent Events

None.
Recent Accounting Standards

Newly Adopted Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) amended ASC 805, “Business
Combinations”. The objective of the new provisions of ASC 805 is to improve the relevance, representational
faithfulness and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial reports about a
business combination and its effects. ASC 805 establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer
recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination
or a gain from a bargain purchase; and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. ASC 805 applies to all
transactions or other events in which an entity (the acquirer) obtains control of one or more businesses (the acquiree),
including those sometimes referred to as “true mergers” or “mergers of equals” and combinations achieved without
the transfer of consideration. ASC 805 applies to any acquisition entered into on or after November 1, 2009. We
adopted the new guidance beginning on November 1, 2009, which impacted our financial position, results of
operations, cash flows and related disclosures.
In December 2007, the FASB amended ASC 810, “Consolidation”. The objective of the new amendment of ASC 810
is to improve the relevance, comparability and transparency of the financial information that a reporting entity
provides in its consolidated financial statements. ASC 810 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. ASC 810 also changes the way the
consolidated financial statements are presented, establishes a single method of accounting for changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation, requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss
in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated and expands disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
that clearly identify and distinguish between the parent’s ownership interest and the interest of the noncontrolling
owners of a subsidiary. The provisions of ASC 810 are to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal
year in which ASC 810 is adopted, except for the presentation and disclosure requirements, which are to be applied
retrospectively for all periods presented. We adopted the new guidance beginning November 1, 2009, and the
adoption of the new guidance did not impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows, other than the
related disclosures.
In December 2008, the FASB amended ASC 715, “Compensation—Retirement Benefits”, to provide guidance on
employers’ disclosures about assets of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. ASC 715 requires
employers to disclose information about fair value measurements of plan assets similar to ASC 820, “Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures.” The objectives of the disclosures are to provide an understanding of: (a) how
investment allocation decisions are made, including the factors that are pertinent to an understanding of investment
policies and strategies, (b) the major categories of plan assets, (c) the inputs and valuation techniques used to
measure the fair value of plan assets, (d) the effect of fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
on changes in plan assets for the period and (e) significant concentrations of risk within plan assets. We adopted the
new guidance beginning November 1, 2009, and the adoption of the new guidance did not impact our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows, other than the related disclosures.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2009, the FASB amended ASC 860, “Transfers and Servicing”. The amendment to ASC 860 improves the
information provided in financial statements concerning transfers of financial assets, including the effects of transfers
on financial position, financial performance and cash flows, and any continuing involvement of the transferor with
the transferred financial assets. The provisions of ASC 860 are effective for our financial statements for the fiscal
year beginning November 1, 2010. We are in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that the adoption of the
guidance may have on our consolidated
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financial statements and related disclosures. However, we do not anticipate a material impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
In June 2009, the FASB amended ASC 810, “Consolidation”. The amendment to ASC 810 requires an enterprise to
perform an analysis to determine whether the enterprise’s variable interest or interests give it a controlling financial
interest in a variable interest entity. It also requires enhanced disclosures that will provide users of financial
statements with more transparent information about an enterprise’s involvement in a variable interest entity. The
provisions of ASC 810 are effective for our financial statements for the fiscal year beginning November 1, 2010. We
are in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that the adoption of ASC 810 may have on our consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures. However, we do not anticipate a material impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk related to our financial instruments that include borrowings under the 2010 Credit
Agreement, proceeds from our Senior Notes and trade accounts receivable credit facility, and interest rate swap
agreements. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. We have entered into
interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to variability in interest rates and changes in the fair value of
fixed rate debt.
We had interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount of $125.0 million and $175.0 million at
October 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, with various maturities through 2012. The interest rate swap agreements
are used to fix a portion of the interest on our variable rate debt. Under certain of these agreements, we receive
interest monthly from the counterparties equal to London InterBank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and pay interest at a
fixed rate over the life of the contracts. A liability for the loss on interest rate swap contracts, which represented their
fair values, in the amount of $2.0 million and $2.3 million was recorded at October 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

40

Table of Contents
The tables below provide information about our derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments that
are sensitive to changes in interest rates. For the 2010 and 2009 Credit Agreements, Senior Notes and trade accounts
receivable credit facility, the tables present scheduled amortizations of principal and the weighted average interest
rate by contractual maturity dates at October 31, 2010 and 2009. For interest rate swaps, the tables present annual
amortizations of notional amounts and weighted average interest rates by contractual maturity dates. Under the cash
flow swap agreements, we receive interest monthly from the counterparties and pay interest monthly to the
counterparties.
The fair values of our 2010 and 2009 Credit Agreements, Senior Notes and trade accounts receivable credit facility
are based on rates available to us for debt of the same remaining maturity at October 31, 2010 and 2009. The fair
value of the interest rate swap agreements has been determined based upon the market settlement prices of
comparable contracts at October 31, 2010 and 2009.
Financial Instruments
As of October 31, 2010
(Dollars in millions)

2011

2010 Credit Agreement:
Scheduled amortizations
Average interest rate(1)
Senior Notes due 2017:
Scheduled amortizations
Average interest rate
Senior Notes due 2019:
Scheduled amortizations
Average interest rate
Trade accounts receivable credit facility:
Scheduled amortizations
Interest rate swaps:
Scheduled amortizations
Average pay rate(2)
Average receive rate(3)

2012

2013

Expected Maturity Date
After
2014
2015
2015

$ 13 $ 13 $ 25 $ 25 $ 198
3.67% 3.67% 3.67% 3.67% 3.67%

—
—

Total

Fair
Value

$ 274 $ 274
3.67%

—
—
—
—
— $ 300 $ 300 $322.9
6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75%
—
—
—
—
— $ 250 $ 250 $278.8
7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75%
—

—

$ 50 $ 75
1.78% 1.78%
0.26% 0.26%

—

$ 135

—

—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—

—

$ 125 $ (2.0)
1.78%
0.26%

(1) Variable rate specified is based on LIBOR or an alternative base rate plus a calculated margin at October 31, 2010. The rates presented are not
intended to project our expectations for the future.
(2) The average pay rate is based upon the fixed rates we were scheduled to pay at October 31, 2010. The rates presented are not intended to
project our expectations for the future.
(3) The average receive rate is based upon the LIBOR we were scheduled to receive at October 31, 2010. The rates presented are not intended to
project our expectations for the future.
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As of October 31, 2009
(Dollars in millions)

2010

2009 Credit Agreement:
Scheduled amortizations
Average interest rate(1)
Senior Notes due 2017:
Scheduled amortizations
Average interest rate
Senior Notes due 2019:
Scheduled amortizations
Average interest rate
Trade accounts receivable credit facility:
Scheduled amortizations
Interest rate swaps:
Scheduled amortizations
Average pay rate(2)
Average receive rate(3)

2011

Expected Maturity Date
After
2012
2013
2014
2014

$ 17 $ 20 $ 155
3.19% 3.19% 3.19%

—
—

—
—

—
—

Total

Fair
Value

$ 192
$ 192
3.19%

—
—
—
—
— $ 300 $ 300
$ 292
6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75%
—
—
—
—
— $ 250 $ 250
$ 256
7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75%
—

—

—

$ 50 $ 50 $ 75
2.71% 2.71% 2.71%
0.25% 0.25% 0.25%

—

—

—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—

—

$ 175
$(2.3)
2.71%
0.25%

(1) Variable rate specified is based on LIBOR or an alternative base rate plus a calculated margin at October 31, 2009. The rates presented are not
intended to project our expectations for the future.
(2) The average pay rate is based upon the fixed rates we were scheduled to pay at October 31, 2009. The rates presented are not intended to
project our expectations for the future.
(3) The average receive rate is based upon the LIBOR we were scheduled to receive at October 31, 2009. The rates presented are not intended to
project our expectations for the future.

The fair market value of the interest rate swaps at October 31, 2010 was a net liability of $2.0 million. Based on a
sensitivity analysis we performed at October 31, 2010, a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would increase the
fair value of the swap agreements by $0.5 million to a net liability of $2.5 million. Conversely, a 100 basis point
increase in interest rates would decrease the fair value of the swap agreements by $1.3 million to a net loss of
$0.7 million.
Currency Risk

As a result of our international operations, our operating results are subject to fluctuations in currency exchange
rates. The geographic presence of our operations mitigates this exposure to some degree. Additionally, our
transaction exposure is somewhat limited because we produce and sell a majority of our products within each country
in which we operate.
At October 31, 2010, we had outstanding foreign currency forward contracts in the notional amount of
$252.9 million ($70.5 million at October 31, 2009). The purpose of these contracts is to hedge our exposure to
foreign currency transactions and short-term intercompany loan balances in our international businesses. The fair
value of these contracts at October 31, 2010 resulted in a gain of $0.8 million recorded in the consolidated statements
of income and a loss of $2.3 million recorded in other comprehensive income. The fair value of similar contracts at
October 31, 2009 resulted in a loss of $0.1 million recorded in consolidated statements of income.
A sensitivity analysis to changes in the foreign currencies hedged indicates that if the U.S. dollar strengthened by
10 percent, the fair value of these instruments would increase by $8.0 million to a net gain of $6.5 million.
Conversely, if the U.S. dollar weakened by 10 percent, the fair value of these instruments would decrease by
$8.8 million to a net loss of $10.3 million.
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Commodity Price Risk

We purchase commodities such as steel, resin, containerboard, pulpwood and energy. We do not currently engage in
material hedging of commodities, other than small hedges in natural gas, because there has historically been a high
correlation between the commodity cost and the ultimate selling price of our products. The fair value of our
commodity hedging contracts resulted in a $0.3 million loss recorded in other comprehensive income at October 31,
2010. A sensitivity analysis to changes in natural gas prices indicates that if natural gas prices decreased by
10 percent, the fair value of these instruments would decrease by $0.2 million to a net loss of $0.5 million.
Conversely, if natural gas prices increased by 10 percent, the fair value of these instruments would increase by
$0.2 million to a net loss of $0.1 million.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
For the Years Ended October 31,

2010

2009
2008
(As Adjusted) 1 (As Adjusted) 1

Net sales
$3,461,537 $
Costs of products sold
2,757,875
Gross profit
703,662
Selling, general and administrative expenses
362,935
Restructuring charges
26,746
Timberland disposals, net
—
(Gain) on disposal of properties, plants and equipment, net
(11,434)
Operating profit
325,415
Interest expense, net
65,787
Debt extinguishment charge
—
Other expense, net
7,139
Income before income tax expense and equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliates,
net
252,489
Income tax expense
40,571
Equity earnings (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax
3,539
Net income
215,457
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
(5,472)
Net income attributable to Greif, Inc.
$ 209,985 $
Basic earnings per share:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Diluted earnings per share:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

2,792,217 $
2,292,573
499,644
267,589
66,590
—
(34,432)
199,897
53,593
782
7,193

3,790,531
3,085,735
704,796
339,157
43,202
(340)
(59,534)
382,311
49,628
—
8,751

138,329
24,061
(436)
113,832
(3,186)
110,646 $

323,932
78,241
1,672
247,363
(5,615)
241,748

$
$

3.60 $
5.40 $

1.91 $
2.86 $

4.16
6.23

$
$

3.58 $
5.40 $

1.91 $
2.86 $

4.11
6.23

(1) In the first quarter of 2010, the Company changed from using a combination of first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) and last-in, first-out (“LIFO”)
inventory accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of its businesses. All amounts included herein have been presented on the FIFO
basis.
Refer to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)
As of October 31,

2010
2009
(As Adjusted) 1

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance of $13,311 in 2010 and $12,510 in 2009
Inventories
Deferred tax assets
Net assets held for sale
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Long-term assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net of amortization
Assets held by special purpose entities
Deferred tax assets
Other long-term assets
Properties, plants and equipment
Timber properties, net of depletion
Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Capital projects in progress

$ 106,957
480,158
396,572
19,526
28,407
134,269
1,165,889

$ 111,896
337,054
238,851
19,901
31,574
105,904
845,180

709,725
173,239
50,891
29,982
93,603
1,057,440

592,117
131,370
50,891
25,977
86,115
886,470

215,537
197,114
121,409
120,667
411,437
380,816
1,302,597
1,148,406
112,300
70,489
2,163,280
1,917,492
(888,164)
(825,213)
1,275,116
1,092,279
$3,498,445 $2,823,929

Accumulated depreciation
Total assets

(1) In the first quarter of 2010, the Company changed from using a combination of FIFO and LIFO inventory accounting methods to the FIFO
method for all of its businesses. All amounts included herein have been presented on the FIFO basis.
Refer to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)
As of October 31,

2010
2009
(As Adjusted) 1

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and employee benefits
Restructuring reserves
Current portion of long-term debt
Short-term borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Other current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Pension liabilities
Postretirement benefit obligations
Liabilities held by special purpose entities
Other long-term liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, without par value
Treasury stock, at cost
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:
- foreign currency translation
- interest rate derivatives
- energy and other derivatives
- minimum pension liabilities
Total Greif, Inc. shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$ 448,310
90,887
20,238
12,523
60,908
5,091
123,854
761,811

$ 335,816
74,475
15,315
17,500
19,584
380
99,027
562,097

953,066
180,486
65,915
21,555
43,250
116,930
1,381,202

721,108
161,152
77,942
25,396
43,250
126,392
1,155,240

106,057
(117,394)
1,323,477

96,504
(115,277)
1,206,614

44,612
(6,825)
(1,318)
(1,484)
(187)
(391)
(76,526)
(79,546)
1,278,721
1,099,595
76,711
6,997
1,355,432
1,106,592
$3,498,445 $2,823,929

(1) In the first quarter of 2010, the Company changed from using a combination of FIFO and LIFO inventory accounting methods to the FIFO
method for all of its businesses. All amounts included herein have been presented on the FIFO basis.
Refer to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)
For the Years Ended October 31,

2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Asset impairments
Deferred income taxes
Gain on disposals of properties, plants and equipment, net
Equity (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Timberland disposals, net
Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in certain assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and employee benefits
Restructuring reserves
Other current liabilities
Pension and postretirement benefit liabilities
Other long-term assets, other long-term liabilities and other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of companies, net of cash acquired
Purchases of properties, plants and equipment
Purchases of timber properties
Proceeds from the sale of properties, plants, equipment and other assets
Purchases of land rights
Receipt of notes receivable
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Proceeds (payments of) short-term borrowings, net
Proceeds (payments of) trade accounts receivable credit facility, net
Dividends paid
Acquisitions of treasury stock and other
Exercise of stock options
Debt issuance costs
Settlement of derivatives, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effects of exchange rates on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

2009
2008
(As Adjusted) 1 (As Adjusted) 1

215,457 $

113,832 $

247,363

115,974
2,917
4,596
(11,434)
(3,539)
—
—

102,627
19,516
(13,167)
(34,432)
436
782
—

106,378
12,325
9,116
(59,534)
(1,672)
—
(340)

(54,046)
(87,832)
(42,557)
(15,413)
18,868
4,923
(38,040)
(15,868)
84,105
178,111

73,358
109,146
(151)
(92,449)
(20,511)
168
(50,117)
63,744
(6,258)
266,524

(65,877)
(102,699)
(3,467)
39,827
6,584
(629)
16,310
(13,281)
(50,568)
139,836

(179,459)
(144,137)
(20,996)
17,325
—
—
(327,267)

(90,816)
(124,671)
(1,000)
50,279
(4,992)
—
(171,200)

(99,962)
(143,077)
(2,500)
60,333
(9,289)
33,178
(161,317)

3,731,683
3,170,212
2,271,868
(3,637,945)
(2,983,534)
(2,225,575)
3,878
(25,749)
23,020
135,000
(120,000)
3,976
(93,122)
(87,957)
(76,524)
(2,696)
(3,145)
(21,483)
2,002
2,015
4,540
(10,902)
(13,588)
—
17,985
(3,574)
—
145,883
(65,320)
(20,178)
(1,666)
4,265
(4,413)
(4,939)
34,269
(46,072)
111,896
77,627
123,699
$ 106,957 $
111,896 $
77,627

(1) In the first quarter of 2010, the Company changed from using a combination of FIFO and LIFO inventory accounting methods to the FIFO
method for all of its businesses. All amounts included herein have been presented on the FIFO basis.
Refer to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts)

Capital Stock
Shares Amount
As of October 31, 2007 (As Adjusted) 1
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
- foreign currency translation
- interest rate derivative, net of income tax benefit
of $433
- minimum pension liability adjustment, net of
income tax expense of $920
- energy derivatives, net of income tax benefit of
$1,954
- commodity hedge, net of income tax benefit of
$482
Comprehensive income
Adjustment to initially apply FIN 48
Noncontrolling interests, acquisitions and other
Dividends paid
Treasury shares acquired
Stock options exercised
Tax benefit of stock options
Long-term incentive shares issued
As of October 31, 2008 (As Adjusted) 1
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
- foreign currency translation
- interest rate derivative, net of income tax expense
of $128
- minimum pension liability adjustment, net of
income tax benefit of $28,580
- energy derivatives, net of income tax expense of
$1,579
Comprehensive income
Change in pension measurement date, net of income
tax benefit of $590
Noncontrolling interests, acquisitions and other
Dividends paid
Treasury shares acquired
Stock options exercised
Tax benefit of stock options
Long-term incentive shares issued
As of October 31, 2009 (As Adjusted) 1
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
- foreign currency translation
- interest rate derivative, net of income tax expense
of $67
- minimum pension liability adjustment, net of
income tax benefit of $1,279
- energy derivatives, net of income tax expense of
$82
Comprehensive income
Noncontrolling interests, acquisitions and other
Dividends paid
Treasury shares acquired
Stock options exercised
Tax benefit of stock options and other
Long-term incentive shares issued
As of October 31, 2010

46,699 $

75,155

Accumulated
NonOther
Treasury Stock Retained Controlling Comprehensive Shareholders’
Shares Amount Earnings
Interests
Income (Loss)
Equity
30,143 $ (92,028 ) $1,025,716 $
241,748

6,560 $
5,615

12,484 $

(82,953 )

(82,953 )

(805)

(805)

2,979

2,979

(3,629 )

(3,629 )

(896)

(896)
162,059

(7,015 )
(8,446)
(76,524 )
(382)
283
44
46,644 $

3,949
4,709
2,633
86,446

382
(283)

(21,476 )
484

(44 )
89
30,198 $(112,931 ) $1,183,925 $
110,646

3,729 $
3,186

1,027,887
247,363

(72,820 ) $
32,868

(7,015 )
(8,446 )
(76,524 )
(21,476 )
4,433
4,709
2,722
1,088,349
113,832
32,868

318

(51,092 )

3,908

3,908
99,834

(1,428 )
82
(87,957 )
(100)
133
260
46,937 $

1,749
575
7,734
96,504

100
(133)

(3,145 )
266

(260)
533
29,905 $(115,277 ) $1,206,614 $
209,985

6,997 $
5,472

(88,246 ) $

51,437

166

166

3,020

3,020

204

204
270,284

64,242

1,729
17
149
7,807
47,169 $ 106,057

50
(133)

(2,696 )
273

(149)
306
29,673 $(117,394 ) $1,323,477 $

76,711 $

(1,428 )
82
(87,957 )
(3,145 )
2,015
575
8,267
1,106,592
215,457

51,437

(93,122 )
(50 )
133

318

(51,092 )

(33,419 ) $

64,242
(93,122 )
(2,696 )
2,002
17
8,113
1,355,432

(1) In the first quarter of 2010, the Company changed from using a combination of FIFO and LIFO inventory accounting methods to the FIFO
method for all of its businesses. All amounts included herein have been presented on the FIFO basis.
Refer to the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1—BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Business

Greif, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Greif”, “our”, or the “Company”) principally manufacture industrial
packaging products, complemented with a variety of value-added services, including blending, packaging,
reconditioning, logistics and warehousing, flexible intermediate bulk containers and containerboard and corrugated
products, and that it sells to customers in many industries throughout the world. The Company has operations in over
50 countries. In addition, the Company owns timber properties in the southeastern United States, which are actively
harvested and regenerated, and also owns timber properties in Canada.
Due to the variety of its products, the Company has many customers buying different products and, due to the scope
of the Company’s sales, no one customer is considered principal in the total operations of the Company.
Because the Company supplies a cross section of industries, such as chemicals, food products, petroleum products,
pharmaceuticals and metal products, and must make spot deliveries on a day-to-day basis as its products are required
by its customers, the Company does not operate on a backlog to any significant extent and maintains only limited
levels of finished goods. Many customers place their orders weekly for delivery during the same week.
The Company’s raw materials are principally steel, resin, containerboard, old corrugated containers for recycling and
pulpwood.
There are approximately 12,250 employees of the Company at October 31, 2010.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Greif, Inc., all wholly-owned and majority-owned
subsidiaries, joint ventures managed by the Company including the joint venture relating to the Flexible Products and
Services segment and equity earnings (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in unconsolidated affiliates are accounted for using the
equity method.
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). Certain prior year and prior quarter amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation.
The Company’s fiscal year begins on November 1 and ends on October 31 of the following year. Any references to
the year 2010, 2009 or 2008, or to any quarter of those years, relates to the fiscal year ending in that year.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The most significant estimates
are related to the allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory reserves, expected useful lives assigned to properties,
plants and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets, restructuring reserves, environmental liabilities, pension
and postretirement benefits, income taxes, derivatives, net assets held for sale, self-insurance reserves and
contingencies. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair value.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade receivables represent amounts owed to the Company through its operating activities and are presented net of
allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts totaled $13.3 million and $12.5 million at
October 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable based
on a combination of factors. In circumstances where the Company is aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet
its financial obligations to the Company, the Company records a specific allowance for bad debts against amounts
due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount the Company reasonably believes will be collected. In
addition, the Company recognizes allowances for bad debts based on the length of time receivables are past due with
allowance percentages, based on its historical experiences, applied on a graduated scale relative to the age of the
receivable amounts. If circumstances such as higher than expected bad debt experience or an unexpected material
adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations to the Company were to occur, the
recoverability of amounts due to the Company could change by a material amount. Amounts deemed uncollectible
are written-off against an established allowance for doubtful accounts.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Major Customers

The Company maintains cash depository accounts with major banks throughout the world and invests in high quality
short-term liquid instruments. Such investments are made only in instruments issued or enhanced by high quality
institutions. These investments mature within three months and the Company has not incurred any related losses.
Trade receivables can be potentially exposed to a concentration of credit risk with customers or in particular
industries. Such credit risk is considered by management to be limited due to the Company’s many customers, none
of which are considered principal in the total operations of the Company, and its geographic scope of operations in a
variety of industries throughout the world. The Company does not have an individual customer that exceeds
10 percent of total revenue. In addition, the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial
conditions and maintains reserves for credit losses. Such losses historically have been within management’s
expectations.

Inventories

On November 1, 2009, the Company elected to adopt the FIFO method of inventory valuation for all locations,
whereas in all prior years inventory for certain U.S. locations was valued using the LIFO method. The Company
believes that the FIFO method of inventory valuation is preferable because (i) the change conforms to a single
method of accounting for all of the Company’s inventories on a U.S. and global basis, (ii) the change simplifies
financial disclosures, (iii) financial statement comparability and analysis for investors and analysts is improved, and
(iv) the majority of the Company’s key competitors use FIFO. The comparative consolidated financial statements of
prior periods presented have been adjusted to apply the new accounting method retrospectively.

Inventory Reserves

Reserves for slow moving and obsolete inventories are provided based on historical experience, inventory aging and
product demand. The Company continuously evaluates the adequacy of these reserves and makes adjustments to
these reserves as required. The Company also evaluates reserves for losses under firm purchase commitments for
goods or inventories.

Net Assets Held for Sale

Net assets held for sale represent land, buildings and land improvements for locations that have met the criteria of
“held for sale” accounting, as specified by Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360, “Property, Plant, and
Equipment”. As of October 31, 2010, there were sixteen locations held for sale (twelve in the Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services segment and four in the Paper Packaging segment). In 2010, the Company recorded net sales
of $91.2 million and net loss before taxes of $1.3 million associated with these properties, primarily related to the
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment. For 2009, the Company recorded net sales of $5.5 million and net
loss before taxes of $3.9 million associated with held for sale properties, primarily related to the Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services segment. The effect of suspending depreciation on the facilities held for sale is immaterial to
the results of operations. The properties classified within net assets held for sale have been listed for sale and it is the
Company’s intention to complete these sales within the upcoming year.
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Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price of an acquired entity over the amounts assigned to tangible and
intangible assets and liabilities assumed in the business combination. The Company accounts for purchased goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other”. Under
ASC 350, purchased goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for
impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives, primarily customer relationships, patents and
trademarks, continue to be amortized over their useful lives. The Company tests for impairment during the fourth
quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if certain indicators are present or changes in circumstances suggest
that impairment may exist.
ASC 350 requires that testing for goodwill impairment be conducted at the reporting unit level using a two-step
approach. The first step requires a comparison of the carrying value of the reporting units to the estimated fair value
of these units. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, the Company performs the
second step of the goodwill impairment to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the
goodwill impairment test compares the estimated implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill to its carrying
value. The Company allocates the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities in that
reporting unit, including intangible assets, as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. Any
excess of the estimated fair value of a reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities is the
implied fair value of goodwill.
The Company’s determination of estimated fair value of the reporting units is based on a discounted cash flow
analysis utilizing a multiple of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). The
discount rates used for impairment testing are based on the risk-free rate plus an adjustment for risk factors and is
reflective of a typical market participant. The use of alternative estimates, peer groups or changes in the industry, or
adjusting the discount rate, or EBITDA forecasts used could affect the estimated fair value of the reporting units and
potentially result in goodwill impairment. Any identified impairment would result in an expense to the Company’s
results of operations. The Company performed its annual impairment test in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, which
resulted in no impairment charges. Refer to Note 6 for additional information regarding goodwill and other intangible
assets.
Acquisitions

From time to time, the Company acquires businesses and/or assets that augment and complement its operations, in
accordance with ASC 805, “Business Combinations.” These acquisitions are accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. The consolidated financial statements include the results of operations from these business
combinations as of the date of acquisition.
Beginning November 1, 2009, the Company classifies costs incurred in connection with acquisitions as acquisitionrelated costs. These costs consist primarily of transaction costs, integration costs and changes in the fair value of
contingent payments (earn-outs). Acquisition transaction costs are incurred during the initial evaluation of a potential
targeted acquisition and primarily relate to costs to analyze, negotiate and consummate the transaction as well as
financial and legal due diligence activities. Post acquisition integration activities are costs incurred to combine the
operations of an acquired enterprise into the Company’s operations.
Internal Use Software

Internal use software is accounted for under ASC 985, “Software”. Internal use software is software that is acquired,
internally developed or modified solely to meet the Company’s needs and for which, during the software’s
development or modification, a plan does not exist to market the software externally. Costs incurred to develop the
software during the application development stage and for upgrades and enhancements that provide additional
functionality are capitalized and then amortized over a three- to ten- year period.
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Properties, Plants and Equipment

Properties, plants and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation on properties, plants and equipment is provided on
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Years

Buildings
Machinery and equipment

30-45
3-19

Depreciation expense was $98.5 million, $88.6 million and $92.9 million, in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. When properties are retired or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the asset and related allowance
accounts. Gains or losses are credited or charged to income as incurred.
For 2010, the Company recorded a gain on disposal of properties, plants and equipment, net of $11.4 million,
primarily consisting of $3.3 million and $3.1 million pre-tax net gain on the sale of specific Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services segment assets and locations in Asia and North America, respectively, $2.3 million in net
gains from the sale of surplus and higher and better use (“HBU”) timber properties and other miscellaneous gains of
$2.7 million.
The Company capitalizes interest on long-term fixed asset projects using a rate that approximates the Company’s
weighted average cost of borrowing. At October 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had capitalized interest costs of
$5.3 million and $2.7 million, respectively.
The Company owns timber properties in the southeastern United States and in Canada. With respect to the
Company’s United States timber properties, which consisted of approximately 267,150 acres at October 31, 2010,
depletion expense on timber properties is computed on the basis of cost and the estimated recoverable timber.
Depletion expense was $2.6 million, $2.9 million and $4.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The
Company’s land costs are maintained by tract. The Company begins recording pre-merchantable timber costs at the
time the site is prepared for planting. Costs capitalized during the establishment period include site preparation by
aerial spray, costs of seedlings, planting costs, herbaceous weed control, woody release, labor and machinery use,
refrigeration rental and trucking for the seedlings. The Company does not capitalize interest costs in the process.
Property taxes are expensed as incurred. New road construction costs are capitalized as land improvements and
depreciated over 20 years. Road repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Costs after establishment of
the seedlings, including management costs, pre-commercial thinning costs and fertilization costs, are expensed as
incurred. Once the timber becomes merchantable, the cost is transferred from the pre-merchantable timber category
to the merchantable timber category in the depletion block.
Merchantable timber costs are maintained by five product classes, pine sawtimber, pine chip-n-saw, pine pulpwood,
hardwood sawtimber and hardwood pulpwood, within a depletion block, with each depletion block based upon a
geographic district or subdistrict. Currently, the Company has eight depletion blocks. These same depletion blocks
are used for pre-merchantable timber costs. Each year, the Company estimates the volume of the Company’s
merchantable timber for the five product classes by each depletion block. These estimates are based on the current
state in the growth cycle and not on quantities to be available in future years. The Company’s estimates do not
include costs to be incurred in the future. The Company then projects these volumes to the end of the year. Upon
acquisition of a new timberland tract, the Company records separate amounts for land, merchantable timber and premerchantable timber allocated as a percentage of the values being purchased. These acquisition volumes and costs
acquired during the year are added to the totals for each product class within the appropriate depletion block(s). The
total of the beginning, one-year growth and acquisition volumes are divided by the total undepleted historical cost to
arrive at a depletion rate, which is then used for the current year. As timber is sold, the Company multiplies the
volumes sold by the depletion rate for the current year to arrive at the depletion cost.
The Company’s Canadian timber properties, which consisted of approximately 24,700 acres at October 31, 2010, are
not actively managed at this time, and therefore, no depletion expense is recorded.
Equity Earnings (Losses) of Unconsolidated Affiliates and Non-Controlling Interests including Variable Interest Entities

The Company accounts for equity earnings (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates and non-controlling interests under
ASC 810, “Consolidation”. The objective of ASC 810 is to improve the relevance, comparability and transparency of
the financial
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information that a reporting entity provides in its consolidated financial statements. ASC 810 establishes accounting
and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
ASC 810 also changes the way the consolidated financial statements are presented, establishes a single method of
accounting for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation, requires
that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated and expands disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements that clearly identify and distinguish between the parent’s ownership interest and
the interest of the noncontrolling owners of a subsidiary. Refer to Note 16 for additional information regarding the
Company’s unconsolidated affiliates and non-controlling interests.
ASC 810 also provides a framework for identifying variable interest entities (“VIE’s”) and determining when a
company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests and results of operations of a VIE in its
consolidated financial statements. In general, a VIE is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or
any other legal structure used to conduct activities or hold assets that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity
to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated financial support, (2) has a group of equity owners
that are unable to make significant decisions about its activities or (3) has a group of equity owners that do not have
the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns generated by its operations. ASC 810 requires a VIE to
be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the VIE (a variable interest
holder) is obligated to absorb a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE’s activities, is entitled to receive a majority
of the VIE’s residual returns (if no party absorbs a majority of the VIE’s losses), or both.
On September 29, 2010, Greif, Inc. and its indirect subsidiary Greif International Holding Supra C.V. (“Greif
Supra”), a Netherlands limited partnership, completed a Joint Venture Agreement with Dabbagh Group Holding
Company Limited (“Dabbagh”), a Saudi Arabia corporation and National Scientific Company Limited (“NSC”), a
Saudi Arabia limited liability company and a subsidiary of Dabbagh, referred to herein as the Flexible Packaging JV.
The joint venture owns the operations in the Flexible Products & Services segment, with the exception of the North
American multi-wall bag business. Greif Supra and NSC have equal economic interests in the joint venture,
notwithstanding the actual ownership interests in the various legal entities. All investments, loans and capital
injections are shared 50% by the Greif and the Dabbagh entities. Greif has deemed this joint venture to be a VIE
based on the criteria outlined in Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 as revised in December
2003 (FIN 46(R))—Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, codified under ASC 810. Greif exercises
management control over this joint venture and is the primary beneficiary due to supply agreements and broader
packaging industry customer risks and rewards. Therefore, Greif has fully consolidated the operations of this joint
venture as of the formation date of September 29, 2010 and has reported Dabbagh’s share in the profits and losses in
this joint venture as from this date on the company’s income statement under net income attributable to noncontrolling interests. The majority of the fiscal 2010 increase in non-controlling interests pertains to the Flexible
Packaging JV.
The Company has consolidated the assets and liabilities of STA Timber LLC (“STA Timber”) in accordance with
ASC 810 which was involved in the transactions described in Note 8. Because STA Timber is a separate and distinct
legal entity from Greif, Inc. and its other subsidiaries, the assets of STA Timber are not available to satisfy the
liabilities and obligations of these entities and the liabilities of STA Timber are not liabilities or obligations of these
entities. The Company has also consolidated the assets and liabilities of the buyer-sponsored purpose entity described
in Note 8 (the “Buyer SPE”) involved in that transaction as a result of ASC 810. However, because the Buyer SPE is
a separate and distinct legal entity from Greif, Inc. and its other subsidiaries, the assets of the Buyer SPE are not
available to satisfy the liabilities and obligations of these entities and the liabilities of the Buyer SPE are not
liabilities or obligations of these entities.
Contingencies

Various lawsuits, claims and proceedings have been or may be instituted or asserted against the Company, including
those pertaining to environmental, product liability, and safety and health matters. While the amounts claimed may
be substantial, the ultimate liability cannot currently be determined because of the considerable uncertainties that
exist.
All lawsuits, claims and proceedings are considered by the Company in establishing reserves for contingencies in
accordance with ASC 450, “Contingencies”. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 450, the Company accrues
for a litigation-related liability when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. Based on currently available information known to the Company, the Company believes that
its reserves for these litigation-related liabilities are reasonable and that the ultimate outcome of any pending matters
is not likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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Environmental Cleanup Costs

The Company accounts for environmental clean up costs in accordance with ASC 450. The Company expenses
environmental expenditures related to existing conditions resulting from past or current operations and from which
no current or future benefit is discernable. Expenditures that extend the life of the related property or mitigate or
prevent future environmental contamination are capitalized. The Company determines its liability on a
site-by-site basis and records a liability at the time when it is probable and can be reasonably estimated. The
Company’s estimated liability is reduced to reflect the anticipated participation of other potentially responsible
parties in those instances where it is probable that such parties are legally responsible and financially capable of
paying their respective shares of the relevant costs.
Self-Insurance

The Company is self-insured for certain of the claims made under its employee medical and dental insurance
programs. The Company had recorded liabilities totaling $2.6 million and $4.0 million for estimated costs related to
outstanding claims at October 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These costs include an estimate for expected
settlements on pending claims, administrative fees and an estimate for claims incurred but not reported. These
estimates are based on management’s assessment of outstanding claims, historical analyses and current payment
trends. The Company recorded an estimate for the claims incurred but not reported using an estimated lag period
based upon historical information. This lag period assumption has been consistently applied for the periods
presented. If the lag period was hypothetically adjusted by a period equal to a half month, the impact on earnings
would be approximately $0.9 million. However, the Company believes the reserves recorded are adequate based
upon current facts and circumstances.
The Company has certain deductibles applied to various insurance policies including general liability, product, auto
and workers’ compensation. Deductible liabilities are insured through the Company’s captive insurance subsidiary,
which had recorded liabilities totaling $24.2 million and $21.5 million for anticipated costs related to general
liability, product, auto and workers’ compensation at October 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These costs include
an estimate for expected settlements on pending claims, defense costs and an estimate for claims incurred but not
reported. These estimates are based on the Company’s assessment of outstanding claims, historical analysis, actuarial
information and current payment trends.
Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under ASC 740, “Income Taxes”. In accordance with ASC 740, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as measured by enacted
tax rates that are expected to be in effect in the periods when the deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be
settled or realized. Valuation allowances are established where expected future taxable income does not support the
realization of the deferred tax assets.
The Company’s effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to
the Company in the various jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Significant judgment is required in
determining the Company’s effective tax rate and in evaluating its tax positions.
Tax benefits from uncertain tax position are recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the
technical merits. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than
50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement. The Company’s effective tax rate includes the impact of reserve
provisions and changes to reserves that it considers appropriate as well as related interest and penalties.
A number of years may elapse before a particular matter for which the Company has established a reserve is audited
and finally resolved. The number of years with open tax audits varies depending on the tax jurisdiction. While it is
often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular tax matter, the Company
believes that its reserves reflect the outcome of known tax contingencies. Unfavorable settlement of any particular
issue would require use of the Company’s cash. Favorable resolution would be recognized as a reduction to the
Company’s effective tax rate in the period of resolution.
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Restructuring Charges

The Company accounts for all exit or disposal activities in accordance with ASC 420, “Exit or Disposal Cost
Obligations”. Under ASC 420, a liability is measured at its fair value and recognized as incurred.
Employee-related costs primarily consist of one-time termination benefits provided to employees who have been
involuntarily terminated. A one-time benefit arrangement is an arrangement established by a plan of termination that
applies for a specified termination event or for a specified future period. A one-time benefit arrangement exists at the
date the plan of termination meets all of the following criteria and has been communicated to employees:
(1) Management, having the authority to approve the action, commits to a plan of termination.
(2) The plan identifies the number of employees to be terminated, their job classifications or functions and their
locations, and the expected completion date.
(3) The plan establishes the terms of the benefit arrangement, including the benefits that employees will receive upon
termination (including but not limited to cash payments), in sufficient detail to enable employees to determine the
type and amount of benefits they will receive if they are involuntarily terminated.
(4) Actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made
or that the plan will be withdrawn.
Facility exit and other costs consist of accelerated depreciation, equipment relocation costs, project consulting fees
and costs associated with restructuring the Company’s delivery of information technology infrastructure services. A
liability for other costs associated with an exit or disposal activity is recognized and measured at its fair value in the
period in which the liability is incurred (generally, when goods or services associated with the activity are received).
The liability is not recognized before it is incurred, even if the costs are incremental to other operating costs and will
be incurred as a direct result of a plan.
Pension and Postretirement Benefits

Under ASC 715, “Compensation—Retirement Benefits”, employers recognize the funded status of their defined
benefit pension and other postretirement plans on the consolidated balance sheet and record as a component of other
comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that have not been recognized
as components of the net periodic benefit cost.
Transfer and Service of Assets

Several indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of Greif, Inc. have each agreed to sell trade receivables meeting certain
eligibility requirements that it had purchased from other indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of Greif, Inc., under a
non-U.S. factoring agreement. The structure of the transactions provides for a legal true sale, on a revolving basis, of
the receivables transferred from the various Greif, Inc. subsidiaries to the respective financial institutions and their
affiliates. These institutions fund an initial purchase price of a certain percentage of eligible receivables based on a
formula with the initial purchase price approximating 75 percent to 90 percent of eligible receivables. The remaining
deferred purchase price is settled upon collection of the receivables. At the balance sheet reporting dates, the
Company removes from accounts receivable the amount of proceeds received from the initial purchase price since
they meet the applicable criteria of ASC 860, “Transfers and Servicing”. The receivables are sold on a non-recourse
basis with the total funds in the servicing collection accounts pledged to the banks between settlement dates.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense in accordance with ASC 718, “Compensation—Stock
Compensation”. ASC 718 requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense, based on estimated
fair values, for all share-based awards made to employees and directors, including stock options, restricted stock,
restricted stock units and participation in the Company’s employee stock purchase plan.
ASC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an optionpricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense in
the Company’s
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consolidated statements of income over the requisite service periods. No options were granted in 2010, 2009, or
2008. For any options granted in the future, compensation expense will be based on the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the standard. There was no share-based compensation expense recognized under the
standard for 2010, 2009 or 2008.
The Company uses the straight-line single option method of expensing stock options to recognize compensation
expense in its consolidated statements of income for all share-based awards. Because share-based compensation
expense is based on awards that are ultimately expected to vest, share-based compensation expense will be reduced
to account for estimated forfeitures. ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
Restricted Stock

Under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2005 Outside Directors Equity Award Plan, the Company
granted 134,721 and 14,480 shares of restricted stock with a weighted average grant date fair value of $54.88 and
$49.70, respectively, in 2010. The Company granted 243,107 and 16,568 shares of restricted stock with a weighted
average grant date fair value of $32.03 and $28.96, under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2005
Outside Directors Equity Award Plan, respectively, in 2009. All restricted stock awards are fully vested at the date of
award.
Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when title passes to customers or services have been rendered, with appropriate
provision for returns and allowances. Revenue is recognized in accordance with ASC 605, “Revenue Recognition”.
Timberland disposals, timber and special use property revenues are recognized when closings have occurred,
required down payments have been received, title and possession have been transferred to the buyer, and all other
criteria for sale and profit recognition have been satisfied.
The Company reports the sale of surplus and HBU property in our consolidated statements of income under “gain on
disposals of properties, plants and equipment, net” and reports the sale of development property under “net sales”
and “cost of products sold.” All HBU and development property, together with surplus property, is used by the
Company to productively grow and sell timber until sold.
Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

The Company includes shipping and handling fees and costs in cost of products sold.
Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net primarily represents non-United States trade receivables program fees, currency translation and
remeasurement gains and losses and other infrequent non-operating items.
Currency Translation

In accordance with ASC 830, “Foreign Currency Matters”, the assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign
currency are translated into United States dollars at the rate of exchange existing at year-end, and revenues and
expenses are translated at average exchange rates.
The cumulative translation adjustments, which represent the effects of translating assets and liabilities of the
Company’s international operations, are presented in the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity
in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The transaction gains and losses are credited or charged to
income. The amounts included in other income (expense) related to transaction gain and losses, net of tax were
$0.1 million, ($0.1) million and ($1.3) million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

In accordance with ASC 815, “Derivatives and Hedging”, the Company records all derivatives in the consolidated
balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value. Dependent on the designation of the derivative
instrument, changes in fair value are recorded to earnings or shareholders’ equity through other comprehensive
income (loss).
The Company uses interest rate swap agreements for cash flow hedging purposes. For derivative instruments that
hedge the exposure of variability in interest rates, designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the net
gain or loss on the derivative instrument is reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) and
reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.
Interest rate swap agreements that hedge against variability in interest rates effectively convert a portion of floating
rate debt to a fixed rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interest rate changes on future interest expense. The
Company uses the “variable cash flow method” for assessing the effectiveness of these swaps. The effectiveness of
these swaps is reviewed at least every quarter. Hedge ineffectiveness has not been material during any of the years
presented herein.
The Company enters into currency forward contracts to hedge certain currency transactions and short-term
intercompany loan balances with its international businesses. In addition, the Company uses cross-currency swaps to
hedge a portion of its net investment in its European subsidiaries. Such contracts limit the Company’s exposure to
both favorable and unfavorable currency fluctuations. These contracts are adjusted to reflect market value as of each
balance sheet date, with the resulting changes in fair value being recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
The Company uses derivative instruments to hedge a portion of its natural gas. These derivatives are designated as
cash flow hedges. The effective portion of the net gain or loss is reported as a component of other comprehensive
income (loss) and reclassified into earnings in the same period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.
Any derivative contract that is either not designated as a hedge, or is so designated but is ineffective, is adjusted to
market value and recognized in earnings immediately. If a cash flow or fair value hedge ceases to qualify for hedge
accounting, the contract would continue to be carried on the balance sheet at fair value until settled and future
adjustments to the contract’s fair value would be recognized in earnings immediately. If a forecasted transaction were
no longer probable to occur, amounts previously deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) would
be recognized immediately in earnings.
Fair Value

The Company uses ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” to account for fair value. ASC 820
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. Additionally, this standard established a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The three levels of inputs used to measure fair values are as follows:
•

Level 1 —Observable inputs such as unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and
liabilities.

•

Level 2 —Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. For
derivative instruments, the Company uses interest rates, LIBOR curves, commodity rates, and foreign
currency futures when assessing fair value.

•

Level 3 —Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the
fair value of the assets and liabilities.

Newly Adopted Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new guidance, which has been
codified within ASC 805, “Business Combinations”. The objective of the new provisions of ASC 805 is to improve
the relevance, representational faithfulness and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its
financial reports about a business combination and its effects. ASC 805 establishes principles and requirements for
how the acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the
business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase;
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and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and
financial effects of the business combination. ASC 805 applies to all transactions or other events in which an entity
(the acquirer) obtains control of one or more businesses (the acquiree), including those sometimes referred to as “true
mergers” or “mergers of equals” and combinations achieved without the transfer of consideration. ASC 805 applies
to any acquisition entered into on or after November 1, 2009. The Company adopted the new guidance beginning on
November 1, 2009, which impacted the Company’s financial position, results of operations, cash flows and related
disclosures.
In December 2007, the FASB amended ASC 810, “Consolidation”. The objective of the new amendment of ASC 810
is to improve the relevance, comparability and transparency of the financial information that a reporting entity
provides in its consolidated financial statements. ASC 810 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. ASC 810 also changes the way the
consolidated financial statements are presented, establishes a single method of accounting for changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation, requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss
in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated and expands disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
that clearly identify and distinguish between the parent’s ownership interest and the interest of the noncontrolling
owners of a subsidiary. The new provisions of ASC 810 are to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the
fiscal year in which the provision are adopted, except for the presentation and disclosure requirements, which are to
be applied retrospectively for all periods presented. The Company adopted the new guidance beginning November 1,
2009, and the adoption of the new guidance did not impact the Company’s financial position, results of operations or
cash flows, other than the related disclosures.
In December 2008, the FASB amended ASC 715, “Compensation—Retirement Benefits”, to provide guidance on
employers’ disclosures about assets of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. The new guidance
codified within ASC 715 requires employers to disclose information about fair value measurements of plan assets
similar to ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.” The objectives of the disclosures are to provide an
understanding of: (a) how investment allocation decisions are made, including the factors that are pertinent to an
understanding of investment policies and strategies, (b) the major categories of plan assets, (c) the inputs and
valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets, (d) the effect of fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs on changes in plan assets for the period and (e) significant concentrations of risk
within plan assets. The Company adopted the new guidance beginning November 1, 2009, and the adoption of the
new guidance did not impact the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows, other than the
related disclosures.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2009, the FASB amended ASC 860, “Transfers and Servicing”. The amendment to ASC 860 to improve the
information provided in financial statements concerning transfers of financial assets, including the effects of transfers
on financial position, financial performance and cash flows, and any continuing involvement of the transferor with
the transferred financial assets. The new provisions of ASC 860 are effective for the Company’s financial statements
for the fiscal year beginning November 1, 2010. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that
the adoption of the guidance may have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. However, the
Company does not anticipate a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.
In June 2009, the FASB amended ASC 810, “Consolidation”. The amendment to ASC 810 requires an enterprise to
perform an analysis to determine whether the enterprise’s variable interest or interests give it a controlling financial
interest in a variable interest entity. It also requires enhanced disclosures that will provide users of financial
statements with more transparent information about an enterprise’s involvement in a variable interest entity. The new
provisions of ASC 810 are effective for the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year beginning
November 1, 2010. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact, if any, that the adoption of ASC 810
may have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. However, the Company does not anticipate
a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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NOTE 2—ACQUISITIONS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS

The following table summarizes the Company’s acquisition activity in 2010 and 2009 (Dollars in thousands).
# of Purchase Price,
Acquisitions
Net of Cash

Total 2010 Acquisitions
Total 2009 Acquisitions

12 $
6 $

Revenue

Operating
Tangible Intangible
Profit Assets, Net
Assets

Goodwill

176,156 $268,443 $ 19,042 $ 122,899 $ 50,104 $127,311
88,005 $ 31,736 $ 4,389 $
7,075 $ 38,339 $ 45,412

Note: Purchase price, net of cash acquired, does not include payments for earn-out provisions on prior acquisitions. Revenue and operating profit
represent activity only in the year of acquisition. Goodwill in 2010 excludes an immaterial acquisition in our Land Management segment.

During 2010, the Company completed twelve acquisitions consisting of seven rigid industrial packaging companies
and five flexible products companies and made a contingent purchase price related to a 2008 acquisition. The seven
rigid industrial packaging companies consisted of a European company purchased in November 2009, an Asian
company purchased in June 2010, a North American drum reconditioning company purchased in July, a North
American drum reconditioning company purchased in August 2010, one European company purchased in August
2010, a 51 percent interest in a Middle Eastern company purchased in September 2010 and a South American
company purchased in September 2010. The five flexible products companies acquired conduct business throughout
Europe, Asia and North America and were acquired in February, June, August and September 2010. The aggregate
purchase price in the table above includes approximately $98.2 million received from the Flexible Packaging JV
partner relating to their investment in the Flexible Packaging JV and reimbursement of certain costs. The five flexible
products companies were contributed to a joint venture on September 29, 2010, which was accounted for in
accordance with ASC 810. Greif owns 50 percent of this joint venture but maintains management control. The rigid
industrial packaging acquisitions are expected to complement the Company’s existing product lines that together will
provide growth opportunities and economies of scale. The drum reconditioning, within our Rigid Industrial
Packaging acquisitions, and flexible products acquisitions expand the Company’s product and service offerings. The
estimated fair value of the net tangible assets acquired was $122.9 million. Identifiable intangible assets, with a
combined fair value of $50.1 million, including trade-names, customer relationships, and certain non-compete
agreements, have been recorded for these acquisitions. The excess of the purchase prices over the estimated fair
values of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired of $127.3 million was recorded as goodwill. Certain business
combinations that occurred at or near year end have been recorded with provisional estimates for fair value based on
management’s best estimate.
During 2010, we sold specific Paper Packaging segment assets and facilities in North America. The net gain from
these sales was immaterial.
During 2009, the Company completed six acquisitions consisting of two North American rigid industrial packaging
companies in February 2009, the acquisition of a North American rigid industrial packaging company in June 2009,
the acquisition of a rigid industrial packaging company in Asia in July 2009, the acquisition of a South American
rigid industrial packaging company in October 2009, and the acquisition of a 75 percent interest in a North American
paper packaging company in October 2009. These rigid industrial packaging and paper packaging acquisitions
complemented the Company’s existing product lines and provided growth opportunities and economies of scale.
These acquisitions, included in operating results from the acquisition dates, were accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting and, accordingly, the purchase prices were allocated to the assets purchased and liabilities
assumed based upon their estimated fair values at the dates of acquisition. The estimated fair values of the net
tangible assets acquired were $7.1 million. Identifiable intangible assets, with a combined fair value of $38.3 million,
including trade-names, customer relationships, and certain non-compete agreements, have been recorded for these
acquisitions. The excess of the purchase prices over the estimated fair values of the net tangible and intangible assets
acquired of $45.4 million was recorded as goodwill.
During 2009, the Company sold specific Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment assets and facilities in North
America. The net gain from these sales was $17.2 million and is included in gain on disposal of properties, plants,
and equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated statement of income.
Under previous accounting guidance applicable to acquisitions made prior to November 1, 2009, the Company
implemented a restructuring plan for one of the 2009 acquisitions above. The Company’s restructuring activities,
which were accounted for in
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accordance with Emerging Task Force Issue No. 95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase
Business Combination” (“EITF 95-3”), primarily included exit costs associated with the consolidation of facilities,
facility relocation, and the reduction of excess capacity. As of November 1, 2009, the accounting for EITF 95-3 was
superseded and not codified within ASC 805. In connection with these restructuring activities, as part of the cost of
the above acquisition, the Company established reserves, primarily for excess facilities, in the amount of
$1.7 million, of which $0.8 million remains in the restructuring reserve at October 31, 2010. This guidance is no
longer applicable to acquisitions made by the Company in 2010 and thereafter.
NOTE 3—SALE OF NON-UNITED STATES ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Pursuant to the terms of a Receivable Purchase Agreement (the “RPA”) between Greif Coordination Center BVBA,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Greif, Inc., and a major international bank, the seller agreed to sell trade
receivables meeting certain eligibility requirements that seller had purchased from other indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Greif, Inc., including Greif Belgium BVBA, Greif Germany GmbH, Greif Nederland BV, Greif
Packaging Belgium NV, Greif Spain SA, Greif Sweden AB, Greif Packaging Norway AS, Greif Packaging France,
SAS, Greif Packaging Spain SA, Greif Portugal Lda and Greif UK Ltd, under discounted receivables purchase
agreements and from Greif France SAS under a factoring agreement. This agreement is amended from time to time
to add additional Greif entities. In addition, Greif Italia S.P.A., also an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Greif,
Inc., entered into the Italian Receivables Purchase Agreement with the Italian branch of the major international bank
(the “Italian RPA”) agreeing to sell trade receivables that meet certain eligibility criteria to the Italian branch of the
major international bank. The Italian RPA is similar in structure and terms as the RPA. The maximum amount of
receivables that may be financed under the RPA and the Italian RPA is €115 million ($159.4 million) at October 31,
2010.
In October 2007, Greif Singapore Pte. Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Greif, Inc., entered into the
Singapore Receivable Purchase Agreement (the “Singapore RPA”) with a major international bank. The maximum
amount of aggregate receivables that may be sold under the Singapore RPA is 15.0 million Singapore Dollars
($11.5 million) at October 31, 2010.
In October 2008, Greif Embalagens Industrialis Do Brasil Ltda., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Greif, Inc.,
entered into agreements (the “Brazil Agreements”) with Brazilian banks. There is no maximum amount of aggregate
receivables that may be sold under the Brazil Agreements; however, the sale of individual receivables is subject to
approval by the banks.
In May 2009, Greif Malaysia Sdn Bhd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Greif, Inc., entered into the
Malaysian Receivables Purchase Agreement (the “Malaysian Agreement”) with Malaysian banks. The maximum
amount of the aggregate receivables that may be sold under the Malaysian Agreement is 15.0 million Malaysian
Ringgits ($4.8 million) at October 31, 2010.
The structure of these transactions provide for a legal true sale, on a revolving basis, of the receivables transferred
from the various Greif, Inc. subsidiaries to the respective banks. The bank funds an initial purchase price of a certain
percentage of eligible receivables based on a formula with the initial purchase price approximating 75 percent to
90 percent of eligible receivables. The remaining deferred purchase price is settled upon collection of the receivables.
At the balance sheet reporting dates, the Company removes from accounts receivable the amount of proceeds
received from the initial purchase price since they meet the applicable criteria of ASC 860, “Transfers and
Servicing”. The receivables are sold on a non-recourse basis with the total funds in the servicing collection accounts
pledged to the banks between settlement dates.
At October 31, 2010 and October 31, 2009, €117.6 million ($162.9 million) and €77.0 million ($114.0 million),
respectively, of accounts receivable were sold under the RPA and Italian RPA. At October 31, 2010 and October 31,
2009, 6.7 million Singapore Dollars ($5.4 million) and 5.6 million Singapore Dollars ($4.0 million), respectively, of
accounts receivable were sold under the Singapore RPA. At October 31, 2010 and October 31, 2009, 11.7 million
Brazilian Reais ($6.9 million) and 13.3 million Brazilian Reais ($7.6 million), respectively, of accounts receivable
were sold under the Brazil Agreements. At October 31, 2010 and October 31, 2009, 6.3 million Malaysian Ringgits
($2.0 million) and 6.3 million Malaysian Ringgits ($1.8 million), respectively, of accounts receivable were sold
under the Malaysian Agreements.
At the time the receivables are initially sold, the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
assets sold are included as a loss on sale in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Expenses, primarily related to the loss on sale of receivables, associated with the RPA and Italian RPA totaled
€2.9 million ($3.9 million), €3.7 million ($5.5 million) and €5.9 million ($7.9 million) for year ended October 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Expenses associated with the Singapore RPA totaled 0.4 million Singapore Dollars ($0.3 million), 0.3 million
Singapore Dollars ($0.2 million) and were insignificant for the year ended October 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
Expenses associated with the Brazil Agreements totaled 4.4 million Brazilian Reais ($2.5 million), 1.3 million
Brazilian Reais ($0.8 million) and were insignificant for the year ended October 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
Expenses associated with the Malaysian Agreements totaled 0.4 million Malaysian Ringgits ($0.1 million) and
0.2 million Malaysian Ringgits ($0.1 million) for the year ended October 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. There
were no expenses for the year ended October 31, 2008 as the Malaysian Agreement did not commence until
May 2009.
Additionally, the Company performs collections and administrative functions on the receivables sold similar to the
procedures it uses for collecting all of its receivables, including receivables that are not sold under the RPA, the
Italian RPA, the Singapore RPA, the Brazil Agreements, and the Malaysian Agreements. The servicing liability for
these receivables is not material to the consolidated financial statements.
NOTE 4—INVENTORIES

On November 1, 2009, the Company elected to adopt the FIFO method of inventory valuation for all locations,
whereas in all prior years inventory for certain U.S. locations was valued using the LIFO method. The Company
believes that the FIFO method of inventory valuation is preferable because (i) the change conforms to a single
method of accounting for all of the Company’s inventories on a U.S. and global basis, (ii) the change simplifies
financial disclosures, (iii) financial statement comparability and analysis for investors and analysts is improved, and
(iv) the majority of the Company’s key competitors use FIFO. The comparative consolidated financial statements of
prior periods presented have been adjusted to apply the new accounting method retrospectively. The change in
accounting principle is reported through retrospective application as described in ASC 250, “Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections.”
The following consolidated statement of operations line items for the years ending October 31, 2009 and October 31,
2008 were affected by the change in accounting principle (Dollars in thousands):
For the Year Ended October 31, 2009
As Originally
Reported

Cost of
products
sold
Gross profit
Operating profit
Income tax
expense
Net income
attributable
to Greif, Inc.

Adjustments

For the Year Ended October 31, 2008

As Adjusted

As Originally
Reported

Adjustments

$(12,025)
12,025
12,025

As Adjusted

$2,257,141
535,076
235,329

$ 35,432
(35,432)
(35,432)

$2,292,573
499,644
199,897

$3,097,760
692,771
370,286

$3,085,735
704,796
382,311

37,706

(13,645)

24,061

73,610

4,631

78,241

$ 132,433

$(21,787)

$ 110,646

$ 234,354

$ 7,394

$ 241,748

The following consolidated balance sheet line items at October 31, 2009 were affected by the change in accounting
principle (Dollars in thousands):
As Originally
Reported

Adjustments

As Adjusted

Inventory
Total assets

$ 227,432
$ 2,812,510

$
$

11,419
11,419

$ 238,851
$ 2,823,929

Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities

$ 156,755
$ 1,712,940

$
$

4,397
4,397

$ 161,152
$ 1,717,337

Retained earnings
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$ 1,199,592
$ 2,812,510

$
$

7,022
11,419

$ 1,206,614
$ 2,823,929
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The inventories are comprised as follows at October 31 for the year indicated (Dollars in thousands):
Finished goods
Raw materials and work-in process

2010

2009

$ 92,469
304,103
$396,572

$ 57,304
181,547
$238,851

NOTE 5—NET ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Net assets held for sale represent land, buildings and land improvements for locations that have met the criteria of
“held for sale” accounting, as specified by ASC 360, “Property, Plant, and Equipment”. As of October 31, 2010 and
October 31, 2009, there were sixteen and nineteen facilities held for sale, respectively. The net assets held for sale are
being marketed for sale and it is the Company’s intention to complete the facility sales within the upcoming year.
NOTE 6—GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company reviews goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment as required by ASC 350,
“Intangibles—Goodwill and Other”, either annually or when events and circumstances indicate an impairment may
have occurred. The Company’s business segments have been identified as reporting units, which contain goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangibles that are assessed for impairment. A reporting unit is the operating segment, or a
business one level below that operating segment (the component level) if discrete financial information is prepared
and regularly reviewed by segment management. However, components are aggregated as a single reporting unit if
they have similar economic characteristics. The Company has concluded that no impairment exists at this time. The
following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the year ended
October 31, 2010 and 2009 (Dollars in thousands):
Rigid Industrial
Packaging Flexible Products
Paper
Land
& Services
& Services Packaging Management

Balance at October 31, 2008
Goodwill acquired
Goodwill adjustments
Currency translation
Balance at October 31, 2009
Goodwill acquired
Goodwill adjustments
Currency translation
Balance at October 31, 2010

$

$

$

480,312 $
20,658
10,634
19,113
530,717 $
51,655
(6,316)
(5,395)
570,661 $

— $ 32,661 $
—
29,250
—
(511)
—
—
— $ 61,400 $
75,656
—
—
(747)
2,605
—
78,261 $ 60,653 $

Total

— $512,973
—
49,908
—
10,123
—
19,113
— $592,117
150 127,461
—
(7,063)
—
(2,790)
150 $709,725

The 2010 goodwill acquired during 2010 of $127.5 million consisted of preliminary goodwill related to acquisitions
in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services and Flexible Products & Services segments.
The 2009 goodwill acquired included $20.7 million of goodwill related to the acquisition of industrial packaging
companies in North America, South America, and Asia, and $29.2 million related to an acquisition of a 75 percent
interest in a paper packaging company in North America. The goodwill adjustments represented a net increase in
goodwill of $10.1 million primarily related to finalization of the purchase price allocations of prior year acquisitions.
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The details of other intangible assets by class as of October 31, 2010 and October 31, 2009 are as follows (Dollars in
thousands):
Gross
Intangible Accumulated
Assets Amortization

Net Intangible
Assets

October 31, 2010:
Trademarks and patents
Non-compete agreements
Customer relationships
Other
Total

$ 42,878 $
20,456
153,131
15,235
$231,700 $

17,184 $
7,774
27,091
6,412
58,461 $

25,694
12,682
126,040
8,823
173,239

October 31, 2009:
Trademarks and patents
Non-compete agreements
Customer relationships
Other
Total

$ 35,081 $
18,842
110,298
11,018
$175,239 $

15,457 $
6,143
17,190
5,079
43,869 $

19,624
12,699
93,108
5,939
131,370

Gross intangible assets increased by $56.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2010. The increase in gross
intangible assets consisted of $6.8 million in final purchase price allocations related to the 2009 acquisitions in the
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services and Paper Packaging segments, $50.2 million in purchase price allocations
related to 2010 acquisitions in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services and Flexible Products & Services segments
and a $0.5 million decrease due to currency fluctuations related to the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services and to
the Flexible Products & Services segment. Amortization expense was $14.4 million, $11.0 million and $9.2 million
for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Amortization expense for the next five years is expected to be $21.7 million
in 2011, $21.4 million in 2012, $17.6 million in 2013, $15.3 million in 2014 and $14.6 million in 2015.
All intangible assets for the periods presented are subject to amortization and are being amortized using the straightline method over periods that range from three to 23 years, except for $12.4 million related to the Tri-Sure trademark
and the trade names related to Blagden Express, Closed-loop, and Box Board, all of which have indefinite lives.
NOTE 7—RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

The focus for restructuring activities in 2010 was on integration of recent acquisitions in the Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services and Flexible Products & Services segments. During 2010, the Company recorded restructuring
charges of $26.7 million, consisting of $13.7 million in employee separation costs, $2.9 million in asset impairments,
$2.4 million in professional fees and $7.7 million in other restructuring costs, primarily consisting of facility
consolidation and lease termination costs. In addition, the Company recorded $0.1 million in restructuring-related
inventory charges in cost of products sold. Seven plants in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment, one
plant in the Flexible Products & Services segment and two plants in the Paper Packaging segment were closed. There
were a total of 232 employees severed throughout 2010 as part of the Company’s restructuring efforts.
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For each relevant business segment, costs incurred in 2010 are as follows (Dollars in thousands):
Amounts
Amounts
Expected to be Incurred in
Incurred
2010

Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services :
Employee separation costs
Asset impairments
Professional fees
Inventory adjustments
Other restructuring costs

$

Amounts
Remaining
to be
Incurred

13,003 $ 10,673 $ 2,330
1,392
1,392
—
4,815
2,370
2,445
131
131
—
14,030
6,545
7,485
33,371
21,111
12,260

Flexible Products & Services :
Employee separation costs
Other restructuring costs

511
246
757

Paper Packaging :
Employee separation costs
Asset impairments
Other restructuring costs

378
246
624

133
—
133

2,815
2,692
123
1,524
1,524
—
2,419
926
1,493
6,758
5,142
1,616
40,886 $ 26,877 $ 14,009

$

The total amounts expected to be incurred above, some of which have been accrued and may or may not have been
paid in the current year, are from open restructuring plans which are anticipated to be realized in 2011. Following is a
reconciliation of the beginning and ending restructuring reserve balances for the years ended October 31, 2010 and
2009 (Dollars in thousands):
Cash Charges
Employee
Separation
Costs Other Costs

Balance at October 31, 2008, net
$ 14,413 $
Costs incurred and charged to expense
28,408
Reserves established in the purchase price of business combinations
971
Costs paid or otherwise settled
(34,553)
Balance at October 31, 2009
$ 9,239 $
Costs incurred and charged to expense
Costs paid or otherwise settled
Balance at October 31, 2010

13,743
(10,314)
$ 12,668 $

Non-Cash Charges
Asset
Inventory
Impairments Write-down

734 $
18,586
2,971
(16,215)
6,076 $
10,086
(8,592)
7,570 $

Total

— $
— $ 15,147
19,596
10,772
77,362
3,771
—
7,713
(23,367)
(10,772) (84,907)
— $
— $ 15,315
2,916
(2,916)
— $

131
26,876
(131) (21,953)
— $ 20,238

The focus for restructuring activities in 2009 was on business realignment to address the adverse impact resulting
from the global economic downturn and further implementation of the Greif Business System and specific
contingency actions. During 2009, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $66.6 million, consisting of
$28.4 million in employee separation costs, $19.6 million in asset impairments, $0.3 million in professional fees, and
$18.3 million in other restructuring costs, primarily consisting of facility consolidation and lease termination costs. In
addition, the Company recorded $10.8 million in restructuring-related inventory charges in costs of products sold.
Nineteen plants in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment were closed. There were a total of
1,294 employees severed throughout 2009 as part of the Company’s

64

Table of Contents
restructuring efforts. Within the Paper Packaging segment, the Company recorded a reversal of severance expense in
the amount of $2.1 million related to the actual costs being less as a result of fewer employees being severed in
connection with the sale of assets and closure of operations.
The focus for restructuring activities in 2008 was on the integration of recent acquisitions in the Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services segment and on alignment to market focused strategy and on the integration of a recent
acquisition and closing of two facilities in the Paper Packaging segment. During 2008, the Company recorded
restructuring charges of $43.2 million, consisting of $20.6 million in employee separation costs, $12.3 million in
asset impairments, $0.4 million in professional fees, and $9.9 million in other restructuring costs, primarily
consisting of facility consolidation and lease termination costs. Six plants in the Rigid Industrial Packaging &
Services segment and four plants in the Paper Packaging segment were closed. The total number of employees
severed during 2008 was 630.
NOTE 8—SIGNIFICANT NONSTRATEGIC TIMBERLAND TRANSACTIONS AND CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST
ENTITIES

On March 28, 2005, Soterra LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary) entered into two real estate purchase and sale
agreements with Plum Creek Timberlands, L.P. (“Plum Creek”) to sell approximately 56,000 acres of timberland and
related assets located primarily in Florida for an aggregate sales price of approximately $90 million, subject to
closing adjustments. In connection with the closing of one of these agreements, Soterra LLC sold approximately
35,000 acres of timberland and associated assets in Florida, Georgia and Alabama for $51.0 million, resulting in a
pretax gain of $42.1 million, on May 23, 2005. The purchase price was paid in the form of cash and a $50.9 million
purchase note payable by an indirect subsidiary of Plum Creek (the “Purchase Note”). Soterra LLC contributed the
Purchase Note to STA Timber LLC (“STA Timber”), one of the Company’s indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. The
Purchase Note is secured by a Deed of Guarantee issued by Bank of America, N.A., London Branch, in an amount
not to exceed $52.3 million (the “Deed of Guarantee”), as a guarantee of the due and punctual payment of principal
and interest on the Purchase Note.
The Company completed the second phase of these transactions in the first quarter of 2006. In this phase, the
Company sold 15,300 acres of timberland holdings in Florida for $29.3 million in cash, resulting in a pre-tax gain of
$27.4 million. The final phase of this transaction, approximately 5,700 acres sold for $9.7 million, occurred on
April 28, 2006 and the Company recognized additional timberland gains in its consolidated statements of operations
in the periods that these transactions occurred resulting in a pre-tax gain of $9.0 million.
On May 31, 2005, STA Timber issued in a private placement its 5.20% Senior Secured Notes due August 5, 2020
(the “Monetization Notes”) in the principal amount of $43.3 million. In connection with the sale of the Monetization
Notes, STA Timber entered into note purchase agreements with the purchasers of the Monetization Notes (the “Note
Purchase Agreements”) and related documentation. The Monetization Notes are secured by a pledge of the Purchase
Note and the Deed of Guarantee. The Monetization Notes may be accelerated in the event of a default in payment or
a breach of the other obligations set forth therein or in the Note Purchase Agreements or related documents, subject
in certain cases to any applicable cure periods, or upon the occurrence of certain insolvency or bankruptcy related
events. The Monetization Notes are subject to a mechanism that may cause them, subject to certain conditions, to be
extended to November 5, 2020. The proceeds from the sale of the Monetization Notes were primarily used for the
repayment of indebtedness.
In addition, Greif, Inc. and its other subsidiaries have not extended any form of guaranty of the principal or interest
on the Monetization Notes. Accordingly, Greif, Inc. and its other subsidiaries will not become directly or
contingently liable for the payment of the Monetization Notes at any time.
The Company has consolidated the assets and liabilities of the buyer-sponsored special purpose entity (the “Buyer
SPE”) involved in these transactions as the result of ASC 810. However, because the Buyer SPE is a separate and
distinct legal entity from the Company, the assets of the Buyer SPE are not available to satisfy the liabilities and
obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries and the liabilities of the Buyer SPE are not liabilities or obligations
of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Assets of the Buyer SPE at October 31, 2010 and 2009 consist of restricted bank financial instruments of
$50.9 million. STA Timber had long-term debt of $43.3 million as of October 31, 2010 and 2009. STA Timber is
exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by the issuer of the Deed of Guarantee. The
accompanying consolidated income statements for
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the years ended October 31, 2010 and 2009 include interest expense on STA Timber debt of $2.3 million for each
year and interest income on Buyer SPE investments of $2.4 million for each year.
NOTE 9—LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is summarized as follows (Dollars in thousands):
October 31,
2010

2010 Credit Agreement
2009 Credit Agreement
Senior Notes due 2017
Senior Notes due 2019
Trade accounts receivable credit facility
Other long-term debt

October 31,
2009

$ 273,700 $
—
—
192,494
303,396
300,000
242,306
241,729
135,000
—
11,187
4,385
965,589
738,608
(12,523)
(17,500)
$ 953,066 $ 721,108

Less current portion
Long-term debt
2010 Credit Agreement

On October 29, 2010, the Company obtained a $1.0 billion senior secured credit facility pursuant to an Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement with a syndicate of financial institutions (the “2010 Credit Agreement”). The 2010 Credit
Agreement provides for a $750 million revolving multicurrency credit facility and a $250 million term loan, both
expiring October 29, 2015, with an option to add $250 million to the facilities with the agreement of the lenders. The
$250 million term loan is scheduled to amortize by $3.1 million each quarter-end for the first eight quarters,
$6.3 million each quarter-end for the next eleven quarters and $156.3 million on the maturity date. The 2010 Credit
Agreement replaced our then existing credit agreement (the “2009 Credit Agreement”) that provided us with a
$500 million revolving multicurrency credit facility and a $200 million term loan, both expiring in February 2012.
The 2010 Credit Agreement is available to fund ongoing working capital and capital expenditure needs, for general
corporate purposes, to finance acquisitions and to refinance amounts outstanding under the 2009 Credit Agreement.
Interest is based on a Eurodollar rate or a base rate that resets periodically plus an agreed upon margin amount. As of
October 31, 2010, $273.7 million was outstanding under the 2010 Credit Agreement. The current portion of the 2010
Credit Agreement was $12.5 million and the long-term portion was $261.2 million. The weighted average interest
rate on the 2010 Credit Agreement was 3.67% for the year ended October 31, 2010 and at October 31, 2010.
The 2010 Credit Agreement contains financial covenants that require the Company to maintain a certain leverage
ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. At October 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.
Senior Notes due 2017

On February 9, 2007, the Company issued $300.0 million of 6.75% Senior Notes due February 1, 2017. Interest on
these Senior Notes is payable semi-annually. Proceeds from the issuance of these Senior Notes were principally used
to fund the purchase of previously outstanding 8.875% Senior Subordinated Notes in a tender offer and for general
corporate purposes.
The fair value of these Senior Notes due 2017 was $322.9 million at October 31, 2010 based upon quoted market
prices. The Indenture pursuant to which these Senior Notes were issued contains certain covenants. At October 31,
2010, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.
Senior Notes due 2019

On July 28, 2009, the Company issued $250.0 million of 7.75% Senior Notes due August 1, 2019. Interest on these
Senior Notes is payable semi-annually. Proceeds from the issuance of these Senior Notes were principally used for
general corporate
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purposes, including the repayment of amounts outstanding under the Company’s revolving multicurrency credit
facility, without any permanent reduction of the commitments.
The fair value of these Senior Notes due 2019 was $278.8 million at October 31, 2010 based upon quoted market
prices. The Indenture pursuant to which these Senior Notes were issued contains certain covenants. At October 31,
2010, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.
United States Trade Accounts Receivable Credit Facility

On December 8, 2008, the Company entered into a $135.0 million trade accounts receivable credit facility with a
financial institution and its affiliate, as purchasers, with a maturity date of December 8, 2013, subject to earlier
termination of the purchasers’ commitment on September 29, 2011, or such later date to which the purchase
commitment may be extended by agreement of the parties. The credit facility is secured by certain of the Company’s
trade accounts receivable in the United States and bears interest at a variable rate based on the applicable commercial
paper rate plus a margin or other agreed-upon rate (0.82% at October 31, 2010). In addition, the Company can
terminate the credit facility at any time upon five days prior written notice. A significant portion of the initial
proceeds from this credit facility was used to pay the obligations under the previous trade accounts receivable credit
facility, which was terminated. The remaining proceeds were and will be used to pay certain fees, costs and expenses
incurred in connection with the credit facility and for working capital and general corporate purposes. At October 31,
2010, there was $135.0 million outstanding under the Receivables Facility. The agreement for this receivables
financing facility contains financial covenants that require the Company to maintain a certain leverage ratio and a
fixed charge coverage ratio. At October 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.
Greif Receivables Funding LLC (“GRF”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company, has participated in the purchase
and transfer of receivables in connection with these credit facilities and is included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. However, because GRF is a separate and distinct legal entity from the Company and its other
subsidiaries, the assets of GRF are not available to satisfy the liabilities and obligations of the Company and its other
subsidiaries, and the liabilities of GRF are not the liabilities or obligations of the Company and its other subsidiaries.
This entity purchases and services the Company’s trade accounts receivable that are subject to these credit facilities.
Other

In addition to the amounts borrowed under the 2010 Credit Agreement and proceeds from these Senior Notes and the
United States Trade Accounts Receivable Credit Facility, at October 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding other
debt of $72.1 million, comprised of $11.2 million in long-term debt and $60.9 million in short-term borrowings,
compared to other debt outstanding of $24.0 million, comprised of $4.4 million in long-term debt and $19.6 million
in short-term borrowings, at October 31, 2009.
At October 31, 2010, the current portion of the Company’s long-term debt was $12.5 million. Annual maturities,
including the current portion, of long-term debt under the Company’s various financing arrangements were
$12.5 million in 2011, $23.7 million in 2012, $25.0 million in 2013, $160.0 million in 2014, $198.7 million in 2015
and $545.7 million thereafter. Cash paid for interest expense was $65.3 million, $48.0 million and $50.5 million in
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
At October 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had deferred financing fees and debt issuance costs of $21.4 million
and $14.9 million, respectively, which are included in other long-term assets.
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NOTE 10—FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the fair values adjustments for those assets and (liabilities) measured on a recurring
basis as of October 31, 2010 (Dollars in thousands):
Level 1

Interest rate derivatives

$

Foreign exchange hedges
Energy hedges
Total*

$

October 31, 2010
Level 2 Level 3

Total Level 1

October 31, 2009
Level 2 Level 3

— $(2,028) $

— $(2,028) $

— $(14,635) $

—

—

—

(1,497)

—
(288)
— $(3,813) $

(1,497)

—
(288)
— $(3,813) $

(2,283)

—
(727)
— $(17,645) $

Total

Balance Sheet
Location

Other long-term
— $(14,635) liabilities
Other current
—
(2,283) liabilities
Other current
—
(727) liabilities
— $(17,645)

* The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, accounts payable, current liabilities and short-term borrowings at
October 31, 2010 approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these items and are not included in this table.
Derivatives and Hedging Activity

The Company uses derivatives from time to time to partially mitigate the effect of exposure to interest rate
movements, exposure to currency fluctuations, and energy cost fluctuations. Under ASC 815, “Derivatives and
Hedging”, all derivatives are to be recognized as assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measured at fair value.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in either net income or in other comprehensive income,
depending on the designated purpose of the derivative.
While the Company may be exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties to its
derivative financial instrument contracts, its counterparties are established banks and financial institutions with high
credit ratings. The Company has no reason to believe that such counterparties will not be able to fully satisfy their
obligations under these contracts.
During the next 12 months, the Company expects to reclassify into earnings a net loss from accumulated other
comprehensive loss of approximately $3.7 million after tax at the time the underlying hedge transactions are realized.
Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swaps

The Company entered into a cross-currency interest rate swap agreement which was designated as a hedge of a net
investment in a foreign operation. Under this swap agreement, the Company received interest semi-annually from the
counterparties in an amount equal to a fixed rate of 6.75% on $200.0 million and paid interest in an amount equal to a
fixed rate of 6.25% on €146.6 million. During 2010, the Company terminated this swap agreement, including any
future cash flows. The termination of this swap agreement resulted in a cash benefit of $25.7 million ($15.8 million,
net of tax) which is included within foreign currency translation adjustments at October 31, 2010. At October 31,
2009, the Company had recorded an other comprehensive loss of $14.6 million as a result of the swap agreement.
Interest Rate Derivatives

The Company has interest rate swap agreements with various maturities through 2012. These interest rate swap
agreements are used to manage the Company’s fixed and floating rate debt mix. Under these agreements, the
Company receives interest monthly from the counterparties based upon a designated London Interbank Offered Rate
and pays interest based upon a designated fixed rate over the life of the swap agreements.
The Company has two interest rate derivatives (floating to fixed swap agreements recorded as cash flow hedges) with
a total notional amount of $125 million. Under these swap agreements, the Company receives interest based upon a
variable interest rate from the counterparties (weighted average of 0.26% at October 31, 2010 and 0.25% at
October 31, 2009) and pays interest based upon a fixed interest rate (weighted average of 1.78% at October 31, 2010
and 2.71% at October 31, 2009). The other comprehensive loss on these interest rate derivatives was $2.0 million and
$2.3 million at October 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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In the first quarter of 2010, the Company entered into a $100.0 million fixed to floating swap agreement which was
recorded as a fair value hedge. Under this swap agreement, the Company received interest from the counterparty
based upon a fixed rate of 6.75% and paid interest based upon a variable rate on a semi-annual basis. In the third
quarter of 2010, the Company terminated this swap agreement, including any future cash flows. The termination of
this swap agreement resulted in a cash benefit of $3.6 million ($2.2 million, net of tax) which is included within
long-term debt on the balance sheet.
Foreign Exchange Hedges

At October 31, 2010, the Company had outstanding foreign currency forward contracts in the notional amount of
$252.9 million ($70.5 million at October 31, 2009). The purpose of these contracts is to hedge the Company’s
exposure to foreign currency transactions and short-term intercompany loan balances in its international businesses.
The fair value of these contracts at October 31, 2010 resulted in a gain of $0.8 million recorded in the consolidated
statements of operations and a loss of $2.3 million recorded in other comprehensive income. The fair value of similar
contracts at October 31, 2009 resulted in an immaterial loss in the consolidated statements of operations.
Energy Hedges

The Company has entered into certain cash flow agreements to mitigate its exposure to cost fluctuations in natural
gas prices through October 31, 2011. Under these hedge agreements, the Company agrees to purchase natural gas at a
fixed price. At October 31, 2010, the notional amount of these hedges was $2.4 million ($4.0 million at October 31,
2009). The other comprehensive loss on these agreements was $0.3 million at October 31, 2010 and $0.6 million at
October 31, 2009. As a result of the high correlation between the hedged instruments and the underlying transactions,
ineffectiveness has not had a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the year
ended October 31, 2010.
Other Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values of the Company’s long-term debt were $1,021.5 million and $744.9 million compared to
the carrying amounts of $965.6 million and $738.6 million at October 31, 2010 and October 31, 2009, respectively.
The current portion of the long-term debt was $12.5 million and $17.5 million at October 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. The fair values of the Company’s long-term obligations are estimated based on either the quoted market
prices for the same or similar issues or the current interest rates offered for debt of the same remaining maturities.
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (Codified under ASC 820, “Fair
Value Measurements and Disclosures”). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value within GAPP and expands required disclosures about fair value measurements. In November 2007, the FASB
provided a one year deferral for the implementation of SFAS No. 157 for non financial assets and liabilities which is
applicable to the company in 2010.
Long-Lived Assets

As part of the Company’s restructuring plans following current and future acquisitions, the Company may shut down
manufacturing facilities during the next few years. The long-lived assets are considered level three inputs which were
valued based on bids received from third parties and using discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions that
the Company believes market participants would use. Key inputs included anticipated revenues, associated
manufacturing costs, capital expenditures and discount, growth and tax rates. The Company recorded restructuring
related expenses for the year ended October 31, 2010 of $2.9 million on long lived assets with net book values of
$4.6 million.
Net Assets Held for Sale

Net assets held for sale are considered level two inputs which include recent purchase offers, market comparables
and/or data obtained from commercial real estate brokers. As of October 31, 2010, the Company had not recognized
any impairments related to net assets held for sale.
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Goodwill

On an annual basis, the Company performs its impairment tests for goodwill as defined under ASC 350,
“Intangibles-Goodwill and Other”. As a result of this review during 2010, the Company concluded that no
impairment existed at that time.
NOTE
11—

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with ASC 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation”,
which requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an optionpricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as an expense in
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations over the requisite service periods. The Company uses the
straight-line single option method of expensing stock options to recognize compensation expense in its consolidated
statements of operations for all share-based awards. Because share-based compensation expense is based on awards
that are ultimately expected to vest, share-based compensation expense will be reduced to account for estimated
forfeitures. ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. No stock options were granted in 2010, 2009 or 2008. For
any options granted in the future, compensation expense will be based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of ASC 718.
In 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Management Equity Incentive and Compensation Plan (the “2001 Plan”).
The provisions of the 2001 Plan allow the awarding of incentive and nonqualified stock options and restricted and
performance shares of Class A Common Stock to key employees. The maximum number of shares that may be
issued each year is determined by a formula that takes into consideration the total number of shares outstanding and
is also subject to certain limits. In addition, the maximum number of incentive stock options that will be issued under
the 2001 Plan during its term is 5,000,000 shares.
Prior to 2001, the Company had adopted a Non-statutory Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”) that provides the
discretionary granting of non-statutory options to key employees, and an Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Option
Plan”) that provides the discretionary granting of incentive stock options to key employees and non-statutory options
for non-employees. The aggregate number of the Company’s Class A Common Stock options that may be granted
under the 2000 Plan and the Option Plan may not exceed 400,000 shares and 2,000,000 shares, respectively.
Under the terms of the 2001 Plan, the 2000 Plan and the Option Plan, stock options may be granted at exercise prices
equal to the market value of the common stock on the date options are granted and become fully vested two years
after date of grant. Options expire 10 years after date of grant.
In 2005, the Company adopted the 2005 Outside Directors Equity Award Plan (the “2005 Directors Plan”), which
provides for the granting of stock options, restricted stock or stock appreciation rights to directors who are not
employees of the Company. Prior to 2005, the Directors Stock Option Plan (the “Directors Plan”) provided for the
granting of stock options to directors who are not employees of the Company. The aggregate number of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock options, and in the case of the 2005 Directors Plan, restricted stock, that may be
granted may not exceed 200,000 shares under each of these plans. Under the terms of both plans, options are granted
at exercise prices equal to the market value of the common stock on the date options are granted and become
exercisable immediately. Options expire 10 years after date of grant.
Stock option activity for the years ended October 31 was as follows (Shares in thousands):
2010
2009
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercise
Exercise
Shares
Price Shares
Price

2008
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares
Price

Beginning balance
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised

643 $ 15.91
—
—
—
—
133
15.06

785 $ 16.01
—
—
1
13.10
141
16.50

1,072 $ 15.75
—
—
2
11.50
285
15.03

Ending balance

510 $ 16.14

643 $ 15.91

785 $ 16.01
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The Company’s results of operations include no share based compensation expense for stock options for 2010, 2009,
or 2008, respectively.
As of October 31, 2010, outstanding stock options had exercise prices and contractual lives as follows (Shares in
thousands):
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Number Contractual
Outstanding
Life

Range of Exercise Prices

$5-$15
$15-$25
$25-$35

266
232
12

2.3
2.3
4.3

All outstanding options were exercisable at October 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
NOTE 12—INCOME TAXES

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various U.S. state and local jurisdictions, and
various non-U.S. jurisdictions.
The provision for income taxes consists of the following (Dollars in thousands):
For the years ended October 31,

Current
Federal
State and local
non-U.S.
Deferred
Federal
State and local
non-U.S.

2010

2009 (1)

2008 (1)

$15,222
5,892
14,861
35,975

$ 24,005
1,268
11,955
37,228

$34,369
3,589
31,167
69,125

(372)
(8,762)
2,802
653
2,062
380
4,315
(6,467)
5,934
4,596
(13,167 )
9,116
$40,571 $ 24,061 $78,241

(1) Amounts presented in 2009 and 2008 reflect the change in accounting principle from using a combination of the LIFO and FIFO inventory
accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of our businesses effective November 1, 2009.

Non-U.S. income before income tax expense was $159.7 million, $63.3 million and $213.7 million in 2010, 2009,
and 2008, respectively.
The following is a reconciliation of the provision for income taxes based on the federal statutory rate to the
Company’s effective income tax rate:
For the years ended October 31,

2010

United States federal tax rate
Non-U.S. tax rates
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit
United States tax credits
Other non-recurring items

2009 (1)

35.00% 35.00%
(14.50)% (12.00)%
1.30%
1.90%
(3.90)% (4.40)%
(1.80)% (3.10)%
16.10% 17.40%

2008 (1)

35.00%
(8.30)%
1.20%
(0.90)%
(2.90)%
24.10%

(1) Amounts presented in 2009 and 2008 reflect the change in accounting principle from using a combination of the LIFO and FIFO inventory
accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of our businesses effective November 1, 2009.

71

Table of Contents
The United States tax credits in 2010 and 2009 primarily relate to an alternative tax fuel credit for the production of
cellulosic bio-fuel.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at October 31 for the years indicated
were as follows (Dollars in thousands):
2010

Deferred Tax Assets
Net operating loss carryforwards
Minimum pension liabilities
Insurance operations
Incentives
Environmental reserves
State income tax
Postretirement
Other
Derivatives instruments
Interest
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Restructuring reserves
Deferred compensation
Foreign tax credits
Vacation accruals
Stock options
Severance
Workers compensation accruals
Total Deferred Tax Assets
Valuation allowance
Net Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Properties, plants and equipment
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Inventories
Timberland transactions
Pension
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities
Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liability)

2009 (1)

$ 117,850 $ 136,528
46,064
45,360
13,659
12,898
8,605
11,345
7,619
9,322
8,026
9,482
6,963
7,227
8,829
6,928
832
6,132
4,606
3,190
2,496
3,093
3,558
2,975
3,098
2,367
1,602
1,806
1,186
1,345
1,820
1,341
372
614
295
608
237,480
262,561
(64,568 )
(80,702)
172,912
181,859
106,544
101,655
83,690
79,410
5,117
8,912
95,355
95,497
18,275
12,039
308,981
297,513
$(136,069) $(115,654)

(1) Amounts presented in 2009 and 2008 reflect the change in accounting principle from using a combination of the LIFO and FIFO inventory
accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of our businesses effective November 1, 2009.

At October 31, 2010, the Company had tax benefits from non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$116.0 million and approximately $1.8 million of state net operating loss carryfowards. A majority of the
non-U.S. net operating losses will begin expiring in 2012. At October 31, 2010, valuation allowances of
approximately $62.9 million have been provided against the tax benefits from non-U.S. net operating loss
carryforwards.
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At October 31, 2010, the Company had undistributed earnings from certain non-U.S. subsidiaries that are intended to
be permanently reinvested in non-U.S. operations. Because these earnings are considered permanently reinvested, no
U.S. tax provision has been accrued related to the repatriation of these earnings. It is not practicable to determine the
additional tax, if any, which would result from the remittance of these amounts.
The recognition and measurement guidelines of ASC 740 was applied to all of the Company’s material income tax
positions as of the beginning of 2008, resulting in an increase in the Company’s tax liabilities of $7.0 million with a
corresponding decrease to beginning retained earnings for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting
principle.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
2010

Balance at November 1
Increases in tax provisions for prior years
Decreases in tax provisions for prior years
Increases in tax positions for current years
Settlements with taxing authorities
Lapse in statute of limitations
Currency translation
Balance at October 31

2009

2008

$45,459 $51,715 $60,476
66
3,335
2,295
(2,728)
(2,992)
(928)
1,517
2,951
378
(6,667)
—
(186)
—
(6,016)
(3,872)
(2,285)
(3,534)
(6,448)
$35,362 $45,459 $51,715

The 2010 settlements with taxing authorities referenced above primarily relate to a prior-year issue in a non-U.S.
taxing jurisdiction that was resolved during 2010 with a non-U.S. jurisdiction.
The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.
As of October 31, 2010 and October 31, 2009, the Company had $11.1 million and $10.5 million, respectively,
accrued for the payment of interest and penalties. For the year ended October 31, 2010, the Company recognized
expense of $0.4 million related to interest and penalties in the consolidated statement of income, which was recorded
as part of income tax expense. For the years ended October 31, 2009, and 2008 the Company recognized a benefit of
$3.7 million and an expense of $1.3 million related to interest and penalties in the consolidated statement of income,
which was recorded as a reduction of income tax expense, respectively.
The Company has estimated the reasonably possible expected net change in unrecognized tax benefits through
October 31, 2010 based on lapses of the applicable statutes of limitations of unrecognized tax benefits. The estimated
net decrease in unrecognized tax benefits for the next 12 months ranges from $0 to $0.8 million. Actual results may
differ materially from this estimate.
The Company paid income taxes of $29.3 million, $58.9 million and $57.3 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008,
respectively.
NOTE 13—RETIREMENT PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH CARE AND LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS

Retirement Plans

The Company has certain non-contributory defined benefit pension plans in the United States, Canada, Germany, the
Netherlands, South Africa and the United Kingdom. The Company uses a measurement date of October 31 for fair
value purposes for its pension plans. The salaried plans’ benefits are based primarily on years of service and
earnings. The hourly plans’ benefits are based primarily upon years of service. The Company contributes an amount
that is not less than the minimum funding or more than the maximum tax-deductible amount to these plans. The
plans’ assets consist of large cap, small cap and international equity securities, fixed income investments and not
more than the allowable number of shares of the Company’s common stock, which was 247,504 Class A shares and
160,710 Class B shares at October 31, 2010 and 2009. Other international represents the noncontributory defined
benefit pension plans in Canada, the Netherlands, and South Africa.
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The components of net periodic pension cost include the following (Dollars in thousands):
For the year ended October 31, 2010

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of transition net asset
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss
Net periodic pension cost

For the year ended October 31, 2009

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of transition net asset
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss
Curtailment, settlement and other
Net periodic pension cost

For the year ended October 31, 2008

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of transition net asset
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss
Curtailment, settlement and other
Net periodic pension cost

Other
Consolidated United States Germany United Kingdom International

$

$

12,670 $
29,213
(34,784 )
24
951
6,718
14,792 $

9,171 $
366 $
15,990
1,387
(18,097)
—
(48)
—
951
—
5,899
—
13,866 $ 1,753 $

2,326 $
6,958
(11,604)
—
—
524
(1,796) $

807
4,878
(5,083)
72
—
295
969

Other
Consolidated United States Germany United Kingdom International

$

$

10,224 $
31,440
(35,875 )
29
1,005
(1,209)
497
6,111 $

7,366 $
345 $
16,572
1,505
(17,593)
—
(48)
—
1,017
9
38
—
147
—
7,499 $ 1,859 $

1,838 $
6,792
(10,927)
—
—
(1,268)
350
(3,215) $

675
6,571
(7,355)
77
(21)
21
—
(32)

Other
Consolidated United States Germany United Kingdom International

$

$

74

11,932 $
28,410
(33,460 )
19
811
3,822
3,512
15,046 $

8,700 $
377 $
14,893
1,204
(17,650)
—
(48)
—
920
—
3,167
—
—
—
9,982 $ 1,581 $

2,008 $
7,290
(10,477)
—
—
450
—
(729) $

847
5,023
(5,333)
67
(109)
205
3,512
4,212
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The significant weighted average assumptions used in determining benefit obligations and net periodic pension costs
were as follows:
For the year ended October 31, 2010

Consolidated

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets(1)
Rate of compensation increase
For the year ended October 31, 2009
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets(1)
Rate of compensation increase
For the year ended October 31, 2008
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets(1)
Rate of compensation increase

United States

Germany

United Kingdom

Other
International

5.20%
7.50%
3.11%

5.50%
8.25%
3.00%

5.00%
0.00%
2.75%

5.25%
7.50%
4.00%

1.64%
2.29%
0.87%

5.20%
7.50%
3.11%

5.75%
8.25%
3.00%

6.00%
0.00%
2.75%

5.50%
7.50%
4.00%

2.28%
2.56%
1.15%

5.20%
7.50%
3.11%

7.00%
8.75%
4.00%

6.25%
0.00%
3.00%

6.25%
7.50%
4.35%

2.31%
1.92%
1.20%

(1) To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Company considered the historical returns and the future
expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio. This rate is gross of any investment
or administrative expenses.

The following table sets forth the plans’ change in benefit obligation, change in plan assets and amounts recognized
in the consolidated financial statements (Dollars in thousands):
For the year ended October 31, 2010

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participant contributions
Amendments
Actuarial loss
Foreign currency effect
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation at end of year
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Expenses paid
Plan participant contributions
Other
Foreign currency effects
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

Consolidated

$

$
$

$

75

USA Germany

United Kingdom

Other
International

541,791 $284,680 $ 25,287 $
12,670
9,171
366
29,213
15,990
1,387
500
—
—
1,351
1,397
—
34,275
10,734
4,393
(12,452)
—
(1,608)
(26,645) (12,517) (1,277)
580,703 $309,455 $ 28,548 $

133,669 $
2,326
6,958
312
—
1,694
(4,259)
(6,241)
134,459 $

98,155
807
4,878
188
(46)
17,454
(6,585)
(6,610)
108,241

463,158 $194,470 $
65,495
27,358
(46)
—
500
—
(625)
(625)
(11,816)
—
22,983
19,169
(24,921) (12,070)
514,728 $228,302 $

166,250 $
20,449
—
312
—
(5,291)
3,007
(6,241)
178,486 $

102,438
17,688
(46)
188
—
(6,525)
807
(6,610)
107,940

— $
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
— $
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For the year ended October 31, 2009

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participant contributions
Amendments
Actuarial loss
Foreign currency effect
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation at end of year
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Expenses paid
Plan participant contributions
Foreign currency effects
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

Consolidated

$

$
$

$

USA Germany

United Kingdom

Other
International

470,763 $237,797 $ 21,094 $
10,224
7,366
345
31,440
16,572
1,505
604
—
—
6,583
3,460
269
36,085
34,031
542
17,075
—
2,979
(30,983) (14,546) (1,447)
541,791 $284,680 $ 25,287 $

121,571 $
1,838
6,792
407
1,993
8,744
(34)
(7,642)
133,669

90,301
675
6,571
197
861
(7,232)
14,130
(7,348)
98,155

458,622 $208,954 $
(163) (14,454)
(856)
(792)
604
—
13,686
—
20,445
14,952
(29,180) (14,190)
463,158 $194,470 $

160,298 $
9,157
—
407
(156)
4,186
(7,642)
166,250 $

89,370
5,134
(64)
197
13,842
1,307
(7,348)
102,438

For the year ended October 31, 2010

Consolidated

Funded status
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized initial net obligation
Net amount recognized

$

USA

— $
—
—
—
—
—
—
— $

Germany United Kingdom

Other
International

$

(65,975) $ (81,153) $(28,548) $
125,520
104,697
4,872
6,239
6,239
—
494
(76)
—
66,278 $ 29,707 $(23,676) $

44,027 $
(3,609)
—
—
40,418

(301)
19,560
—
570
19,829

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist
of:
Prepaid benefit cost
$
Accrued benefit liability
Accumlated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized
$

48,815 $
— $
— $
(114,790)
(81,153) (28,548)
132,253
110,860
4,872
66,278 $ 29,707 $(23,676) $

44,027 $
—
(3,609)
40,418 $

4,788
(5,089)
20,130
19,829
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For the year ended October 31, 2009

Consolidated

Funded status
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized initial net obligation
Net amount recognized

$

USA

Other
International

Germany United Kingdom

32,581
4,206
—
—
36,787

$

$

(78,633) $ (90,210) $(25,287) $
130,065
109,122
506
5,169
5,169
—
581
(124)
—
57,182 $ 23,957 $(24,781) $

4,283
16,231
—
705
21,219

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist
of:
Prepaid benefit cost
$
Accrued benefit liability
Accumlated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized
$

41,953 $
— $
— $
(120,586)
(90,210) (25,287)
130,065
109,122
506
51,432 $ 18,912 $(24,781) $

32,581
—
4,206
36,787

$

9,372
(5,089)
16,231
20,514

$

Aggregated accumulated benefit obligations for all plans were $556.6 million and $510.2 million at October 31, 2010
and 2009, respectively. The $580.7 million projected benefit obligation consists of $309.5 million related to the
United States pension and $271.2 million related to the non-United States pensions. The $514.7 million fair value of
pension assets consists of $228.3 million related to the United States pension and $286.4 related to the
non-United States pensions. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan
assets for the pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $351.3 million,
$331.3 million and $236.5 million, respectively, as of October 31, 2010.
Pension plan contributions totaled $23.0 million, $15.9 million, and $18.7 million during 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Contributions during 2011 are expected to be approximately $29.7 million. The Company expects to
record an amortization loss of $8.4 million which is recorded in other comprehensive losses on the balance sheet.
The following table presents the fair value measurements for the pension assets as of October 31, 2010 (Dollars in
thousands):
Fair Value Measurement
Level 1
Level 2 Level 3

Asset Category

Equity securities
Debt securities
Other
Total

$154,190 $134,057 $
—
87,504
—
138,977
$154,190 $360,538 $

—
—
—
—

Total

$288,247
87,504
138,977
$514,728

The Company’s weighted average asset allocations at the measurement date and the target asset allocations by
category are as follows:
Asset Category

2010 Actual

Equity securities
Debt securities
Other
Total

56%
17%
27%
100%

Target

54%
19%
27%
100%

The investment policy reflects the long-term nature of the plans’ funding obligations. The assets are invested to
provide the opportunity for both income and growth of principal. This objective is pursued as a long-term goal
designed to provide required benefits for participants without undue risk. It is expected that this objective can be
achieved through a well-diversified asset portfolio. All equity investments are made within the guidelines of quality,
marketability and diversification mandated by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and other relevant
statutes. Investment managers are directed to maintain equity portfolios at a risk level approximately equivalent to
that of the specific benchmark established for that portfolio.
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Future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, during the next five years, and in the
aggregate for the five years thereafter, are as follows (Dollars in thousands):

Year

Expected
Benefit
Payments

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016-2020

$ 27,313
$ 29,486
$ 31,383
$ 31,875
$ 32,238
$181,662

The Company has several voluntary 401(k) savings plans that cover eligible employees. For certain plans, the
Company matches a percentage of each employee’s contribution up to a maximum percentage of base salary.
Company contributions to the 401(k) plans were $2.9 million in 2010, $1.7 million in 2009 and $3.3 million in 2008.
For 2009 and in response to the global economic slowdown, contributions by the Company for employees accruing
benefits in the 401(k) plans were suspended except for those participants not eligible to participate in the defined
benefit pension plan or where contractually prohibited. New employees will continue to receive the Company
contribution. For 2010, the Company began a new program that matched contributions by employees in certain plans.

Postretirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

The Company has certain postretirement health and life insurance benefit plans in the United States and
South Africa. The Company uses a measurement date of October 31 for its postretirement benefit plans.
In conjunction with a prior acquisition of the industrial containers business from Sonoco Products Company
(“Sonoco”) in 1998, the Company assumed an obligation to reimburse Sonoco for its actual costs incurred in
providing postretirement health care benefits to certain employees. Contributions by the Company are limited to an
aggregate annual payment of $1.4 million for eligible employees at the date of purchase. Further, the Company is
responsible for the cost of certain union hourly employees who were not eligible at the date of closing. The Company
intends to fund these benefits from its operations.
The components of net periodic cost for the postretirement benefits include the following (Dollars in thousands):
For the years ended October 31,

2010

Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)

$

2009

2008

19 $
21 $
23
1,565
1,896
1,880
(1,329) (1,308) (1,234)
(58)
(195)
(5)
$ 197 $ 414 $ 664
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The following table sets forth the plans’ change in benefit obligation, change in plan assets and amounts recognized
in the consolidated financial statements (Dollars in thousands):
October 31,
2010

October 31,
2009

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Benefit obligation adjustment due to measurement date change and other
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participants’ contributions
Actuarial loss
Foreign currency effect
Plan ammendments
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation at end of year

$

Funded status
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Unrecognized prior service credit
Net amount recognized

$ (21,555) $ (25,396)
(2,075)
(2,178)
(14,255)
(12,443)
$ (37,885) $ (40,017)

$

25,396 $
—
19
1,565
—
85
237
(3,215)
(2,532)
21,555 $

24,762
288
21
1,896
214
279
884
—
(2,948)
25,396

The accumulated postretirement health and life insurance benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the
international plan were $4.4 million and $0, respectively, as of October 31, 2010 compared to $4.2 million and $0,
respectively, as of October 31, 2009.
The measurements assume a discount rate of 5.5% in the United States and 8.25% in South Africa. The health care
cost trend rates on gross eligible charges are as follows:
Medical

Current trend rate
Ultimate trend rate
Year ultimate trend rate reached

7.9%
5.0%
2017

A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects (Dollars in
thousands):
1-Percentage-Point 1-Percentage-Point
Increase
Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation

$
$

101 $
755 $

(88)
(641)

Future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, during the next five years, and in the
aggregate for the five years thereafter, are as follows (Dollars in thousands):
Expected
Benefit
Payments

Year

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016-2020

$2,997
$2,223
$2,150
$2,043
$1,949
$8,402
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NOTE 14—CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Environmental Reserves

At October 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had recorded liabilities of $26.2 million and $33.4 million, respectively,
for estimated environmental remediation costs. The liabilities were recorded on an undiscounted basis and are
included in other long-term liabilities. At October 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had recorded environmental
liability reserves of $14.5 million and $17.9 million, respectively, for its blending facility in Chicago, Illinois;
$8.4 million and $10.9 million, respectively, for various European drum facilities acquired in November 2006; and
$1.9 million and $3.4 million, respectively, related to the Company’s facility in Lier, Belgium. These reserves are
principally based on environmental studies and cost estimates provided by third parties, but also take into account
management estimates.
The estimated liabilities are reduced to reflect the anticipated participation of other potentially responsible parties in
those instances where it is probable that such parties are legally responsible and financially capable of paying their
respective shares of relevant costs. For sites that involve formal actions subject to joint and several liability, these
actions have formal agreements in place to apportion the liability. The Company’s potential future obligations for
environmental contingencies related to facilities acquired in the 2001 Van Leer Industrial Packaging acquisition may,
under certain circumstances, be reduced by insurance coverage and seller cost sharing provisions. In connection with
that acquisition, the Company was issued a 10-year term insurance policy, which insures the Company against
environmental contingencies unidentified at the acquisition date, subject to a $50.0 million aggregate self-insured
retention. Liability for this first $50.0 million of unidentified environmental contingencies is shared 70 percent by the
seller and 30 percent by the Company if such contingency is identified within 10 years following the acquisition date.
The Company is liable for identified environmental contingencies at the acquisition date up to an aggregate
$10.0 million, and thereafter the liability is shared 70 percent by the Company and 30 percent by the seller. The
Company is currently considering whether to renew this policy.
The Company anticipates that cash expenditures in future periods for remediation costs at identified sites will be
made over an extended period of time. Given the inherent uncertainties in evaluating environmental exposures, actual
costs may vary from those estimated at October 31, 2010. The Company’s exposure to adverse developments with
respect to any individual site is not expected to be material. Although environmental remediation could have a
material effect on results of operations if a series of adverse developments occur in a particular quarter or year, the
Company believes that the chance of a series of adverse developments occurring in the same quarter or year is
remote. Future information and developments will require the Company to continually reassess the expected impact
of these environmental matters.

Litigation-related Liabilities

The Company had no recorded legal liabilities at October 31, 2010 and 2009. The prior period liability represents
asserted and unasserted litigation, claims and/or assessments at some of its manufacturing sites and other locations
where it believes the outcome of such matters will be unfavorable to the Company. These environmental liabilities
were not individually material. The Company only reserves for those unasserted claims that it believes are probable
of being asserted at some time in the future. The liabilities recorded are based upon an evaluation of currently
available facts with respect to each individual site, including the results of environmental studies and testing, and
considering existing technology, presently enacted laws and regulations, and prior experience in remediation of
contaminated sites. The Company initially provides for the estimated cost of environmental-related activities when
costs can be reasonably estimated. If the best estimate of costs can only be identified as a range and no specific
amount within that range can be determined more likely than any other amount within the range, the minimum of the
range is accrued.
NOTE 15—EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Company has two classes of common stock and, as such, applies the “two-class method” of computing earnings
per share (“EPS”) as prescribed in ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share”. In accordance with this guidance, earnings are
allocated first to Class A and Class B Common Stock to the extent that dividends are actually paid and the remainder
allocated assuming all of the earnings for the period have been distributed in the form of dividends.
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Class A Common Stock is entitled to cumulative dividends of one cent a share per year after which Class B Common
Stock is entitled to non-cumulative dividends up to a half-cent a share per year. Further distribution in any year must
be made in proportion of one cent a share for Class A Common Stock to one and a half cents a share for Class B
Common Stock. The Class A Common Stock has no voting rights unless four quarterly cumulative dividends upon
the Class A Common Stock are in arrears. The Class B Common Stock has full voting rights. There is no cumulative
voting for the election of directors.
The following table summarizes the Company’s Class A and Class B common and treasury shares at the specified
dates:
October 31, 2010:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
October 31, 2009:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

Authorized Shares

Issued Shares

Outstanding Shares

Treasury Shares

128,000,000
69,120,000

42,281,920
34,560,000

24,756,974
22,412,266

17,524,946
12,147,734

128,000,000
69,120,000

42,281,920
34,560,000

24,474,773
22,462,266

17,807,147
12,097,734

The following is a reconciliation of the shares used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share:
For the years ended October 31,

2010

2009

2008

Class A Common Stock:
Basic shares
Assumed conversion of stock options
Diluted shares

24,654,364
304,712
24,959,076

24,328,724
311,259
24,639,983

23,932,045
446,560
24,378,605

Class B Common Stock:
Basic and diluted shares

22,445,322

22,475,707

22,797,825

There were no stock options that were antidilutive for the years ended October 31, 2010, 2009, or 2008.
The Company calculates Class A EPS as follows: (i) multiply 40% times the average Class A shares outstanding,
then divide that amount by the product of 40% of the average Class A shares outstanding plus 60% of the average
Class B shares outstanding to get a percentage, (ii) undistributed net income divided by the average Class A shares
outstanding, (iii) multiply item (i) by item (ii), (iv) add item (iii) to the Class A cash dividend. Diluted shares are
factored into the Class A calculation.
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The Company calculates Class B EPS as follows: (i) multiply 60% times the average Class B shares outstanding,
then divide that amount by the product of 40% of the average Class A shares outstanding plus 60% of the average
Class B shares outstanding to get a percentage, (ii) undistributed net income divided by the average Class B shares
outstanding, (iii) multiply item (i) by item (ii), (iv) add item (iii) to the Class B cash dividend. Class B diluted EPS is
identical to Class B basic EPS.
(In millions except per share data)

2010

Numerator
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS —
Net income attributable to Greif
Cash dividends

2009

2008

$210.0 $110.6 $241.7
93.1
88.0
76.5

Undistributed net income attributable to Greif
Demonimator
Denominator for basic EPS —
Class A common stock
Class B common stock
Denominator for diluted EPS —
Class A common stock
Class B common stock
EPS Basic
Class A common stock
Class B common stock
EPS Diluted
Class A common stock
Class B common stock

$116.9 $ 22.6 $165.2
24.7
22.4

24.3
22.5

23.9
22.8

25.0
22.4

24.6
22.5

24.4
22.8

$ 3.60 $ 1.91 $ 4.16
$ 5.40 $ 2.86 $ 6.23
$ 3.58 $ 1.91 $ 4.11
$ 5.40 $ 2.86 $ 6.23

Dividends per Share

The Company pays quarterly dividends of varying amounts computed on the basis as described above. The annual
dividends paid for the last two years are as follows:
2010 Year Dividends per Share - Class A $1.60; Class B $2.39
2009 Year Dividends per Share - Class A $1.52; Class B $2.27

Common Stock Repurchases

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized the purchase of up to four million shares of Class A Common
Stock or Class B Common Stock or any combination of the foregoing. During 2010, the Company did not repurchase
any shares of Class A Common Stock, but did purchase 50,000 shares of Class B Common Stock. As of October 31,
2010, the Company had repurchased 2,883,272 shares, including 1,416,752 shares of Class A Common Stock and
1,466,520 shares of Class B Common Stock, under this program. The total cost of the shares repurchased from
November 1, 2007 through October 31, 2010 was approximately $27.3 million.
NOTE 16—EQUITY EARNINGS (LOSSES) OF UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES, NET OF TAX AND NET
INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Equity Earnings (Losses) of Unconsolidated Affiliates, Net of Tax

Equity earnings (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax represent investments in affiliates in which the
Company does not exercise control and has a 20 percent or more voting interest. Such investments in affiliates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. If the fair value of an investment in an affiliate is below its
carrying value and the difference is
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deemed to be other than temporary, the difference between the fair value and the carrying value is charged to
earnings. The Company has an equity interest in seven affiliates, and the equity earnings of these interests were
recorded in net income. Equity earnings (losses) of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax for 2010, 2009 and 2008 were
$3.5 million, ($0.4) million and $1.7 million, respectively. There were no dividends received from the Company’s
equity method affiliates for the year ended October 31, 2010. Dividends received from our equity method
subsidiaries were $0.5 million and $0.1 million for the years ending October 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

In addition, some subsidiaries of the Company are not wholly-owned, which means the Company owns a majority
interest in those subsidiaries, and other unrelated persons own the remaining portion. Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests reflect the portion of earnings or losses of operations of these subsidiaries that are owned by
persons otherwise unrelated to the Company. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests for the year ended
October 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $5.5 million, $3.2 million and $5.6 million, respectively, and were deducted
from net income to arrive at net income attributable to Greif, Inc.
NOTE 17—BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates in four business segments: Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services, Flexible Products &
Services, Paper Packaging, and Land Management.
Operations in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segment involve the production and sale of rigid industrial
packaging products, such as steel, fibre and plastic drums, rigid intermediate bulk containers, closure systems for
industrial packaging products, transit protection products, water bottles and reconditioned containers, and services,
such as container lifecycle management, blending, filling and other packaging services, logistics and warehousing.
Many of these products are manufactured and sold in over 50 countries throughout the world.
Operations in the Flexible Products & Services segment involve the production, global distribution and sale of
flexible intermediate bulk containers as well as industrial and consumer multiwall bag products, and related services
in the North America market. These products are manufactured in North America, Europe, the Middle East, and Asia
and sold throughout the world.
Operations in the Paper Packaging segment involve the production and sale of containerboard (both semi-chemical
and recycled), corrugated sheets, corrugated containers and related services. These products are manufactured and
sold in North America. Operations related to the Company’s industrial and consumer multiwall bag products have
been reclassified from this segment to the Flexible Products & Services segment.
Operations in the Land Management segment involve the management and sale of timber and special use properties
from approximately 267,150 acres of timber properties in the southeastern United States. The Company also owns
approximately 24,700 acres of timber properties in Canada, which are not actively managed at this time. In addition,
the Company sells, from time to time, timberland and special use land, which consists of surplus land, HBU land, and
development land.

83

Table of Contents
The following segment information is presented for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010,
except as to information relating to assets which is at October 31, 2010 and 2009 (Dollars in thousands):
2010

Net sales:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Service
Flexible Products & Services
Paper Packaging
Land Management
Total net sales

$2,587,854
233,119
624,092
16,472
$3,461,537

Operating profit:
Operating profit, before the impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related inventory
charges and acquisition-related costs:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Service
$ 291,066
Flexible Products & Services
18,761
Paper Packaging
60,640
Land Management
9,001
Total operating profit, before the impact of restructuring charges, restructuring-related
inventory charges and acquisition-related costs:
379,468
Restructuring charges:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Service
20,980
Flexible Products & Services
624
Paper Packaging
5,142
Land Management
—
Total restructuring charges
26,746
Restructuring-related inventory charges:
Rigid Industrial Packaging
131
Total inventory-related restructuring charges
131
Acquisition-related costs:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Service
7,672
Flexible Products & Services
19,504
Total acquisition-related costs
27,176
Timberland disposals, net
Land Management
—
Operating profit:
Rigid Industrial Packaging
262,283
Flexible Products & Services
(1,367)
Paper Packaging
55,498
Land Management
9,001
Total operating profit
$ 325,415
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2009 1
2008 1
(As Adjusted)

$2,266,890
43,975
460,712
20,640
$2,792,217

$3,074,834
52,604
644,298
18,795
$3,790,531

$ 210,908
$
8,588
35,526
22,237

$ 325,956
$
8,679
69,967
20,571

277,259

425,173

65,742
—
685
163
66,590

33,971
—
9,155
76
43,202

10,772
10,772

—
—

—
—
—

—

—

340

134,394
8,588
34,841
22,074
$ 199,897

291,985
8,679
60,812
20,835
$ 382,311

—
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2010

Assets:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Flexible Products & Services
Paper Packaging
Land Management

2009
2008
(As Adjusted) 1 (As Adjusted) 1

$2,058,165 $
353,715
435,555
274,352

Total segment
Corporate and other

3,121,787
376,658

Total assets

$3,498,445 $

Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services
Flexible Products & Services
Paper Packaging
Land Management

$

Total depreciation, depletion and amortization expense

1,783,821
15,296
402,787
254,856
2,456,760
367,169
2,823,929

79,050 $
4,937
29,204
2,783

73,212 $
794
25,517
3,104

73,730
1,137
27,172
4,339

$ 115,974 $

102,627 $

106,378

The following geographic information is presented for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010,
except as to asset information that is at October 31, 2010 and 2009 (Dollars in thousands):
Net Sales
North America
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Other
Total net sales

2010

2009

2008

$1,732,880
1,171,363
557,294
$3,461,537

$1,530,438
835,117
426,662
$2,792,217

$2,001,364
1,278,363
510,804
$3,790,531

2010

2009
(As Adjusted) 1

$1,895,475
1,012,131
590,839
$3,498,445

$1,826,840
601,841
395,248
$2,823,929

The following table presents total assets by geographic region (Dollars in thousands):

Assets:
North America
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Other
Total assets

(1) Amounts presented in 2009 and 2008 reflect the change in accounting principle from using a combination of the LIFO and FIFO inventory
accounting methods to the FIFO method for all of our businesses effective November 1, 2009 and the realignment of the multiwall bag
operations, previously included in the Paper Packaging segment, into the Flexible Products & Services segment.
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NOTE 18—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The quarterly results of operations for 2010 and 2009 are shown below (Dollars in thousands, except per share
amounts):
2010

January 31

Net sales
Gross profit
Net income (1)
Net income attributable to Greif, Inc. (1)
Earnings per share
Basic:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Diluted:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Earnings per share were calculated using the following number of
shares:
Basic:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Diluted:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Market price (Class A Common Stock):
High
Low
Close
Market price (Class B Common Stock):
High
Low
Close

$
$
$
$

709,682
137,712
26,231
24,819

April 30

July 31

October 31

$
$
$
$

836,580
168,516
44,832
42,634

$
$
$
$

921,333
191,039
67,759
65,975

$
$
$
$

993,942
206,395
76,635
76,557

$
$

0.43 $
0.63 $

0.73
1.10

$
$

1.13
1.70

$
$

1.31
1.97

$
$

0.43 $
0.63 $

0.73
1.10

$
$

1.12
1.70

$
$

1.30
1.97

24,545,131
22,462,266

24,637,648
22,462,266

24,687,006
22,444,488

24,747,669
22,412,266

24,907,553
22,462,266

25,008,915
22,462,266

24,999,901
22,444,488

25,078,601
22,412,266

$
$
$

59.31 $
48.36 $
48.36 $

61.02
46.01
59.18

$
$
$

60.84
50.00
59.63

$
$
$

61.31
54.90
58.74

$
$
$

53.42 $
45.20 $
48.59 $

57.80
45.62
57.00

$
$
$

57.75
47.00
57.35

$
$
$

58.99
52.87
58.00

(1) We recorded the following significant transactions during the fourth quarter of 2010: (i) restructuring charges of $6.2 million and
(ii) acquisition-related charges of $7.1 million. Refer to Form 10-Q filings, as previously filed with the SEC, for prior quarter significant
transactions or trends.
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2009

Net sales
Gross profit
Net income
Net income attributable to Greif, Inc.
Earnings per share
Basic:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Diluted:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Earnings per share were calculated
using the following number of
shares:
Basic:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Diluted:
Class A Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Market price (Class A Common
Stock):
High
Low
Close
Market price (Class B Common
Stock):
High
Low
Close

January 31
(As Adjusted) 2

April 30
(As Adjusted) 2

July 31
(As Adjusted) 2

October 31
(As Adjusted) 2

$
$
$
$

666,260
94,801
(1,818)
(2,272)

$
$
$
$

647,897
96,860
1,546
1,553

$
$
$
$

717,567
139,427
39,547
37,811

$
$
$
$

760,493
168,556
74,557
73,554

$
$

(0.03)
(0.06)

$
$

0.03
0.04

$
$

0.65
0.98

$
$

1.27
1.90

$
$

(0.03)
(0.06)

$
$

0.03
0.04

$
$

0.65
0.98

$
$

1.25
1.90

24,130,385
22,516,029

24,352,826
22,462,266

24,386,195
22,462,266

24,445,491
24,462,266

24,405,257
22,516,029

24,623,424
22,462,266

24,747,767
22,462,266

24,817,878
22,462,266

$
$
$

40.36
27.07
30.26

$
$
$

46.48
25.65
45.27

$
$
$

53.52
40.18
51.33

$
$
$

57.94
47.24
53.52

$
$
$

35.90
22.13
30.37

$
$
$

42.75
25.50
42.25

$
$
$

48.71
37.00
47.15

$
$
$

53.45
44.14
48.20

(2) In the first quarter of 2010, the Company changed from using a combination of FIFO and LIFO inventory accounting methods to the FIFO
method for all of its businesses. All amounts included herein have been presented on the FIFO basis.

Shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange where the symbols are GEF and GEF.B, respectively.
As of December 17, 2010, there were 437 stockholders of record of the Class A Common Stock and 98 stockholders
of record of the Class B Common Stock.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and
Shareholders of
Greif, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2010
and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended October 31, 2010. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in
the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These consolidated financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries at October 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for
inventory in 2010 to the FIFO method of inventory valuation for all locations.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Greif, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated December 22, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Columbus, Ohio
December 22, 2010
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

With the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, our management has
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that,
as of the end of the period covered by this report:
•

Information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
Securities and Exchange Commission;

•

Information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure; and

•

Our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent quarter
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting required by Item 308(a) of
Regulation S-K follows. The report of the independent registered public accounting firm required by Item 308(b) of
Regulation S-K is found under the caption “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” below.
The following report is provided by our management on our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act):
1. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial
reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).
2. Our management has used the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”)
framework to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Management believes that
the COSO framework is a suitable framework for its evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting
because it is free from bias, permits reasonably qualitative and quantitative measurements of our internal controls, is
sufficiently complete so that those relevant factors that would alter a conclusion about the effectiveness of our
internal controls are not omitted and is relevant to an evaluation of internal control over financial reporting.
3. Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting at October 31, 2010,
and has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting is effective. There are no material weaknesses in
our internal control over financial reporting that have been identified by management.
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4. This assessment excluded the internal control over financial reporting of a European company purchased in
November 2009, an Asian company purchased in June 2010, a North American drum reconditioning company
purchased in July 2010, a North American drum reconditioning company purchased in August 2010, one European
company purchased in August 2010, a 51 percent interest in a Middle Eastern company purchased in September
2010, a South American company purchased in September 2010, and five flexible products companies that conduct
business throughout Europe, Asia and North America acquired in February, June, August and September 2010,
which are included in the 2010 Consolidated Financial Statements of Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries, and constituted
total assets and net sales of 0.5% and 1.8%, respectively, for the first European company, 0.1% and 0.3%,
respectively, for the Asian company, 0.1% and 0.1%, respectively, for the first North American drum reconditioning
company, 0.1% and 0.1%, respectively, for the second North American reconditioning company, 0.0% and 0.0%,
respectively, for the second European company, 0.1% and 0.0%, respectively, for the 51 percent interest in the
Middle Eastern company, 0.1% and 0.0%, respectively, for the South American company, and 2.5% and 5.4%,
respectively, for the five flexible products companies acquired that conduct business throughout Europe, Asia and
North America, of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended October 31, 2010.
Our internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010, has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which follows below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Greif, Inc.
We have audited Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in
the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of October 31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria.
As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment
of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of a
European company purchased in November 2009, an Asian company purchased in June 2010, a North American drum
reconditioning company purchased in July 2010, a North American drum reconditioning company purchased in August 2010, one
European company purchased in August 2010, a 51 percent interest in a Middle Eastern company, a South American company
purchased in September 2010, and five flexible products companies that conduct business throughout Europe, Asia and North
America and were acquired in February, June, August and September 2010, which are included in the 2010 Consolidated
Financial Statements of Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries, and constituted total assets and net sales of 0.5% and 1.8% respectively for
the first European company, 0.1% and 0.3% respectively for the Asian company, 0.1% and 0.1% respectively for the first North
American drum reconditioning company, 0.1% and 0.1% respectively for the second North American reconditioning company,
0.0% and 0.0% respectively for the second European company, 0.1% and 0.0% respectively for the 51 percent interest in the
Middle Eastern company, 0.1% and 0.0% respectively for the South American company, and 2.5% and 5.4% respectively for the
five flexible products companies acquired that conduct business throughout Europe, Asia and North America, of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended October 31, 2010. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of the acquired
operations referred to above.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010 of
Greif, Inc. and subsidiaries and schedule and our report dated December 22, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Columbus, Ohio
December 22, 2010
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our directors required by Items 401(a) and (d)-(f) of Regulation S-K will be found under the
caption “Proposal Number 1—Election of Directors” in the 2011 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated
herein by reference. Information regarding our executive officers required by Items 401(b) and (d)-(f) of
Regulation S-K will be contained under the caption “Executive Officers of the Company” in the 2011 Proxy
Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
We have a separately-designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of
the Exchange Act. As of the date of this filing, the members of the Audit Committee were Vicki L. Avril, John F.
Finn, Bruce A. Edwards and John W. McNamara. Ms. Avril is Chairperson of the Audit Committee. Our Board of
Directors has determined that Ms. Avril is an “audit committee financial expert,” as that term is defined in Item 401
(h)(2) of Regulation S-K, and “independent,” as that term is defined in Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act.
Information regarding the filing of reports of ownership under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act by our officers and
directors and persons owning more than 10 percent of a registered class of our equity securities required by Item 405
of Regulation S-K will be found under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in
the 2011 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
Information concerning the procedures by which stockholders may recommend nominees to our Board of Directors
will be found under the caption “Corporate Governance—Nomination of Directors” in the 2011 Proxy Statement.
There has been no material change to the nomination procedures we previously disclosed in the proxy statement for
our 2010 annual meeting of stockholders.
Our Board of Directors has adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer, controller, and persons performing similar functions. This code of ethics is
posted on our Internet Web site at www.greif.com under “Investor Center—Corporate Governance.” Copies of this
code of ethics are also available to any person, without charge, by making a written request to us. Requests should be
directed to Greif, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, 425 Winter Road, Delaware, Ohio 43015. Any amendment
(other than any technical, administrative or other non-substantive amendment) to, or waiver from, a provision of this
code will be posted on our website described above within four business days following its occurrence.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The 2011 Proxy Statement will contain information regarding the following matters: information regarding executive
compensation required by Item 402 of Regulation S-K will be found under the caption “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis”; information required by Item 407(e)(4) of Regulation S-K will be found under the caption
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”; information required by Item 407(e)(5) of
Regulation S-K will be found under the caption “Compensation Committee Report.” This information is incorporated
herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management required by Item 403 of
Regulation S-K will be found under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the 2011 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
Information regarding equity compensation plan information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be
found under the caption “Elements of Compensation” in the 2011 Proxy Statement, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions required by Item 404 of Regulation S-K will be
found under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the 2011 Proxy Statement, which
information is incorporated herein by reference.
Information regarding the independence of our directors required by Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K will be found
under the caption “Corporate Governance—Director Independence” in the 2011 Proxy Statement, which information
is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services required by Item 9(e) of Schedule 14A will be found
under the caption “Independent Auditor Fee Information” in the 2011 Proxy Statement, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K:
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements of Greif, Inc.:

Page

Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010
Consolidated Balance Sheets at October 31, 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

44
45
47
48
49
91

The individual financial statements of our company have been omitted since we are primarily an operating company
and all subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements, in the aggregate, do not have minority equity
interests and/or indebtedness to any person other than our company or our consolidated subsidiaries in amounts
which exceed 5 percent of total consolidated assets at October 31, 2010.
(2) Financial Statement Schedule:

Page

Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves (Schedule II)

95

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial
statements or notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits—Refer to the Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Greif, Inc.
(Registrant)
Date:

December 22, 2010

By:

/s/ MICHAEL J. GASSER
Michael J. Gasser
Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ MICHAEL J. GASSER

/s/ DONALD S. HUML

Michael J. Gasser
Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Donald S. Huml
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

/s/ KENNETH B. ANDRE III

PATRICK J. NORTON *

Kenneth B. Andre III
Vice President, Corporate Controller
(principal accounting officer)

Patrick J. Norton
Member of the Board of Directors

VICKI L. AVRIL *

JOHN F. FINN*

Vicki L. Avril
Member of the Board of Directors

John F. Finn
Member of the Board of Directors

JOHN W. MCNAMARA *

BRUCE A. EDWARDS *

John W. McNamara
Member of the Board of Directors

Bruce A. Edwards
Member of the Board of Directors

DANIEL J. GUNSETT *

JUDITH D. HOOK *

Daniel J. Gunsett
Member of the Board of Directors

Judith D. Hook
Member of the Board of Directors

MARK A. EMKES*
Mark A. Emkes
Member of the Board of Directors
* The undersigned, Michael J. Gasser, by signing his name hereto, does hereby execute this Form 10-K on behalf of each of the above-named
persons pursuant to powers of attorney duly executed by such persons and filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K.
By:

/s/ MICHAEL J. GASSER
Michael J. Gasser
Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer

Each of the above signatures is affixed as of December 22, 2010.
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SCHEDULE II
GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves (Dollars in millions)

Description

Year ended October 31, 2008:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Environmental reserves
Year ended October 31, 2009:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Environmental reserves
Year ended October 31, 2010:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Environmental reserves

Balance at Charged to
Beginning of Costs and
Period
Expenses

Charged to
Other Accounts

Deductions

Balance at End
of Period

$12.5
$40.6

$2.8
$0.4

$(3.0)
$(3.2)

$ 1.2
$(0.6)

$13.5
$37.2

$13.5
$37.2

$2.3
$1.1

$(3.9)
$(3.4)

$ 0.6
$(1.5)

$12.5
$33.4

$12.5
$33.4

$1.1
$0.4

$(0.2)
$(1.5)

$(0.1)
$(6.1)

$13.3
$26.2
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No.

If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was Previously Filed with SEC

Description of Exhibit

3(a)

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
Greif, Inc.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1997, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 3(a)
therein).

3(b)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Greif, Inc.

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A dated January
27, 2003, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit A therein).

3(c)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Greif, Inc.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 3.1
therein).

3(d)

Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of Greif, Inc.

Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 29, 2008, File
No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 99.2 therein)

4(a)

Indenture dated as of February 9, 2007, among Greif, Inc.,
as Issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee, regarding 6 3 / 4 % Senior Notes due 2017

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended January 31, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
4.2 therein).

4(b)

Indenture dated as of July 28, 2009, among Greif, Inc., as
Issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee,
regarding 7 3 / 4 % Senior Notes due 2019

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended July 31, 2009, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 4(b)
therein).

10(a)*

Greif, Inc. Directors’ Stock Option Plan.

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-26977
(see Exhibit 4(b) therein).

10(b)*

Greif, Inc. Incentive Stock Option Plan, as Amended and
Restated.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1997, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10(b)
therein).

10(c)*

Greif, Inc. Amended and Restated Directors’ Deferred
Compensation Plan.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2006, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
10.2 therein).

10(d)*

Employment Agreement between Michael J. Gasser and
Greif, Inc.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1998, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10(d)
therein).

10(e)*

Supplemental Retirement Benefit Agreement.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1999, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10(i)
therein).

10(f)*

Second Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended October
31, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10(f) therein).

10(g)*

Greif, Inc. Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive
Plan.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2006, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
10.1 therein).

10(h)*

Greif, Inc. Performance-Based Incentive Compensation
Plan.

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A dated January
25, 2002, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit B therein).
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Exhibit
No.

If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was Previously Filed with SEC

Description of Exhibit

10(i)*

Greif, Inc. 2001 Management Equity Incentive and
Compensation Plan.

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A dated
January 26, 2001, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit A
therein).

10(j)*

Greif, Inc. 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-61058
(see Exhibit 4(c) therein).

10(k)*

2005 Outside Directors Equity Award Plan

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A, File No.
001-00566, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 21, 2005 (see Exhibit A therein).

10(l)*

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement for the 2005
Outside Directors Equity Award Plan of Greif, Inc.

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-123133
(see Exhibit 4(c) therein).

10(m)*

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for the 2005
Outside Directors Equity Award Plan of Greif, Inc.

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-123133
(see Exhibit 4(d) therein).

10(n)*

Greif, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended January 31, 2008, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
10.CC therein).

10(o)

Credit Agreement dated as of February 19, 2009, among
Greif, Inc. and Greif International Holding B.V., as
borrowers, a syndicate of financial institutions, as lenders,
Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, L/C issuer
and swing line lender, Banc of America Securities LLC
and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as joint lead arrangers
and joint book managers, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
syndication agent, and KeyBank, National Association and
U.S. Bank, National Association, as co-documentation
agents. Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted
pursuant to an order granting confidential treatment and
have been filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A (Amendment No. 1) for
the fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2010, File No. 00100566 (see Exhibit 10(p) therein).

10(p)

First Amendment dated as of July 21, 2009, to the Credit
Agreement dated as of February 19, 2009, among Greif,
Inc. and Greif International Holdings B.V., as Borrowers,
various lending institutions, as Lenders, and Bank of
America, National Association, as Administrative Agent

Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-162011
(see Exhibit 10(p) therein).
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10(q)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated October
29, 2010 among Greif, Inc., Greif International Holding
Supra C.V. and Greif International Holding B.V., as
borrowers, with a syndicate of financial institutions, as
lenders, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent,
L/C issuer and swing line lender, Banc of America
Securities LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, KeyBank
National Association, Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania and
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as joint lead arrangers and
joint book managers, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
syndication agent, and KeyBank National Association,
Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, Deutsche Bank Securities
Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as codocumentation agents, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association and Fifth Third Bank, as managing agents.

Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 4, 2010, File
No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 99.2 therein).

10(r)

Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement
dated as of April 30, 2007, among Greif Coordination
Center BVBA (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Greif, Inc.), as Seller, Greif Belgium BVBA (an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of Greif, Inc.), as Servicer, and
ING Belgium S.A., as Purchaser and Transaction
Administrator.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
10.1 therein).

10(s)

Receivables Purchase Agreement dated as of October 28,
2005, among Greif Italia S.p.A. (an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Greif, Inc.), as Seller and Servicer, Greif
Belgium BVBA (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Greif, Inc.), as Master Servicer, and ING Belgium S.A., as
Purchaser and Transaction Administrator.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
10.2 therein).

10(t)

Amendment dated as of June 29, 2006, to the
Receivables Purchase Agreement dated as of October 28,
2005, among Greif Italia S.p.A. (an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Greif, Inc.), as Seller and Servicer, Greif
Belgium BVBA (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Greif, Inc.), as Master Servicer, and ING Belgium S.A., as
Purchaser and Transaction Administrator.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
10.3 therein).

10(u)

Amendment dated as of October 27, 2006, to the
Receivables Purchase Agreement dated as of October 28,
2005, among Greif Italia S.p.A. (an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Greif, Inc.), as Seller and Servicer, Greif
Belgium BVBA (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Greif, Inc.), as Master Servicer, and ING Belgium S.A., as
Purchaser and Transaction Administrator.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
10.4 therein).

98

Table of Contents
Exhibit
No.

If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was Previously Filed with SEC

Description of Exhibit

10(v)

Amendment dated as of April 30, 2007, to the Receivables
Purchase Agreement dated as of October 28, 2005,
among Greif Italia S.p.A. (an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Greif, Inc.), as Seller and Servicer, Greif
Belgium BVBA (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Greif, Inc.), as Master Servicer, and ING Belgium S.A., as
Purchaser and Transaction Administrator.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see
Exhibit 10.5 therein).

10(w)

Amendment dated as of November 15, 2007, to the
Receivables Purchase Agreement dated as of October 28,
2005, among Greif Italia S.p.A. (an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Greif, Inc.), as Seller and Servicer, Greif
Belgium BVBA (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Greif, Inc.), as Master Servicer, and ING Belgium S.A., as
Purchaser and Transaction Administrator.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended October
31, 2007, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10(y) therein).

10(x)

Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of
December 8, 2008, by and among Greif Receivables
Funding LLC, Greif Packaging LLC, YC SUSI Trust, as
Conduit Investor and Uncommitted Investor, and Bank of
America, National Association, as Agent, a Managing
Agent, an Administrator and a Committed Investor.
Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant
to an order granting confidential treatment and have been
filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2010, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10
(bb) therein).

10(y)

First Amendment dated as of September 11, 2009, to the
Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of
December 8, 2008, by and among Greif Receivables
Funding LLC, Greif Packaging LLC, YC SUSI Trust, as
Conduit Investor and Uncommitted Investor, and Bank of
America, National Association, as Agent, Managing
Partner, an Administrator and a Committed Investor.

Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-162011
(see Exhibit 10(cc) therein).

10(z)

Second Amendment dated as of December 7, 2009, to the
Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of
December 8, 2008, by and among Greif Receivables
Funding LLC, Greif Packaging LLC, YC SUSI Trust, as
Conduit Investor and Uncommitted Investor, and Bank of
America, National Association, as Agent, Managing
Partner, an Administrator and a Committed Investor.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended October
31, 2009, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10(dd) therein).
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10(aa)

Third Amendment dated as of May 10, 2010, to the
Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of
December 8, 2008 by and among Greif Receivables
Funding LLC, Greif Packaging LLC, YC SUSI Trust, as
Conduit Investor and Uncommitted Investor, and Bank of
America National Association, as Agent, Managing Agent,
an Administrator and a Committed Investor.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended April 30, 2010, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
99.1 therein).

10(bb)

Fourth Amendment dated as of June 22, 2010, to the
Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of
December 8, 2008, by and among Greif Receivables
Funding LLC, Greif Packaging LLC, YC SUSI Trust, as
Conduit Investor and Uncommitted Investor, and Bank of
America National Association, as Agent, Managing Agent,
an Administrator and a Committed Investor.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended July 31, 2010, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10.1
therein).

10(cc)

Fifth Amendment dated as of September 30, 2010, to the
Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of
December 8, 2008, by and among Greif Receivables
Funding LLC, Greif Packaging LLC, YC SUSI Trust, as
Conduit Investor and Uncommitted Investor, and Bank of
America National Association, as Agent, Managing Agent,
an Administrator and a Committed Investor.

Contained herein.

10(dd)

Formation Agreement dated as of June 14, 2010, by and
among Greif, Inc. and Greif International Holding Supra
C.V. and National Scientific Company Limited and
Dabbagh Group Holding Company Limited.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended July 31, 2010, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 10.2
therein).

10(ee)

Joint Venture Agreement dated as of September 29, 2010,
by and among Greif, Inc. and Greif International Holding
Supra C.V. and Dabbagh Group Holding Company
Limited and National Scientific Company Limited.

Contained herein.

10(ff)

Sale Agreement dated as of December 8, 2008, by and
between Greif Packaging LLC, each other entity from time
to time a party as Originator, and Greif Receivables
Funding LLC.

Contained herein.

10(gg)

First Amendment dated as of September 30, 2010, to the
Sale Agreement dated as of December 8, 2008, by and
between Greif Packaging LLC, each other entity from time
to time a party as Originator, and Greif Receivables
Funding LLC.

Contained herein.

21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Contained herein.

23

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Contained herein.

24(a)

Powers of Attorney for Michael J. Gasser and Daniel J.
Gunsett.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1997, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 24(a)
therein).
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24(b)

Powers of Attorney for Judith D. Hook and Patrick J.
Norton.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2003, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 24(c)
therein).

24(c)

Power of Attorney for Vicki L. Avril.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2004, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 24(c)
therein).

24(d)

Power of Attorney for Bruce A. Edwards.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2006, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 24(d)
therein).

24(e)

Powers of Attorney for John F. Finn and Mark A. Emkes.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended January 31, 2008, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit
24(e) therein).

24(f)

Powers of Attorney for John W. McNamara.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2009, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit 24(f)
therein).

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Contained herein.

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Contained herein.

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States
Code.

Contained herein.

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States
Code.

Contained herein.

* Executive compensation plans and arrangements required to be filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K.
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EXECUTION COPY
FIFTH AMENDMENT
Dated as of September 30, 2010
to
TRANSFER AND ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT
Dated as of December 8, 2008
This FIFTH AMENDMENT (this “ Amendment ”), dated as of September 30, 2010, is entered into among GREIF PACKAGING LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“ Greif ”), GREIF RECEIVABLES FUNDING LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ SPV ”),
the Investors, Managing Agents and Administrators party hereto, and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Agent (the “ Agent ”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the parties hereto have entered into that certain Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of December 8, 2008 (the “
Transfer and Administration Agreement ”);
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Transfer and Administration Agreement as provided herein;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements contained herein and in the Transfer and Administration
Agreement, the parties hereto agree as follows:
SECTION 1. Definitions . All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein are used as defined in the Transfer and Administration
Agreement.
SECTION 2. Amendments to Transfer and Administration Agreement . The Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended as
follows:
2.1. Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated by inserting the following new definitions in
their proper alphabetical order:
““ External Rating ” is defined in Section 6.1(s) .”
““ Implied Rating ” is defined in Section 6.1(s) .”
““ Out-of-Program Collections ” is defined in Section 6.2(f) .”
““ SFA ” means the formula designated in BASEL II (or any law or regulation that may supplement, amend, restate or replace BASEL II
in part or in whole) as the “Supervisory Formula Approach” for determining a bank’s risk-based capital requirement for securitization
transactions.”
1

““ SFA Event ” shall be deemed to have occurred if the Agent, at any time in its sole discretion, to be exercised reasonably, determines
that it cannot, for any reason, use the SFA to calculate Bank of America’s regulatory capital requirement in respect of the facility
contemplated under the Transaction Documents.”
2.2. The definition of “Agricultural Receivable Eligible Obligor” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby
amended to delete “Administrative Agent” and replace it with “Agent”.
2.3. The definition of “Commitment Termination Date” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended
and restated in its entirety as follows:
““ Commitment Termination Date ” means September 29, 2011, or such later date to which the Commitment Termination Date may be
extended by the SPV, the Agent and the Committed Investors (each in their sole discretion).”
2.4. Clause (a) in the definition of “Concentration Limits” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended
and restated in its entirety as follows:
“(a) the aggregate Unpaid Balance of all Receivables relating to a single Obligor (together with its subsidiaries and Affiliates) exceeds
(i) 2.40% of the Aggregate Unpaid Balance at such time or (ii) if higher, the percentage of the Aggregate Unpaid Balance specified below,
contingent upon the Obigor’s public unsecured debt rating.
Obligor's Public Unsecured Long-Term Debt Rating (S&P/Moody's) 1

Concentration Limit

A/A2 or better
A-/A3 to BBB/Baa2
BBB-/Baa3
Not rated or lower than BBB-/Baa3

12.0%
6.00%
4.00%
2.4%

2.5. The definition of “Dilution Horizon Ratio” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and
restated in its entirety as follows:
““ Dilution Horizon Ratio ” means, for any Calculation Period, the greater of (a) 100% and (b) the ratio (expressed as a percentage)
computed as of the most recent Month End Date by dividing (i) the aggregate initial Unpaid Balance of sales by the Originators
1

The rating of an Obligor will be the lower of any public unsecured debt rating of such Obligor as issued by either S&P or Moody’s. If
such Obligor has only one rating from either S&P or Moody’s, that rating shall be used.
2

giving rise to Receivables during the calendar month by (ii) the Aggregate Unpaid Balance as of such Month End Date.”
2.6. Clause (b) in the definition of “Eligible Obligor” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended to
delete “originators” and replace it with “Originators”.
2.7. Clause (b)(iii) in the definition of “Eligible Receivable” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby
amended to delete “Administrative Agent” and replace it with “Agent”.
2.8. The definition of “Loss Horizon Ratio” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in
its entirety as follows:
““ Loss Horizon Ratio ” means, for any Calculation Period, the quotient, expressed as a percentage, of (a) the aggregate initial Unpaid
Balance of Eligible Receivables which arose during the period ending on the most recent Month End Date and the three immediately
preceding Calculation Periods, divided by (b) the Aggregate Unpaid Balance as of the most recent Month End Date.”
2.9. The definition of “Maturity Date” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety as follows:
““ Maturity Date ” means the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date unless otherwise extended with the consent of each Managing Agent;
provided that the “Maturity Date” shall be extended beyond the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date to such later date as the Commitment
Termination Date is extended by the SPV, the Agent and the Committed Investors as provided in such definition.”
2.10. The definition of “Minimum Percentage” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated
in its entirety as follows:
““ Minimum Percentage ” means, for any Calculation Period, the sum, expressed as a percentage, of (a) 0.12 plus (b) the product of
(i) the Expected Dilution Ratio and (ii) the Dilution Horizon Ratio.”
2.11. Clause (a) of the definition of “Servicing Fee Reserve” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby
amended to delete “ plus ” and replace it with “ times ”.
2.12. The definition of “Termination Date” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in
its entirety as follows:
3

““ Termination Date ” means the earliest of (a) the Business Day designated by the SPV to the Agent and the Managing Agents as the
Termination Date at any time following not less than five (5) days’ written notice to the Agent and the Managing Agents, (b) the day upon
which the Termination Date is declared or automatically occurs pursuant to Section 8.2 , (c) the Commitment Termination Date and (d) the
Maturity Date.”
2.13. The definition of “Yield Reserve” in Section 1.1 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety as follows:
““ Yield Reserve ” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (a) the product of (i) 1.5 times (ii) the Days Sales
Outstanding in effect on such date times (iii) the sum of the Base Rate in effect on such date (as determined by the Agent) plus 2%, divided by
(b) 360, multiplied by (c) the Net Pool Balance on such date.”
2.14. Section 3.3 of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended to delete the first two sentences thereof.
2.15. The following new Section 6.1(s) is hereby added to the Transfer and Administration Agreement:
“(s) Ratings Confirmation . Following the occurrence of an SFA Event and at the written request of the Agent, the Servicer shall (at its
own expense) obtain a rating, in form satisfactory to the Agent, of the facility contemplated by this Agreement (the “ External Rating ”)
from a nationally-recognized rating agency or rating agencies reasonably acceptable to the Agent within sixty (60) days from the date of
such written request, such External Rating to be at least equal to A (or its equivalent) (the “ Implied Rating ”).”
2.16. Section 6.2(f) of the Transfer and Administrative Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“(f) Deposits to Blocked Accounts . Neither the SPV nor the Servicer shall deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit to be so
deposited or credited, to any Blocked Account or the Collection Account cash or cash proceeds other than Collections. Notwithstanding the
immediately preceding sentence, the SPV and Servicer may deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit to be so deposited or credited, to
any Blocked Account cash or cash proceeds other than Collections (“ Out-of-Program Collections ”) to the extent such deposits or credits
(i) relate to certain intercompany receivables or other receivables not originated by an Originator which have been disclosed to the Agent, or
(ii) are made by error or mistake, provided that (A) the SPV shall take such actions as are necessary to ensure all intercompany receivables
cease paying into a Blocked Account by November 14, 2010, (B) the SPV shall use reasonable commercial efforts to instruct the obligors of
receivables not originated by an Originator as soon as reasonably possible and in any event by November 14, 2010, to cease paying Out-ofProgram Collections into a Blocked Account and in lieu thereof to pay Out-of-Program Collections to an account other than a Blocked
Account, (C) take such other reasonable commercial actions as the
4

Agent may request to redirect all Out-of-Program Collections, and (D) all Out-of-Program Collections submitted to any Blocked Account
shall be identifiable to the satisfaction of the Adminisitrative Agent in its reasonable discretion. If any Out-of-Program Collections are
deposited or credited to any Blocked Account, the SPV shall transfer such Out-of-Program Collections to an account of the SPV or an
Originator other than the Blocked Accounts, or shall cause such Out-of-Program Collections to be so transferred, promptly and in any event
by November 14, 2010 or, if deposited or credited to any Blocked Account on or after November 14, 2010, within two (2) Business Days of
such deposit or credit thereof to the applicable Blocked Account. The Agent and the other Secured Parties acknowledge they shall have no
right, title or interest in any such Out-of-Program Collections.”
2.17. Section 8.1(c) of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“the SPV or any Originator (i) shall fail to perform or observe in any material respect any other term, covenant or agreement contained in
this Agreement on its part to be performed or observed and any such failure remains unremedied for 10 days or (ii) shall fail to perform a
covenant listed in Section 6.1(a)(iv) or Section 6.1(s) and such failure remains unremedied for 30 days after written notice thereof has been
given to the SPV or any Originator by the Agent; or”
2.18. Schedule 4.1(s) of the Transfer and Administration Agreement is hereby amended to delete the following two Blocked Accounts and
their corresponding lockboxes:
“JPM Morgan, Acct # 323414842, LBX # 88911, ABA # 021000021” and
“JPM Morgan, Acct # 323414850, LBX # 88908, ABA # 021000021.”
SECTION 3. Conditions Precedent . Section 2 hereof shall become effective on the date first written above upon receipt by the Agent (and
each Managing Agent, upon its request) of: (a) a counterpart (or counterparts) of this Amendment, duly executed by each of the parties hereto,
or other evidence satisfactory to the Agent of the execution and delivery of this Amendment by such parties, (b) a counterpart (or counterparts)
of the Fee Letter, duly executed by each of the parties thereto, together with payment of the “renewal fee” as referred to therein, and (c) receipt
of payment within thirty (30) days of the date hereof by Mayer Brown LLP, counsel to the Agent, of its reasonable legal fees in connection
herewith.
SECTION 4. Miscellaneous .
4.1. Representations and Warranties . The SPV hereby represents and warrants that (i) this Amendment constitutes a legal, valid and binding
obligation of the SPV, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms and (ii) upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, no Termination
Event or Potential Termination Event shall exist.
4.2. References to Transfer and Administration Agreement . Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Transfer and
Administration Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof”, “herein”, or words of like import shall mean and be a
5

reference to the Transfer and Administration Agreement as amended hereby, and each reference to the Transfer and Administration Agreement
in any other document, instrument or agreement executed and/or delivered in connection with the Transfer and Administration Agreement shall
mean and be a reference to the Transfer and Administration Agreement as amended hereby.
4.3. Effect on Transfer and Administration Agreement . Except as specifically amended above, the Transfer and Administration Agreement
and all other documents, instruments and agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and
are hereby ratified and confirmed.
4.4. No Waiver . The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy
of any Agent or any Investor under the Transfer and Administration Agreement or any other document, instrument or agreement executed in
connection therewith, nor constitute a waiver of any provision contained therein, except as specifically set forth herein.
4.5. Governing Law . This Amendment, including the rights and duties of the parties hereto, shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York.
4.6. Successors and Assigns . This Amendment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
4.7. Headings . The Section headings in this Amendment are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the meaning or
interpretation of this Amendment or any provision hereof.
4.8. Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed by the parties hereto in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original and all of which shall constitute together but one and the same agreement.
[SIGNATURES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have caused this Amendment to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized,
as of the date first above written.
GREIF RECEIVABLES FUNDING LLC ,
as SPV
By: /s/ John K. Dieker
Name: John K. Dieker
Title: Vice President and Treasurer
GREIF PACKAGING LLC ,
individually, as an Originator and as the Servicer
By: /s/ John K. Dieker
Name: John K. Dieker
Title: Vice President and Treasurer
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
Signature Page to the Fifth Amendment

BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ,
as Agent and as Managing Agent, Administrator
and Committed Investor for the Bank of America
Investor Group
By: /s/ Nina Austin
Name: Nina Austin
Title: Vice President

Signature Page to the Fifth Amendment
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31

JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENT
THIS JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENT (this JV Agreement ), dated as of September 29, 2010 is made and entered into
AMONG:
(1) GREIF, INC. , a corporation formed under the laws of Delaware ( Greif Parent ) solely for the purpose of the obligations set forth in
Section 2.4 ( Exclusivity ), Section 2.5 ( Business Opportunities ) and Section 5 ( Miscellaneous );
(2) GREIF INTERNATIONAL HOLDING SUPRA C.V. , a limited partnership formed under the laws of the Netherlands ( Greif );
(3) DABBAGH GROUP HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED , a corporation formed under the laws of Saudi Arabia ( Dabbagh Parent ),
solely for the purpose of the obligations set forth in Section 2.4 ( Exclusivity ), Section 2.5 ( Business Opportunities ) and Section 5
( Miscellaneous ); and
(3) NATIONAL SCIENTIFIC COMPANY LIMITED , a limited liability company formed under the laws of Saudi Arabia ( NSC ).
WHEREAS:
(A) Greif is engaged, directly and indirectly, in the business of producing industrial packaging products, such as steel, fibre and plastic drums,
intermediate bulk containers, closure systems for industrial packaging products, certain transit protection products, and polycarbonate
water bottles, and services, such as blending, filling and other packaging services, logistics and warehousing. NSC is engaged, directly and
indirectly, in the business of wholesale and retail trading of human and veterinary medicine, chemicals, medical equipment, scientific
equipment, scientific instruments, laboratory equipment and furniture, and providing maintenance and installation services for such
equipment.
(B) Since 2007, Greif (indirectly through its portfolio company Greif International Holding B.V.) and an Affiliate of Dabbagh Parent,
Petromin Corporation, have been participating in a fifty-one percent-forty-nine percent (51%/49%) joint venture called Greif Saudi Arabia
Ltd.
(C) Greif and NSC regard each other as valuable partners and wish to expand their relationship by participating in a new joint venture that will
engage in the Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business (as defined in the Formation Agreement).
(D) Greif and NSC desire to locate polywoven fabric manufacturing in Saudi Arabia and possibly other countries.
(E) Greif wishes to contribute capital and the Greif Brand, Channel and Expertise (as defined in the Formation Agreement) and NSC wishes to
contribute capital and KSA Expertise and Support (as defined in the Formation Agreement) to ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub
combined in accordance with the provisions of this JV Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (as defined in the Formation
Agreement), and to create cross-ownership in each of these entities and joint management and joint profit sharing among ChannelCo,
AssetCo and KSA Hub in a manner that will promote long-term cooperation, growth, coordination and synergies among such entities as
provided herein (the Global Alliance ).

(F) The Global Alliance will benefit from Greif’s expertise, know-how and branding and NSC’s access to capital, proven record of successful
asset management and understanding of the Saudi Arabian market and regional business environment, local knowledge and local presence.
(G) Greif and NSC intend to make certain strategic acquisitions of businesses that are engaged in the Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business
through the Global Alliance.
(H) Greif and NSC intend that the Global Alliance will provide highly competitive services and products in the Polywoven Industrial
Packaging Business more cost effectively, more efficiently and more rapidly than they each could provide alone.
(I) Greif and NSC intend that the Global Alliance will be a fifty percent-fifty percent (50%/50%) joint venture between Greif and NSC
through the combined operations of their subsidiaries ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub in all respects notwithstanding the Ownership
Interests (as defined in the Formation Agreement) in individual Global Alliance Entities and that all of the Global Alliance Entities will be
operated in a transparent and operationally efficient manner.
(J) In furtherance of the objectives set forth above, Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC desire to enter into this JV Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents to govern the ongoing operation of the Global Alliance. Certain terms used in this JV Agreement shall
have the meanings ascribed to such terms in Annex 1 to the Formation Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE , each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC, intending to be legally bound to the extent provided in this JV
Agreement, hereby agree as follows:
1.

GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT OF GLOBAL ALLIANCE ENTITIES

1.1 Establishment of Global Alliance Entities’ Boards of Directors and Designation of Chairmen
(a) Board Representation of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub; Voting
Effective as of the Closing, the business and affairs of each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub will be managed exclusively by or
under the direction of a Board of Directors of each such entity, established in accordance with the Constituent Documents of each such
entity and consisting of eight (8) or ten (10) individuals (including the CEO), as agreed between Greif and NSC. Such individuals shall
either be senior management employees of either Greif or NSC or have relevant business experience. The parties shall cause the
shareholders of the Global Alliance Entities to appoint, on the nomination of Greif, half of the individuals to serve on the Board of
Directors of each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub and, on the nomination of NSC, the other half of the individuals to serve on the
Board of Directors of each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub. Board of Director nominations made in accordance with the previous
sentence by either Greif or NSC shall not be objected to by Greif or NSC (as the case may be). Pursuant to the Constituent Documents of
each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub and except as provided below, each individual who is a member of a Global Alliance Entity
Board of Directors shall be entitled to one (1) vote on all matters that may come before such Board of Directors.
(b) Board Representation of Global Alliance Subsidiaries
Each of Greif and NSC shall cause each Global Alliance Subsidiary (as and when formed) to be managed exclusively by or under the
direction of a Board of Directors to be established in accordance with the requirements for the Board of Directors of the parent entity of
such Global Alliance Subsidiary.
2

(c) ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub Chairmen
Greif shall designate a representative of Greif to serve as the Chairman of the ChannelCo Board of Directors ( ChannelCo Chairman ).
The ChannelCo Chairman will preside over all meetings of the ChannelCo Board of Directors and, pursuant to the Constituent Documents
of such entity, will be empowered to break any tie votes of the ChannelCo Board of Directors with respect to any decision that may come
before the ChannelCo Board of Directors. For the avoidance of doubt, the ChannelCo Chairman may not break a tie vote (nor be entitled to
an additional vote) on any decision requiring a Board Supermajority Approval unless such chairman’s vote, together with all other votes
cast with respect to such matter, meets the minimum number of votes required for such approval pursuant to Section 1.3(a) . The
ChannelCo Chairman will have such other powers and duties as may be delegated to him by the ChannelCo Board of Directors, subject to
the provisions of this JV Agreement and the Constituent Documents of such entity.
NSC shall designate a representative of NSC to serve as the Chairman of the AssetCo Board of Directors ( AssetCo Chairman ). The
AssetCo Chairman will preside over all meetings of the AssetCo Board of Directors and, pursuant to the Constituent Documents of such
entity, will be empowered to break any tie votes of the AssetCo Board of Directors with respect to any decision that may come before the
AssetCo Board of Directors. For the avoidance of doubt, the AssetCo Chairman may not break a tie vote (nor be entitled to an additional
vote) on any decision requiring a Board Supermajority Approval unless such chairman’s vote, together with all other votes cast with
respect to such matter, meets the minimum number of votes required for such approval pursuant to Section 1.3(a) . The AssetCo Chairman
will have such other powers and duties as may be delegated to him by the AssetCo Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of this JV
Agreement and the Constituent Documents of such entity.
NSC shall designate a representative of NSC to serve as the Chairman of the KSA Hub Board of Directors ( KSA Hub Chairman ). The
KSA Hub Chairman will preside over all meetings of the KSA Hub Board of Directors and, pursuant to the Constituent Documents of such
entity, will be empowered to break any tie votes of the KSA Hub Board of Directors with respect to any decision that may come before the
KSA Hub Board of Directors. For the avoidance of doubt, the KSA Hub Chairman may not break a tie vote (nor be entitled to an additional
vote) on any decision requiring a Board Supermajority Approval unless such chairman’s vote, together with all other votes cast with
respect to such matter, meets the minimum number of votes required for such approval pursuant to Section 1.3(a) . The KSA Hub
Chairman will have such other powers and duties as may be delegated to him by the KSA Hub Board of Directors, subject to the provisions
of this JV Agreement and the Constituent Documents of such entity.
(d) Global Alliance Subsidiaries Chairmen
With regard to each Global Alliance Subsidiary, the parent entity of such Global Alliance Subsidiary shall designate the Chairman of such
Global Alliance Subsidiary ( Global Alliance Subsidiary Chairman ). The Global Alliance Subsidiary Chairman will preside over all
meetings of the Board of Directors of the Global Alliance Subsidiary of which he is the Chairman and, pursuant to the Constituent
Documents of such entity, will be empowered to break any tie votes of such Board of Directors with respect to any decision that may come
before them. For the avoidance of doubt, the Global Alliance Subsidiary Chairman may not break a tie vote (nor be entitled to an additional
vote) on any decision requiring a Board Supermajority Approval unless such chairman’s vote, together with all other votes cast with
respect to such matter, meets the minimum number of votes required for such approval pursuant to Section 1.3(a) . The Global Alliance
Subsidiary Chairman will have such other powers and duties as
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may be delegated to him by the Board of Directors of the Global Alliance Subsidiary of which he is the Chairman, subject to the provisions
of this JV Agreement and the Constituent Documents of such entity.
1.2 Responsibilities of Global Alliance Entity Boards of Directors
The purposes of the Board of Directors of each Global Alliance Entity shall be to establish and resolve matters of policy. As more fully set
forth in the applicable Constituent Documents of each Global Alliance Entity, the responsibilities of the Board of Directors of each Global
Alliance Entity shall include, without limitation:
(a) approving of any proposed acquisitions, divestitures or restructurings relating to such Global Alliance Entity;
(b) establishing any Intellectual Property rights of such Global Alliance Entity;
(c) legal and risk management of such Global Alliance Entity, including the development and implementation of compliance policies
reasonably designed to ensure compliance with all applicable Laws;
(d) developing evaluation and approval procedures for third party services and transactions;
(e) conducting financial reviews and audits, approving operating and capital budgets and requests for Capital Contributions and other
financings of such Global Alliance Entity;
(f) establishing review criteria for the CEO and CFO of such Global Alliance Entity and setting compensation for the Board of Directors,
executive management and staff of such Global Alliance Entity and establishing broad organizational cultural norms for success within
such Global Alliance Entity;
(g) appointing, reviewing and terminating executive management and setting compensation, benefits and other terms of employment for
executive management of such Global Alliance Entity; and
(h) any other action set forth in Section 1.3(a) , Section 1.3(b) and/or Section 1.3(c) .
1.3 Voting Thresholds for Board Decision-Making; Certain Approvals
(a) Actions Requiring a Supermajority Approval of Board
Subject to Section 3.2(e) , the actions specified below may not be taken by (i) any of ChannelCo, AssetCo or KSA Hub unless approved by
(A) seven (7) members of the applicable Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors if such Board consists of eight (8) members, or
(B) eight (8) members of the applicable Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors if such Board consists of ten (10) members (each a
Board Supermajority Approval ) and ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub shall take such actions as may be necessary as holder of the
Ownership Interests in any of their Subsidiaries to ensure that such entities do not take any of the specified actions without such Board
Supermajority Approval of ChannelCo, AssetCo or KSA Hub, as the case may be, and (ii) KSA Hub in respect of the decisions listed
under items (i) — (ii) and (iv) — (v) below unless a supermajority shareholders vote comprising shareholders holding at least seventy-five
percent (75%) of the share capital of KSA Hub (or such greater amount as may be required by applicable Law) is obtained:
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(i)

a voluntary liquidation or bankruptcy (or equivalent procedures under any applicable Law) of the Global Alliance Entity (except a
liquidation pursuant to Section 4.4 );

(ii)

a change in the purpose or scope of operations of the Global Alliance Entity;

(iii)

the pursuit or divestment of a Business Opportunity acquired through any of the Acquired Businesses;

(iv)

the sale, disposition or encumbrance of assets, properties, businesses or rights (whether by sale (including share sale), merger,
combination, consolidation, joint venture or otherwise) by the Global Alliance Entity (other than sales or dispositions of inventory in
the ordinary course of business) in one (1) transaction or a series of related transactions that (A) constitute all or substantially all the
assets of such entity, or (B) have a Fair Market Value in excess of two and one half million dollars ($2,500,000);

(v)

the acquisition of assets, properties or rights (whether by sale, merger, combination, consolidation, joint venture or otherwise) by the
Global Alliance Entity (other than acquisitions of inventory, equipment or raw materials in the ordinary course of business) of any
business, assets or Liabilities;

(vi)

any expenses relating to a restructuring or closure of a facility of more than two and one half million dollars ($2,500,000);

(vii) any amendment to the legal or organizational structure of the Global Alliance Entity or to the Constituent Documents of the Global
Alliance Entity;
(viii) transactions between or among the Global Alliance Entity and either Greif or NSC or any of their Affiliates other than a transaction
on terms that are no less favorable to the Global Alliance Entity than the terms of an arm’s length transaction in the ordinary course
of business;
(ix)

any modification of, or deviation from, the Distribution Policy of the Global Alliance Entity;

(x)

the approval and adoption of the annual Operating Plan; provided that if Board Supermajority Approval is not obtained for the
annual Operating Plan, then the prior year’s Operating Plan shall continue in effect with all amounts in such Operating Plan
increased by five percent (5%);

(xi)

the execution of any Contract or commitment to make any capital expenditure in excess of two and one half million dollars
($2,500,000) per project or in excess of seventy-five percent (75%) of the annual depreciation expense for all capital expenses per
year;

(xii) the incurrence of debt by the Global Alliance Entity (including guarantees and other financing mechanisms such as leases), other
than incurrences in the ordinary course of business of short term debt of less than ten percent (10%) of the sales revenues of such
entity; and
(xiii) any change or modification to any material accounting or tax policy, election or position, or the making of any entity classification
election under Treas. Reg. §301.7701-3, with respect to the Global Alliance Entity, except (i) any such change or modification
required under applicable generally accepted accounting principles or tax Law or (ii) any change or modification to be consistent
with any accounting or tax policy, election or position of either Greif or NSC, unless
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such change or modification would adversely affect either Greif or NSC or any of their Affiliates in any material respect.
(b) Actions Requiring an Ordinary Approval of Board
Subject to Section 3.2(e) , the actions specified below may not be taken by any of ChannelCo, AssetCo or KSA Hub unless approved by
the applicable Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors ( Board Ordinary Approval ) (and ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub shall
take such actions as may be necessary as holder of the Ownership Interests in any of their Subsidiaries to ensure that such entities do not
take any of the specified actions without such Board Ordinary Approval):
(i)

the incurrence of any operational expenses relating to inventory in excess of twenty-five percent (25%) over the budget for such item
included in the Operating Plan or the incurrence of non-inventory expenses for goods and services in excess of fifteen percent (15%)
over the budget for such item included in the Operating Plan; and

(ii)

the settlement of litigation or assumption of Liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business involving the Global Alliance
Entity, which litigation or settlement involves (A) an amount in excess of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000), (B) any
acceptance of injunctive relief or contractual agreement that would affect in any material respect the Purpose or limit or restrict the
Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business of any Global Alliance Entity, or impose any other Burdensome Condition on any such
entity, or (C) an acknowledgment of criminal liability or responsibility.

(c) Actions Requiring Parent Approval
The actions specified below may not be taken by any of ChannelCo, AssetCo or KSA Hub unless approved by each of Greif and NSC,
through Greif HoldCo and Dabbagh HoldCo respectively ( Parent Approval ), (and ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub shall take such
actions as may be necessary as holder of the Ownership Interests in any of their Subsidiaries to ensure that such entities (and the officers,
directors, employees and representatives of such entities) do not take any of the specified actions without such Parent Approval):
(i)

the acquisition by the Global Alliance Entity of any business, assets or Liabilities outside the scope of the operations of the Global
Alliance (as defined in the Strategic Plan and as amended pursuant to Section 2.5 );

(ii)

a request to make a Capital Contribution available that is not consistent with the Strategic Plan or a contribution in excess of the
Capital Contribution obligations of either of Greif or NSC or an adjustment in the obligations of Greif and NSC to make Capital
Contributions pursuant to Section 4.3(a) of the Formation Agreement;

(iii) the Transfer by either Greif or NSC or any of their respective Affiliates of its direct or indirect Ownership Interest in the Global
Alliance Entity, other than a Permitted Transfer pursuant to Section 3.2 ;
(iv) issuance of any new Ownership Interest to any Person other than Greif or NSC or permit any Person other than Greif or NSC to
otherwise acquire any Ownership Interest of any Global Alliance Entity;
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(v)

a voluntary liquidation or bankruptcy (or equivalent procedures under any applicable Law) of the Global Alliance Entity (except a
liquidation pursuant to Section 4.4 );

(vi)

a change in the purpose or scope of operations of the Global Alliance Entity;

(vii) a material change in the purpose or scope of operations of the Global Alliance Entity;
(viii) the approval and adoption of the Strategic Plan and any amendment thereto or deviation therefrom; and
(ix)

the adjustment of the rights and preferences of or the issuance of additional shares of capital stock or other equity interest of (or
securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of) the Global Alliance Entity (except in accordance with
Section 3 or Section 4 ).

1.4 Meetings; Quorum; Notice
(a) Agendas
Each Chairman shall prepare or direct the preparation of the agenda for, and preside over, meetings of the Board of Directors on which he
serves as Chairman. The Chairman shall deliver a preliminary version of such agenda to each representative on the Board of Directors on
which he serves as Chairman at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the giving of notice of a regular or special meeting, and any
representative on such Board of Directors may add items to such agenda. The final version of the agenda shall be included in the notice of
meeting.
(b) Timing; Notice
Each of Greif and NSC anticipate that each Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall meet at least once per quarter, or more often to
the extent required by applicable Law, for the purpose of reviewing the operating results of the business of such entity and for the
transaction of any other lawful business. Such meetings shall occur at such times as each such Board of Directors may from time to time
determine. Special meetings of any Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman of such Board of Directors
or any other member of such Board of Directors and shall be held at such place as may be determined by such Board of Directors. Written
notice of the time and place of each regular and special meeting of any Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall be given by or at
the direction of the Chairman of such Board of Directors to each representative on such Board of Directors, in the case of a regular or a
special meeting at least fifteen (15) calendar days before such meeting. Whenever notice is required to be given to any representative on
any Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors, such notice shall specify the agenda for such meeting and, to the extent appropriate, shall
be accompanied by supporting documentation. The required notice to any representative may be waived by such representative in writing.
Attendance by a representative at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of any required notice of such meeting by such representative, except
when such representative attends such meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of
any business because the meeting is not properly called or convened.
(c) Quorum for Decision-Making
The presence of a majority of the voting members of a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors (including at least two (2) members
designated by Greif and two (2) members designated by NSC), shall be required to constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business
by such Board of Directors. The
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affirmative vote of a majority of the voting members of a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall be the act of such Board of
Directors, except as otherwise required by the applicable Law or this JV Agreement. Each director shall have one (1) vote, and the
Chairman shall have a tie-breaking vote as set forth in Section 1.1 .
(d) Attendance
(i)

Each of Greif and NSC shall use its respective commercially reasonable efforts to cause the members of the Global Alliance Entity
Board of Directors nominated by it to attend meetings of such Board of Directors in person. Notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary, each representative of Greif on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall attend in person at least seventy-five
percent (75%) of the meetings that take place in a year, unless such representative is excused by NSC from attendance in person.
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, each representative of NSC on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall
attend in person at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the meetings that take place in a year, unless such representative is excused by
Greif from attendance in person.

(ii)

While each of Greif and NSC intend that the representatives on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall attend meetings of
such Boards of Directors in person, each of Greif and NSC acknowledge that representatives may from time to time be prevented
from doing so due to various circumstances. Representatives on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors may, therefore, to the
extent permitted by applicable Law, participate in and vote at a meeting of such Board of Directors by means of conference
telephone, video-conference or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can
hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 1.4(d) shall constitute presence in person at such meeting,
except where a representative participates in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the
transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not properly called or convened.

(iii) A representative of Greif or NSC on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall be allowed to participate by proxy, provided
that such representative has complied with the attendance requirement set forth in Section 1.4(d)(i) .
(e) Action by Written Consent
To the extent permitted by applicable Law, any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of any Global Alliance Entity Board
of Directors may be taken without a meeting if a written consent or resolution, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all the
representatives on such Board of Directors entitled to vote and filed with the minutes of the proceedings of such Board of Directors. Such
consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous affirmative vote of the representatives on such Board of Directors.
(f) Removal; Resignation; Vacancies
Except as otherwise provided in this JV Agreement, the representatives on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall hold office at
the pleasure of the Person that designated them. Any such Person may at any time, by written notice to each of Greif and NSC and to the
applicable Board of Directors, request the shareholders of a Global Alliance Entity to remove (with or without cause) its representative on
such Board of Directors and to appoint a new representative designated by such Person. The parties shall cause the shareholders of such
Global Alliance Entity to take any actions that may be required to
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effectuate such removal and/or appointment. Subject to applicable Law, no representative may be removed except upon instruction of the
Person designating the same. Any representative on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors may resign at any time by giving written
notice to each of Greif and NSC or other Person that requested the appointment of such representative and to such Board of Directors.
Such resignation shall take effect on the date shown on or specified in such notice or, if such notice is not dated and the date of resignation
is not specified in such notice, on the date of the receipt of such notice by the applicable Board of Directors. No acceptance of such
resignation shall be necessary to make it effective. Any vacancy on a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall be filled only by the
shareholders of such Global Alliance Entity on the nomination of the Person whose representative has caused the vacancy by giving
written notice to such Board of Directors and to each of Greif and NSC, as the case may be, of its nomination of the replacement that will
serve on the Board of Directors.
(g) No Remuneration
No person shall be entitled to any fee, remuneration or compensation from a Global Alliance Entity in connection with his service as a
representative of or as a member of a Board of Directors except (i) for reimbursement of properly authorized expenses in accordance with
such procedures as may be established by each Board of Directors, and (ii) where such remuneration payment is deemed to be
commercially appropriate for an independent director (not otherwise an Affiliate of either Greif or NSC) and necessary under applicable
Law and where each of Greif and NSC agree in advance.
1.5 Designation of CEO/CFO
(a) Election
Notwithstanding any other provisions to the contrary contained in this JV Agreement or any Constituent Document, at all times, Greif will,
after consultation with NSC, designate the CEO of each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub and NSC will, after consultation with Greif,
designate the CFO of each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub. At least seven (7) calendar days prior to the Closing, Greif will notify
NSC of its initial CEO designee and NSC will notify Greif of its initial CFO designee. The parties shall cause the shareholders of the
applicable Global Alliance Entity, at the direction of either Greif or NSC (and after consultation with Greif or NSC, as the case may be), to
appoint the CEO and to remove the CEO in the event that the CEO (1) is convicted of any criminal offense under applicable Law,
(2) becomes physically incapable of discharging his obligations as CEO, or (3) in the reasonable judgment of either Greif or NSC, is not
properly discharging his duties as CEO. The applicable Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall, at the direction of either Greif or
NSC (and after consultation with either Greif or NSC, as the case may be), remove the CFO in the event that the CFO (1) is convicted of
any criminal offense under applicable Law, (2) becomes physically incapable of discharging his obligations as CFO, or (3) in the
reasonable judgment of either Greif or NSC, is not properly discharging his duties as CFO.
Notwithstanding any other provisions to the contrary contained in this JV Agreement or any Constituent Document, at all times, Greif will,
after consultation with NSC, designate the Subsidiary CEO of each Global Alliance Subsidiary and NSC will, after consultation with
Greif, designate the Subsidiary CFO of each Global Alliance Subsidiary. At least seven (7) calendar days prior to the Closing, Greif will
notify NSC of its initial Subsidiary CEO designee and NSC will notify Greif of its initial Subsidiary CFO designee. The applicable Global
Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall, at the direction of either Greif or NSC (and after consultation with either Greif or NSC, as the
case may be), remove such Subsidiary CEO in the event that such Subsidiary CEO (1) is convicted of any criminal offense under
applicable
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Law, (2) becomes physically incapable of discharging his obligations as Subsidiary CEO, or (3) in the reasonable judgment of either Greif
or NSC, is not properly discharging his duties as Subsidiary CEO. The applicable Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors shall, at the
direction of either Greif or NSC (and after consultation with either Greif or NSC, as the case may be), remove the Subsidiary CFO in the
event that such Subsidiary CFO (1) is convicted of any criminal offense under applicable Law, (2) becomes physically incapable of
discharging his obligations as Subsidiary CFO, or (3) in the reasonable judgment of either Greif or NSC, is not properly discharging his
duties as Subsidiary CFO.
(b) Duties
The CEO of each Global Alliance Entity shall have the responsibility for managing the day-to-day operations and all external relationships
of the applicable Global Alliance Entity in accordance with the Strategic Plan and Operating Plan. The duties and responsibilities of the
CEO shall include:
(i)

making manufacturing, sourcing and network decisions, selecting outsourcers and shared services, entering into contracts with third
parties, settling claims and conducting the operations of the Global Alliance Entity in accordance with the Strategic Plan and
Operating Plan;

(ii)

managing branding, pricing and sales forces, developing products within the scope of the Global Alliance, developing or stopping the
production of products within the scope of the Global Alliance;

(iii) appointing and reviewing staff and setting compensation for staff of the Global Alliance Entity;
(iv) proposing and implementing the Strategic Plan and Operating Plan; and
(v)

taking all other actions required in the ordinary course of business that have not been specifically assigned to the Board of Directors
pursuant to this JV Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents.

The CEO of each Global Alliance Entity shall report to the Board of Directors of the applicable Global Alliance Entity. The CFO of each
Global Alliance Entity shall report to the CEO of such entity.
(c) Appointment of Global Alliance Entities Staff
The CEO shall have the authority to appoint such executive staff as he may determine is desirable in order to assist the CEO and CFO in
the performance of their duties; provided that the CFO shall have the authority to appoint non-executive staff who will report directly to
the CFO.
1.6 Fiduciary Duties
(a) Each of Greif and NSC, acting through the respective representatives appointed on each Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors on their
nomination, may, in its sole discretion, approve or decline to approve (and direct the representatives so appointed by it to approve or
decline to approve) any matter presented to such Board of Directors. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, no member of a Global
Alliance Entity Board of Directors (in his role as a member of such Board of Directors) will have a fiduciary or other duty to Greif, NSC or
their respective Affiliates or any Global Alliance Entity other than to the Person that nominated such member to be appointed to such
Board of Directors.
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(b) Subject to applicable Law, neither Greif nor any of its Affiliates nor any officer, director, employee or former employee of Greif or its
Affiliates nor any member of a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors (in either case, other than an officer of any Global Alliance
Entity) shall have any obligation, or be liable, to NSC or any Global Alliance Entity for exercising any of the rights of Greif or such
Affiliate under this JV Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which it is or will be a party, or for exercising or failing to
exercise its rights as a shareholder, member or manager of any Global Alliance Entity (other than a breach of any Transaction Document)
or for breach of any fiduciary or other similar duty to NSC or any Global Alliance Entity by reason of such conduct.
(c) Subject to applicable Law, neither NSC nor any of its Affiliates nor any officer, director, employee or former employee of NSC or its
Affiliates nor any member of a Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors (in either case, other than an officer of any Global Alliance
Entity) shall have any obligation, or be liable to Greif or any Global Alliance Entity for exercising any of the rights of NSC or such
Affiliate under this JV Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which it is or will be a party, or for exercising or failing to
exercise its rights as a shareholder, member or manager of any Global Alliance Entity (other than a breach of any Transaction Document)
or for breach of any fiduciary or other similar duty to Greif or any Global Alliance Entity by reason of such conduct.
1.7 Indemnification
Each Global Alliance Entity will provide customary indemnification for members of its Board of Directors and its executives from and
against claims that may be asserted against such member or executive in connection with managing the business and affairs of such Global
Alliance Entity, as the case may be.
1.8 Distributions
(a) Subject to actual declarations by the Board of Directors of each Global Alliance Entity and applicable Law (or subject to actual
declarations by the shareholders in the case of each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub), as promptly as practicable after the end of the
fourth fiscal quarter of each Fiscal Year, the Board of Directors of each Global Alliance Entity (or the shareholders in the case of each of
ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub) shall cause such Global Alliance Entity to distribute (i) any amounts required to pay attributable
income tax Liabilities to its respective shareholders or equity holders as the case may, and (ii) commencing no earlier than the third
anniversary of the Closing Date, at least thirty percent (30%) of its net income determined in accordance with GAAP and legally available
for distribution ( Distribution Policy ). Notwithstanding the foregoing (i) any distributions of AssetCo, ChannelCo or KSA Hub intended
to be made pursuant to the Distribution Policy shall be based on a net income calculated on a combined basis of (A) AssetCo and KSA
Hub taken together and (B) ChannelCo ( Combined Net Income ); and (ii) any such distributions of the Combined Net Income required to
be made pursuant to the Distribution Policy shall to the extent possible under applicable Law be made by ChannelCo.
(b) The Board of Directors of a Global Alliance Entity (and the shareholders in the case of each of ChannelCo, AssetCo and KSA Hub) shall
not declare any distribution if they reasonably expect that ChannelCo will not be able to distribute the Combined Net Income under
applicable Law. In such event, the Combined Net Income that is not distributed by ChannelCo during a Fiscal Year shall be included in the
calculation of the Combined Net Income to be distributed during the following Fiscal Year.
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1.9 Fiscal Year
Except as may otherwise be required by applicable Law, the Fiscal Year of each of the Global Alliance Entities shall end on October 31
of each year.
1.10 Constituent Documents Interpretation
Each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent agrees that the ChannelCo Constituent Documents, the AssetCo Constituent
Documents and the KSA Hub Constituent Documents, including their respective rights and obligations thereunder, shall at any time be
interpreted and construed in accordance with the provisions of this JV Agreement. If there is a conflict between a provision of this JV
Agreement on the one hand and a provision of the ChannelCo Constituent Documents, the AssetCo Constituent Documents and the KSA
Hub Constituent Documents on the other hand, each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent agrees to use its rights under the
ChannelCo Constituent Documents, the AssetCo Constituent Documents and the KSA Hub Constituent Documents, inter alia, as
shareholder, so as to give maximum effect to the provisions and purposes of this JV Agreement in all respects and not in a manner which
is inconsistent with this JV Agreement. If at any time, for the full implementation of this JV Agreement in all respects, the ChannelCo
Constituent Documents and/or the AssetCo Constituent Documents and/or the KSA Hub Constituent Documents need to be amended,
Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent shall, at the first request of either one, discuss the amendment of the ChannelCo Constituent
Documents and/or the AssetCo Constituent Documents and/or the KSA Hub Constituent Documents to give maximum effect to the
provisions and purposes of this JV Agreement in all respects.
2.

COOPERATION; NON-COMPETITION; BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES; EXCLUSIVITY

2.1 Strategic Plan and Operating Plan
(a)

Strategic Plan and Operating Plan
The operations of the Global Alliance shall be governed by the Strategic Plan, which Strategic Plan shall include all the Global Alliance
Entities. The budget for each Global Alliance Entity shall be governed by an Operating Plan in accordance with the Strategic Plan then in
effect.

(b)

Development and Approval of Strategic Plan
The Strategic Plan for the five (5) Fiscal Years ending October 31, 2014 shall be the Initial Strategic Plan for each Global Alliance Entity
( Initial Strategic Plan ). At least one hundred and eighty (180) calendar days prior to the end of Fiscal Year 2014 for each Global
Alliance Entity, the CEO of each such entity shall submit changes to the Strategic Plan for the subsequent five-year period to the Board of
Directors of such Global Alliance Entity for its review and approval. Each Strategic Plan shall be substantially in the form of, and address
the matters addressed in, the Strategic Plan then in effect. Prior to the end of that Fiscal Year, the Board of such Global Alliance Entity
shall vote on the approval of the Strategic Plan and obtain Parent Approval in accordance with Section 1.3(c)(viii) . The Strategic Plan
shall include high level projections of results of operations and capital requirements, underlying assumptions (including key performance
indicators) and market analyses for the five (5) Fiscal Years covered by such Plan.

(c)

Development and Approval for Operating Plan
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At least sixty (60) calendar days prior to end of each Fiscal Year, the CEO at each Global Alliance Entity shall propose a one-year
Operating Plan for such Global Alliance Entity and deliver a copy to the Board of Directors of such Global Alliance Entity. The proposed
Operating Plan for each Global Alliance Entity shall be consistent with its Strategic Plan then in effect. The Operating Plan for each Global
Alliance Entity shall include projections and budgeting with respect to revenues, operating expenses, operating cash flows, capital
expenditures, financing, market priorities and funding requirements in each case for the following Fiscal Year.
(d) Conformity with Strategic Plan and Operating Plan
Greif, NSC, the Board of Directors and the CEOs of each Global Alliance Entity shall cause the executives and employees of such Global
Alliance Entity to conduct the operations of such Global Alliance Entity in accordance with its Strategic Plan and Operating Plan and the
other Transaction Documents then in effect. In the event that the Board of Directors of a Global Alliance Entity determines that the
operations of such Global Alliance Entity do not conform or are inconsistent with its Strategic Plan and/or Operating Plan or the other
Transaction Documents then in effect, such Board of Directors shall take all actions necessary to cause the applicable Global Alliance
Entity to remedy such nonconformity.
2.2 Transfer Pricing Mechanism; EBITDA Equalization; Shared Services Fee; Acquisitions
(a) Transfer Pricing Mechanism
All sales by AssetCo to ChannelCo shall be based on a transfer price mechanism to be set forth in the Supply Agreement, which will be
based on OECD Guidelines and Greif’s Global Transfer Pricing Policy and, pursuant to the Supply Agreement, any sales by AssetCo to
third parties will only be permitted if ChannelCo shall have received (or provision shall have been made such that it will receive when
required) one hundred percent (100%) of its product requirements.
(b) EBITDA Equalization
Within forty-five (45) calendar days after the end of each financial quarter (based on monthly calculations updated through the quarter
end), the EBITDA of ChannelCo, on the one hand, and AssetCo and KSA Hub taken together, on the other hand, shall be determined and
the amount thereof shall be notified to Greif and NSC by the applicable CFO(s). If ChannelCo’s EBITDA exceeds the EBITDA of
AssetCo and KSA Hub taken together, then ChannelCo shall pay an amount equal to one half of the excess to AssetCo. If AssetCo’s
EBITDA, taken together with KSA Hub’s EBITDA, exceeds the EBITDA of ChannelCo, then AssetCo shall pay an amount equal to one
half of the excess to ChannelCo. Any payment required to be made pursuant to the preceding two sentences shall be due and payable five
(5) Business Days after the date of determination and notification. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 2.2 to the contrary,
the Global Alliance Entities with the lower EBITDA may discuss and agree with the other Global Alliance Entities alternative
arrangements to effect an equalization of EBITDA between ChannelCo on the one hand, and AssetCo and KSA Hub on the other hand.
(c) Shared Services
Each of Greif and NSC and their respective Affiliates shall provide certain services to the Global Alliance Entities, as set forth in the
Shared Services Agreement.
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(d) Acquisitions
From and after Closing. each of Greif and NSC and their respective Affiliates shall comply with Section 4.2 of the Formation Agreement
(Acquisitions).
2.3 IP Matters
(a) IP License Agreement
As set forth in the IP License Agreement, Greif Parent shall provide a license to each Global Alliance Entity for the use of Greif’s name
and the Greif Business System for use solely in the Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business and for any other business as agreed by
Greif and NSC.
(b) New Developments
Each Global Alliance Entity shall (i) cause all technological developments, inventions, discoveries or improvements by such Global
Alliance Entity’s employees or agents to be fully documented in accordance with Greif’s existing practices, (ii) cause all key employees
and consultants of such Global Alliance Entity to execute appropriate patent assignment agreements to the Global Alliance Entity and,
(iii) where possible and appropriate, to file and prosecute United States, Saudi Arabia and any foreign patent applications relating to and
protecting such developments on behalf of the Global Alliance Entities, in each case consistent with intellectual property policies
established and modified from time to time by Greif.
2.4 Exclusivity
(a) Global Alliance Scope of Activities
(i)

None of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent nor NSC nor their respective Affiliates shall, without the prior written consent of the
other, (i) during the period that it holds a direct or indirect Ownership Interest in any Global Alliance Entity, and (ii) for two (2) years
thereafter, directly or indirectly, own, manage, operate, jointly control, finance or participate in the ownership, management,
operation, control or financing of, or be connected as a partner, principal, agent, representative, consultant or otherwise with, or use
or permit its name or the name of any of its Affiliates to be used in connection with, any business or enterprise that is engaged in the
Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business anywhere in the world (the Territory ), other than through the Global Alliance.

(ii)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Greif and its Affiliates shall be permitted to continue their existing business (other than the Acquired
Businesses consisting of Storsack Holding GmbH, UNSA Ambalaj Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi, Ligtermoet B.V. and their
respective subsidiaries), and Greif, NSC and their respective Affiliates shall be permitted to hold passive ownerships of up to five
percent (5%) in publicly owned companies that engage in the Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business.

(b) NSC Scope of Activities
In connection with the activities of the Global Alliance, NSC and its Affiliates, including Dabbagh Parent, will have access to the Greif
Business System and other proprietary, confidential and other nonpublic information (including trade secrets, know how, customer lists
and employee identities)
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relating to aspects of Greif’s business that will not be conducted through the Global Alliance, including the Rigid Industrial Packaging
Business (as hereinafter defined). Because such information cannot be separated from the information relevant to the Polywoven Industrial
Packaging Business that will be conducted through the Global Alliance, Dabbagh Parent and NSC hereby agree as follows in exchange for
access to the Greif Business System and such other information:
(i)

During the term of the Global Alliance and for three (3) years after the termination of the Global Alliance, Dabbagh Parent, NSC and
their Affiliates shall not, directly or indirectly, on its or their own behalf or on behalf of another person or entity: (i) own, operate,
advise, consult, promote or assist (financially or otherwise), participate in, become employed by, or have any interest in any business
that is engaged in the same or similar business as the Rigid Industrial Packaging Business anywhere in the world; (ii) solicit, attempt
to solicit, sell or license any product or service in competition with the products or services of Greif Parent and its Affiliates to any
Customer of Greif Parent or its Affiliates; and (iii) induce, solicit or attempt to influence any employee of Greif Parent or its
Affiliates to terminate his or her employment with Greif Parent or its Affiliates, nor shall Dabbagh Parent, NSC or any of their
Affiliates, in any other manner, interfere with or attempt to interfere with, in any way, the relationship of Greif Parent and its
Affiliates with any employees, officers, managers, agents, suppliers, vendors, independent contractors, customers or otherwise. Each
of Dabbagh Parent and NSC acknowledges the territory, scope and duration of this provision to be reasonable given the nature of
Dabbagh Parent’s and NSC’s access to confidential business information of Greif Parent.

(ii)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Dabbagh Parent’s interest in Greif Saudi Arabia Ltd. at the time of execution of this JV Agreement or
any subsequent passive ownership of five percent (5%) or less in a publicly owned company that engages in the Rigid Industrial
Packaging Business and whose shares or interests are regularly traded on a recognized exchange shall not be deemed a violation of
the above stated covenants. The noncompetition period referenced above shall be tolled or suspended during any period of violation
or attempted violation by NSC or any of its Affiliates.

(iii) Rigid Industrial Packaging Business shall mean the manufacture, distribution or sale of any fibre drum, steel drum, plastic drum,
intermediate bulk container, water bottle, closure, industrial packaging accessory, load securement product, linerboard or medium
sheet, corrugated sheet or corrugated container or multi-wall bag; and the provision of services relating to industrial packaging for
blending, filling, warehousing and logistics.
(iv) Customer shall mean any current customer of Greif Parent or any of its Affiliates as of the date of termination of the Global Alliance
and any person or entity who has been a customer of Greif or any of its Affiliates at any time within two (2) years prior to that date.
(c) Enforceability
(i)

Each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC acknowledge and agree that the time, scope, geographic area and other
provisions of this Section 2.4 have been specifically negotiated by sophisticated parties and specifically agree that such time, scope,
geographic area, and other provisions are reasonable under the circumstances. Each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC
agree that if, despite this express agreement of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC, a court should hold any portion of this
Section 2.4 to be unenforceable for any reason,
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the maximum restrictions of time, scope and geographic area reasonable under the circumstances, as determined by the court, will be
substituted for the restrictions held to be unenforceable. In furtherance of the foregoing, each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent
and NSC agree that the court making the determination of invalidity or unenforceability shall have the power to reduce the duration,
or area of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision with
a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable
term or provision, and this JV Agreement shall be enforceable as so modified.
(ii)

Each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC agree that the other and each of the Global Alliance Entities shall be entitled to
preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, without the necessity of proving actual damages or posting any bond or other security,
as well as an equitable accounting of all earnings, profits and other benefits arising from any violation of this Section 2.4 , which
rights shall be cumulative and in addition to any other rights or remedies to which such Person may be entitled. Section 6 of the
Formation Agreement shall not apply to any Dispute with regard to this Section 2.4 .

2.5 Business Opportunities
(a) If any of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent or NSC becomes aware of any corporate or business opportunities relating to products
manufactured with polywoven fabric that are not within the then-current definition of the Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business,
including opportunities relating to an acquisition of a business or assets or participation interests, a purchase of an equity interest, potential
sales of new products such as HDPE sacks, dry bulk liners, leno bags and PW strapping, or other similar transactions (each a Business
Opportunity ) such entity (the Presenting Entity ) shall present such Business Opportunity to NSC (if Greif Parent or Greif is the
Presenting Entity) or Greif (if Dabbagh Parent or NSC is the Presenting Entity) in writing, together with a reasonably detailed explanation
and financial summary of such Business Opportunity that would be sufficient to the entity that is not the Presenting Entity (the NonPresenting Entity ) to reasonably evaluate such Business Opportunity. The Non-Presenting Entity shall have the right but not the
obligation to agree or consent that the applicable Global Alliance Entity can pursue such Business Opportunity (and that such Business
Opportunity becomes included in the definition of the Polywoven Industrial Packaging Business) and shall inform the Presenting Entity of
its decision within thirty (30) calendar days after the Business Opportunity is presented. If the Non-Presenting Entity informs the
Presenting Entity that it will not agree to consent to the applicable Global Alliance Entity pursuing the Business Opportunity, then the
Presenting Entity shall be entitled to individually pursue the Business Opportunity.
(b) In the event that a Global Alliance Entity has acquired a Business Opportunity through one (1) or more Acquired Businesses and the Board
of Directors of such Global Alliance Entity has determined that such Business Opportunity must be divested, such Global Alliance Entity
will offer the Business Opportunity to each of Greif and NSC. Each of Greif and NSC shall have the right but not the obligation to pursue
such Business Opportunity and shall inform the other and the applicable Global Alliance Entity of its decision within forty-five (45) days
after receipt of notice of the Business Opportunity. If each of Greif and NSC informs the applicable Global Alliance Entity that it shall not
pursue the Business Opportunity or fails to respond within such forty-five (45) day period, then the applicable Global Alliance Entity shall
be entitled to divest the Business Opportunity to a third party.
(c) In the event that the Global Alliance Entity offers the Business Opportunity to each of Greif and NSC in accordance with Section 2.5(b)
and both Greif and NSC inform the applicable Global Alliance Entity
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that they wish to pursue the Business Opportunity, then the Business Opportunity shall be carried out by such Global Alliance Entity.
3.

TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

3.1 General Restrictions
(a) Neither Greif nor NSC shall, directly or indirectly, sell, lease, contribute, exchange, transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate, encumber or
otherwise dispose of, by gift or otherwise, ( Transfer ) or permit any of its Affiliates to Transfer, any portion of its direct or indirect
Ownership Interest in any Global Alliance Entity, except for Transfers permitted by this Section 3 or Section 4 .
(b) Any attempted or actual Transfer of a direct or indirect Ownership Interest in a Global Alliance Entity in violation of this JV Agreement
shall be of no effect and null and void. Each of Greif and NSC shall use its respective commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with
the other in connection with any attempted Transfer by the other in compliance with this Section 3 .
3.2 Permitted Transfers
(a) General
Each of Greif and NSC may Transfer all or any portion of its direct or indirect Ownership Interest in a Global Alliance Entity (without
prior approval or consent of Greif or NSC (as the case may be) or any Board of Directors of any Global Alliance Entity) if:
(i)

such Transfer is made to a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of such entity, provided that the transferring entity remains responsible for all
Liabilities transferred in connection therewith;

(ii)

the continued participation of either Greif or NSC in the Global Alliance would cause any of Greif, NSC (or any of their respective
Affiliates) or any Global Alliance Entity to violate any applicable Law in any material respect, provided that the transferring entity
complies with Section 3.2(b) ;

(iii) any Governmental Authority requires either Greif or NSC to divest any portion of its direct or indirect Ownership Interest in a Global
Alliance Entity, provided that the transferring entity first takes such action as may be reasonably available to it to challenge such
order (including commencing litigation, if applicable) and has exhausted all available appeals and complies with Section 3.2(b) ;
(iv) such Transfer occurs as part of an IPO to be effected after the third anniversary of the Closing Date, provided that the transferring
entity complies with Section 3.2(c) ;
(v)

such Transfer occurs as part of a private placement offering to one or more third party investors of NSC’s direct or indirect
Ownership Interest in Dabbagh HoldCo; provided that : (i) the third party investor shall not be a direct competitor of Greif or any
Global Alliance Entity (unless otherwise mutually agreed to by Greif and NSC); (ii) Dabbagh Parent (or one of its Affiliates) shall
maintain Control of Dabbagh HoldCo following the closing of such private placement offering; (iii) the private placement would not
result in a violations of OFAC sanctions; and (iv) Greif’s consent is provided and such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
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(vi) such Transfer occurs as part of a voluntary sale of a minority interest to a bona fide third party purchaser (a Third Party Sale ),
provided that the transferring entity complies with Section 3.2(d) ; or
(vii) such Transfer is made in accordance with Section 3.2(e)(i) or Section 3.2(e)(ii) .
(b) Involuntary Transfers
If at any time (i) either Greif or NSC obtains a legal opinion from outside counsel that its continued participation in the Global Alliance
would cause it (or any of its Affiliates) or any Global Alliance Entity to violate any applicable Law in any material respect, or (ii) any
Governmental Authority requires either Greif or NSC to divest any portion of its direct or indirect Ownership Interest in a Global Alliance
Entity, then such Person seeking to Transfer an Ownership Interest (the Selling Party ) shall first be required to offer in writing all of its
Ownership Interest in each Global Alliance Entity to the other party (the Non-Selling Party ) at the greater of (i) the percentage of such
Ownership Interests relative to all outstanding Ownership Interests multiplied by the book value of the relevant Global Alliance Entity, and
(ii) the percentage of such Ownership Interests relative to all outstanding Ownership Interests multiplied by the Formula Value of the
relevant Global Alliance Entity, and on such other material terms and conditions as may be included in the written offer. The Non-Selling
Party may, at its option, either accept or reject the offer as soon as practicable after receipt thereof, and in any event within sixty
(60) calendar days after receipt thereof (the ROFO Expiration Date ). The Non-Selling Party shall have the right to accept the offer as to
all (but not less than all) of the Ownership Interest offered thereby. In the event that the Non-Selling Party shall elect to purchase such
Ownership Interest, the Non-Selling Party shall communicate in writing such election to purchase to the Selling Party on or before the
ROFO Expiration Date, and shall, when taken in conjunction with the offer, be deemed to constitute a valid, legally binding and
enforceable agreement for the sale and purchase of such Ownership Interest covered thereby. In the event that the Non-Selling Party does
not accept the offer prior to the ROFO Expiration Date, the Selling Party shall be free to sell the Ownership Interest contemplated by the
offer in a Third Party Sale on such terms and conditions as set forth in the said offer to a prospective third party purchaser who is not a
direct competitor of the Non-Selling Party or the Global Alliance at any time over the twelve (12) month period following the ROFO
Expiration Date. In the event that the Selling Party has not entered into a definitive agreement to sell all of such Person’s Ownership
Interest in the Global Alliance within twelve (12) months after the ROFO Expiration Date, such Selling Party may notify the Non-Selling
Party of its decision to dissolve the Global Alliance pursuant to Section 4 .
(c) Initial Public Offering
Either Greif or NSC may determine to effect an IPO with regard to shares in Greif HoldCo or Dabbagh HoldCo, respectively, after the
third anniversary of the Closing Date; provided that (i) if the IPO involves Greif HoldCo, then the IPO must be structured such that Greif
Parent (or one of its Affiliates) would retain Control of Greif HoldCo following consummation of the IPO and such other provisions shall
have been made (including if applicable amendments to the Transaction Documents and/or the Constituent Documents) to the reasonable
satisfaction of NSC to ensure that the governance and economic aspects of the Global Alliance will continue to function post-IPO in a
manner substantially similar to the pre-IPO status and the intentions of the parties reflected herein; (ii) if the IPO involves Dabbagh
HoldCo, then the IPO must be structured such that Dabbagh Parent (or one of its Affiliates) would retain Control of Dabbagh HoldCo
following consummation of the IPO and such other provisions shall have been made (including, if applicable, amendments to the
Transaction Documents and/or the Constituent Documents) to the reasonable satisfaction of Greif to ensure that the governance and
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economic aspects of the Global Alliance will continue to function post-IPO in a manner substantially similar to the pre-IPO status and the
intentions of the parties reflected herein.
(d) Third Party Sale
If at any time either Greif or NSC determines to effect a Third Party Sale, such Person shall only proceed with such Third Party Sale if:
(i) it receives the written consent of the Non-Selling Party to the proposed Third Party Sale (not to be unreasonably withheld); (ii) the
prospective third party purchaser is not a direct competitor of the Non-Selling Party (in the reasonable determination of the Non-Selling
Party); (iii) the Ownership Interest offered for sale is a minority interest of either Greif HoldCo or Dabbagh HoldCo, as the case may be;
(iv) if the Third Party Sale involves Greif HoldCo, then the Third Party Sale must be structured such that Greif Parent (or one of its
Affiliates) would retain Control of Greif HoldCo following consummation of the Third Party Sale and such other provisions shall have
been made (including, if applicable, amendments to the Transaction Documents and/or the Constituent Documents) to the reasonable
satisfaction of NSC to ensure that the governance and economic aspects of the Global Alliance will continue to function post-Third Party
Sale in a manner substantially similar to the pre-Third Party Sale status and the intentions of the parties reflected herein; and (v) if the
Third Party Sale involves Dabbagh HoldCo, then the Third Party Sale must be structured such that Dabbagh Parent (or one of its Affiliates)
would retain Control of Dabbagh HoldCo following consummation of the Third Party Sale and such other provisions shall have been made
(including, if applicable, amendments to the Transaction Documents and/or the Constituent Documents) to the reasonable satisfaction of
Greif to ensure that the governance and economic aspects of the Global Alliance will continue to function post-Third Party Sale in a
manner substantially similar to the pre-Third Party Sale status and the intentions of the parties reflected herein.
(e) Transfers in Violation of JV Agreement Void; Default Transfers
(i) (A) Any attempted or actual Transfer of a direct or indirect Ownership Interest in a Global Alliance Entity in violation of this JV
Agreement by Greif or one of its Affiliates shall be void ab initio and shall not be recorded in the books and records of any Global
Alliance Entity; provided that (1) all members of the Boards of Directors of each of AssetCo, ChannelCo and KSA Hub and any other
Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors appointed at the direction of Greif shall automatically be removed and the vote of such
individuals shall no longer be required in connection with any Board Ordinary Approval or Board Supermajority Approval, and (2)
NSC shall have the right (in addition to any of its other rights under this JV Agreement) to receive from Greif any proceeds Greif or
one of its Affiliates received in connection with such void attempted or actual Transfer. (B) In the case of a failure by Greif to make a
Capital Contribution or Credit Support available that is properly requested in accordance with Section 4.3 of the Formation
Agreement, NSC shall have the right (in addition to any of its other rights under this JV Agreement) but not the obligation to require
Greif to sell Greif’s direct or indirect Ownership Interests in the Global Alliance Entities to NSC at a purchase price equal to seventyfive percent (75%) of the book value of Greif’s Ownership Interests. Upon receipt of notice from NSC indicating that NSC wishes to
purchase Greif’s Ownership Interests (the Dabbagh Call Notice ), Greif shall be obligated to sell Greif’s Ownership Interests to NSC
and NSC shall be obligated to purchase Greif’s Ownership Interests from Greif. The closing on such purchase shall be within thirty
(30) calendar days after Greif’s receipt of the Dabbagh Call Notice or, if later, the fifth Business Day after the determination of the
purchase price and the receipt of any required regulatory approvals. NSC and Greif shall execute such documents and instruments as
may be necessary or appropriate to effect the foregoing pursuant to this Section 3.2(e)(i) .
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(ii) (A) Any attempted or actual Transfer of a direct or indirect Ownership Interest in a Global Alliance Entity in violation of this JV
Agreement by NSC or one of its Affiliates shall be void ab initio and shall not be recorded in the books and records of any Global
Alliance Entity; provided that (1) all members of the Boards of Directors of each of AssetCo, ChannelCo and KSA Hub and any other
Global Alliance Entity Board of Directors appointed at the direction of NSC shall automatically be removed and the vote of such
individuals shall no longer be required in connection with any Board Ordinary Approval or Board Supermajority Approval, and (2)
Greif shall have the right (in addition to any of its other rights under this JV Agreement) to receive from NSC any proceeds NSC or
any of its Affiliates received in connection with such void attempted or actual Transfer. (B) In the case of a failure by NSC to make a
Capital Contribution or Credit Support available that is properly requested in accordance with Section 4.3 of the Formation
Agreement, Greif shall have the right (in addition to any of its other rights under this JV Agreement) but not the obligation to require
NSC to sell NSC’s direct or indirect Ownership Interests in the Global Alliance Entities to Greif at a purchase price equal to seventyfive percent (75%) of the book value of NSC’s Ownership Interests. Upon receipt of notice from Greif indicating that Greif wishes to
purchase NSC’s Ownership Interests (the Greif Call Notice ), NSC shall be obligated to sell NSC’s Ownership Interests to Greif and
Greif shall be obligated to purchase NSC’s Ownership Interests from NSC. The closing on such purchase shall be within thirty
(30) calendar days after NSC’s receipt of the Greif Call Notice or, if later, the fifth Business Day after the determination of the
purchase price and the receipt of any required regulatory approvals. NSC and Greif shall execute such documents and instruments as
may be necessary or appropriate to effect the foregoing pursuant to this Section 3.2(e)(ii) .
3.3 Continuing Obligations to Make Capital Contributions
Neither a Third Party Sale nor an IPO shall release the Person that effects a Transfer from its obligations to make one hundred percent
(100%) of the Capital Contributions, and make available one hundred percent (100%) of the Credit Support, applicable to it as set forth in
the Formation Agreement and the Strategic Plan.
4.

DISSOLUTION

4.1 General
The Global Alliance shall continue without interruption indefinitely unless otherwise terminated earlier pursuant to this Section 4 ;
provided , however , that a Global Alliance Entity shall not terminate until its affairs have been wound up and its assets distributed as
provided herein.
4.2 Fault Dissolution
The Global Alliance shall terminate and each Global Alliance Entity shall be wound up and its assets distributed if either Greif or NSC
notifies the other that any of the following circumstances exists (the Termination Conditions ):
(a) either (i) the continued participation of either Greif or NSC in the Global Alliance would cause any of Greif, NSC (or any of their
respective Affiliates) or any Global Alliance Entity to violate any applicable Law in any material respect, (ii) NSC or any of its Affiliates
has become, or is likely to become, subject to OFAC sanctions or similar sanctions administered by any other relevant Governmental
Authority, or (iii) any Governmental Authority requires Greif, NSC or any of their respective Affiliates to divest any
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portion of its direct or indirect Ownership Interest in a Global Alliance Entity, and, in the case of either subclause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, no
Transfer pursuant to Section 3.2(b) is capable of being effected; or
(b) (A) a Default Event has occurred with respect to either Greif or NSC (or any of their respective Affiliates), excluding an event under
clauses (c), (d), (e) or (f) under the definition of Default Event (a Bankruptcy Event ); or (B) a Bankruptcy Event occurs with respect to
either Greif or NSC (or any of their respective Affiliates that represents 10% or more of the total assets or total revenues of its respective
corporate group).
4.3 Termination
(a) Termination Condition Date
Not later than forty (40) calendar days after a Termination Condition exists (the Termination Condition Date ) each of Greif and NSC
shall proceed to terminate the Global Alliance and wind up each Global Alliance Entity.
(b) Global Alliance Sale Procedure; Commercially Reasonable Efforts
Except as expressly stated otherwise, the approval requirements set forth in Sections 1.3(a) , Section 1.3(b) and 1.3(c) hereof shall not be
applicable to the implementation of the arrangements set forth in this Section 4.3(b) . Each of Greif and NSC shall use its respective
commercially reasonable efforts to sell each Global Alliance Entity as a going concern to a third party that is not a direct competitor of
either Greif or NSC or to either of Greif or NSC and to obtain any necessary Governmental Approvals required to effect such sales. To
facilitate such sales, each of Greif and NSC shall consent to the selection of an investment banking firm to manage any such sales in such a
manner as to maximize the value of such entities for each of Greif and NSC and to provide indemnities and other protections for each of
Greif and NSC from post-sale Liabilities of the Global Alliance Entities, including with respect to post-closing environmental and
decommissioning matters. In the event that Greif and NSC have not completed the sales of all of the Global Alliance Entities individually
within three (3) years after the Termination Condition Date (the Sale Period ), each Global Alliance Entity that has not been sold shall be
liquidated pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 4.4 .
4.4 Liquidation
(a) Appointment of Liquidator; Responsibilities
Upon the required liquidation of a Global Alliance Entity in accordance with Section 4.3(b) , the Board of Directors of each such Global
Alliance Entity shall select a Person to be the liquidator of such Global Alliance Entity (the Liquidator ). In the event any such Board of
Directors cannot unanimously agree on the Liquidator, the CEO of each of Greif and NSC (or such CEOs’ representatives) shall jointly
select the Liquidator for such Global Alliance Entity. In the event that liquidation is for KSA Hub, then shareholders of KSA Hub shall
jointly select the Liquidator for KSA Hub. In the event that liquidation is for ChannelCo or AssetCo and the Person selected as Liquidator
is not a member of the Board of Directors of such entity, then the shareholders of such entity shall resolve to appoint the selected Person as
Liquidator for such entity. The Liquidator shall not resign at any time without twenty (20) calendar days’ prior written notice and may only
be removed by unanimous approval of the applicable Board of Directors, or, in the event of a failure to obtain such unanimous approval,
then jointly by the CEO of each of Greif and NSC (or such CEOs’ representatives), unless otherwise provided for by Law as applicable to
the subject Global Alliance Entity. Upon dissolution, resignation, or removal of the
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Liquidator, a successor and substitute Liquidator (who shall have and succeed to all rights, powers, and obligations of the original
Liquidator) shall, within forty (40) calendar days thereafter, be selected by the unanimous approval of the applicable Board of Directors.
To the extent permissible by Law as applicable to the subject Global Alliance Entity, the Liquidator shall, subject to providing adequate
reserves, distribute any assets (including Unrealized Appreciation) among the owners of such Global Alliance Entity, provided , however ,
that neither Greif nor NSC may receive an amount in excess of its positive capital account balance with respect to each entity that may be
taxed as a partnership under United States Laws. If any assets still remain in such Global Alliance Entity, the Liquidator shall liquidate
such assets and apply and distribute the proceeds of such liquidation in the following order and priority, to the maximum extent permitted
by Law:
(i) first, to creditors of such Global Alliance Entity (including owners thereof to the extent permitted by Law) in satisfaction of the Global
Alliance Entity’s known debts and Liabilities (whether by payment or the making of provision for the known amount thereof);
(ii) second, to repay all costs incurred by such Global Alliance Entity in connection with the liquidation proceedings; and
(iii) third, to the owners of such Global Alliance Entity, pro rata in accordance with the positive balances of their respective capital
accounts in the event the entity is taxed as a partnership under United States Laws, or in accordance with their Ownership Interests for
all other entities.
(b) Distribution in Trust
Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.4(a) requiring the liquidation of the assets of a Global Alliance Entity (but subject to the order
of priorities set forth therein) and if permitted under the Laws of the jurisdiction where the relevant Global Alliance Entity is incorporated,
in the discretion of the Liquidator, a pro rata portion of the distributions that would otherwise be made to the owners of such Global
Alliance Entity pursuant to Section 4.4(a) hereof may be:
(i) distributed to a trust established for the benefit of the owners for the purposes of liquidating the Global Alliance Entity’s assets,
collecting amounts owed to the Global Alliance Entity, and paying any contingent or unforeseen Liabilities or obligations of the
Global Alliance Entity or of the owners arising out of or in connection with the Global Alliance Entity. The assets of any such trust
shall be distributed to the owners from time to time, in the reasonable discretion of the Liquidator, in the same proportions as the
amount distributed to such trust by the Global Alliance Entity that would otherwise have been distributed to the owners of the Global
Alliance Entity pursuant to this JV Agreement; or
(ii) withheld to provide a reasonable reserve of the Global Alliance Entity’s Liabilities (contingent or otherwise) and to reflect the
unrealized portion of any installment obligations owed to the Global Alliance Entity, provided that such withheld amount shall be
distributed to the owners of such Global Alliance Entity as soon as practicable.
4.5 Continuing Obligations to Make Capital Contributions
A Termination Condition shall extinguish, without any further Liability, all further obligations to make Capital Contributions, or to make
available Credit Support, pursuant to the Strategic Plan of each of Greif and NSC, except that each of Greif and NSC shall remain liable
for any obligation that existed prior to the occurrence of a Termination Condition.
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5.

MISCELLANEOUS

5.1 Confidentiality
(a) Covenant of Confidentiality . Except as may be required by applicable Law, each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC shall
treat all Confidential Information of each other and any Global Alliance Entity that is obtained in connection with participation in the
Global Alliance, and not otherwise known to them or already in the public domain (other than through a breach by any Person of any duty
or obligation of confidentiality), as confidential.
(b) No Disclosure or Unauthorized Use of Confidential Information . Each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC acknowledge that
the Confidential Information described in Section 5.1(a) is a valuable and unique asset and covenants that it will not allow the disclosure of
any such Confidential Information to any Person, other than its advisors (who shall receive such Confidential Information with no right to
disclose the same or use it except for the same use as permitted to the disclosing party), for any reason whatsoever, unless such information
is in the public domain through no wrongful act of such disclosing party or such disclosure is required by Law. Neither Greif Parent, Greif,
Dabbagh Parent nor NSC shall use the Confidential Information described in Section 5.1(a) in any manner or for any purpose except as
expressly permitted by the other or the Global Alliance Entity that owns the Confidential Information or from which it was obtained.
(c) Affiliates . The terms of this Section 5.1 shall apply to any Affiliate of Greif Parent or Dabbagh Parent to the same extent as if such
Affiliate were either Greif Parent or Dabbagh Parent, and each of Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent shall take whatever actions may be
necessary to cause any of its Affiliates to adhere to the terms of this Section 5.1 .
(d) Injunctive Relief .
(i) In the event of any breach or threatened breach by Greif Parent or Greif of any provision of this Section 5.1 , NSC shall be entitled to
injunctive or other equitable relief, restraining Greif Parent and Greif from using or disclosing any Confidential Information, in whole
or in part, or from engaging in conduct that would constitute a breach of their obligations under this Section 5.1 . Such relief shall be in
addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies that may be available, including an action for the recovery of damages.
(ii) In the event of any breach or threatened breach by Dabbagh Parent or NSC of any provision of this Section 5.1 , Greif shall be entitled
to injunctive or other equitable relief, restraining Dabbagh Parent and NSC from using or disclosing any Confidential Information, in
whole or in part, or from engaging in conduct that would constitute a breach of the obligations of their obligations under this Section
5.1 . Such relief shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies that may be available, including an action for the recovery
of damages.
5.2 Compliance with Agreement
Each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent shall, and shall cause its respective employees and agents to, take all actions as a
shareholder or director or officer of any other entity that is required to cause any other entity to conduct its business and to take such
actions as shall be necessary in order to effect this JV Agreement, the Transactions or the Transaction Documents.
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5.3 Compliance with Laws
(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this JV Agreement or any other Transaction Document, from and after the Closing,
each of Greif and NSC and their respective Affiliates (which Affiliates are directly or indirectly engaged in the Polywoven Industrial
Packaging Business) and each Global Alliance Entity and each Global Alliance Subsidiary shall comply with the requirements of all Laws
applicable to each respective party in all material respects and shall make such filings, take such actions, refrain from such actions and
otherwise provide all cooperation as may reasonably be requested by the affected party from time to time to ensure that neither Greif nor
NSC nor their respective Affiliates (including the Global Alliance Entities and Global Alliance Subsidiaries) is in violation of any Law
applicable to them (including by reason of their ownership in any Global Alliance Entity or Global Alliance Subsidiary) and to the extent
that the exercise of any right or fulfillment of any obligation under this JV Agreement would cause Greif or NSC, their respective
Affiliates or a Global Alliance Entity or Global Alliance Subsidiary to violate any applicable Law in any material respect, then such right
will be exercised or such obligation will be complied with only to the extent that (i) applicable Law will not be so violated and (ii) such is
in accordance with each of Greif’s and NSC’s compliance policies, including the Joint Venture Compliance Policy.
(b) Each of Greif and NSC shall formally adopt, implement and from time to time amend the Joint Venture Compliance Policy and shall
cooperate in good faith to develop and implement any other appropriate compliance policies designed to ensure that the Global Alliance,
each Global Alliance Entity, each Global Alliance Subsidiary and NSC and its Affiliates in connection with their direct or indirect
participation in the Global Alliance, complies in all material respects with all applicable Laws, including anti-terrorism sanctions and Laws
concerning worker health and safety, environmental protection, anti-corruption, anti-boycott and anti-money-laundering and shall
implement and maintain adequate internal financial and management controls and procedures to monitor, audit, detect and prevent the
violation of such applicable Laws. Greif shall from time to time provide NSC and each Global Alliance Entity with information concerning
applicable U.S. anti-bribery and anti-corruption Laws and the sanctions programs administered by OFAC; the parties agree that such
provision of information shall not be construed as providing legal advice to NSC.
(c) No Applicable Person shall violate any anti-bribery or anti-corruption Laws, nor shall any Applicable Person, directly or indirectly, offer,
pay, promise to pay, or authorize a Prohibited Payment to any Government Official or to any person under circumstances where such
Applicable Person knew or was aware of a reasonable probability that all or a portion of such money or thing of value would be offered,
given or promised, directly or indirectly, to any Government Official, for the purpose of:
(i) either influencing any act or decision of such Government Official in his official capacity, inducing such Government Official to do or
omit to do any act in relation to his lawful duty, securing any improper advantage, or inducing such Government Official to influence
or affect any act or decision of any Governmental Authority or instrumentality; or
(ii) assisting Greif, NSC, any Global Alliance Entity, any Global Alliance Subsidiary or any of their respective Affiliates in obtaining or
retaining business for or with, or directing business to any of them.
(iii) each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent agrees to promptly report to the others any Prohibited Payment made in
connection with the Global Alliance, any Global Alliance
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Entity or any Global Alliance Subsidiary of which any of them obtains knowledge or has reasonable grounds to believe has occurred.
(d) No Relevant Person shall engage directly or indirectly in transactions connected with any government, country, or other entity or Person
that is the target of or subject to sanctions administered by OFAC or any other relevant Governmental Authority, including all entities
owned by any Persons identified on the SDN List. No Relevant Person is any such Person or entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, NSC
and its Affiliates may engage in transactions with (i) countries or governments that are subject to sanctions administered by OFAC or any
other relevant Governmental Authority and (ii) Persons identified on OFAC’s SDN List solely due to their being owned or controlled by a
government that is subject to OFAC sanctions under a “country regime” (rather than a “bad actor” regime), provided that : (x) such
activities do not violate laws applicable to NSC or its Affiliates, (y) such activities are wholly unrelated to any of Greif or its Affiliates, the
Global Alliance, any Global Alliance Entity or any Global Alliance Subsidiary and do not contravene the Joint Venture Compliance Policy
and (z) such activities do not constitute the predominant share of the business activities (as constituted by revenues generated) of NSC or
Dabbagh Parent or result in NSC or Dabbagh Parent materially acting on behalf of such Persons, countries or governments. Each of Greif,
NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent agrees to promptly report to the others upon obtaining knowledge or having reasonable grounds to
believe that a Relevant Person has become or is likely to become the target of any such sanctions which may be grounds for termination of
the Global Alliance pursuant to Section 4.2(a) of this JV Agreement.
5.4 Notices
All notices that are required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be sufficient if personally delivered or sent by email,
registered or certified mail, facsimile message or internationally recognized courier service. Any notices shall be deemed given upon the
earlier of the date when received at, or the third Business Day after the date when sent by an internationally recognized courier service, or
the day after the date when sent by email to or facsimile to, the address or facsimile number set forth below, unless such address or
facsimile number is changed by notice to the other parties, and shall be delivered by hand or courier service, mailed or sent by email,
graphic scanning or other telegraphic communications equipment of the sending party, as follows:
Greif:
Greif International Holding Supra C.V.
Bergseweg 6, 3633 AK Vreeland
The Netherlands
Attn: SBU Controller
Fax: +31 294 232 441
with required copies (which copies shall not constitute notice) to:
Greif, Inc.
425 Winter Road
Delaware, OH 43015
Attn: President
Fax: +1 740 549 6101
and
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Greif, Inc.
425 Winter Road
Delaware, OH 43015
Attn: General Counsel
Fax: +1 740 549 6101
and
Allen & Overy LLP
1221 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10020
Attn: Eric S. Shube
email: eric.shube@allenovery.com
Fax: +1 212 610 6399
Greif Parent:
Greif, Inc.
425 Winter Road
Delaware, OH 43015
Attn: President
Fax: +1 740 549 6101
with a required copy (which copy shall not constitute notice) to:
Greif, Inc.
425 Winter Road
Delaware, OH 43015
Attn: General Counsel
Fax: +1 740 549 6101
and
Allen & Overy LLP
1221 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10020
Attn: Eric S. Shube
email: eric.shube@allenovery.com
Fax: +1 212 610 6399
NSC:
National Scientific Company Limited
P.O. Box 1039
Jeddah 21431
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Attn: M H Jazeel
email: jazeel@dabbagh.com
Fax: +966 2 669 6184
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with required copies (which copies shall not constitute notice) to:
Dabbagh Group Holding Company Limited
P.O. Box 1039
Jeddah 21431
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Attn: M H Jazeel
email: jazeel@dabbagh.com
Fax: +966 2 669 6184
and
Legal Advisors, In Association with Baker & McKenzie
Olayan Complex
Tower II, 3rd Floor
Riyadh 11491
Saudi Arabia
Attn: George Sayen
email: george.sayen@bakermckenzie.com
Fax: +966 1 291 5571
Dabbagh Parent:
Dabbagh Group Holding Company Limited
P.O. Box 1039
Jeddah 21431
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Attn: M H Jazeel
email: jazeel@dabbagh.com
Fax: +966 2 669 6184
with a required copy (which copy shall not constitute notice) to:
Legal Advisors, In Association with Baker & McKenzie
Olayan Complex
Tower II, 3rd Floor
Riyadh 11491
Saudi Arabia
Attn: George Sayen
email: george.sayen@bakermckenzie.com
Fax: +966 1 291 5571
5.5 Governing Law; Jurisdiction
(a) This JV Agreement, any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this JV Agreement (and any Disputes arising out
of or related hereto or to the Transactions or to the inducement of any party to enter herein, whether for breach of contract, tortious conduct
or otherwise and whether predicated on common law, statute or otherwise), shall in all respects be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of England and Wales, including all matters of construction, validity and performance, in each case without
reference to any conflict of law rules that might lead to the
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application of the laws of another jurisdiction. The English courts have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any Dispute arising out of or in
connection with this JV Agreement (including a Dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with
this JV Agreement) and each of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts, for the purposes of any Proceeding.
(b) Each of Greif Parent and Greif irrevocably appoints Grief UK Limited, Business Unit Manager of Merseyside Works, of Oil Sites Road,
Ellesmere Port, Cheshire CH65 4EZ as their agent in England for service of process.
(c) Each of Dabbagh Parent and NSC irrevocably appoints Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited, of 100 Wood Street, London EC2V
7EX as their agent in England for service of process.
(d) Each of Greif (on behalf of Greif and its Affiliates) and NSC (on behalf of NSC and its Affiliates) irrevocably and unconditionally waives,
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any objection to the laying of venue of any such Proceeding in English courts, and
hereby and thereby further irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such court that any such
Proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inappropriate or inconvenient forum.
(e) Each of Greif (on behalf of Greif and its Affiliates) and NSC (on behalf of NSC and its Affiliates) irrevocably and unconditionally waives,
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in any Proceeding arising, directly or indirectly,
out of or relating to this JV Agreement, any other Transaction Document or the transactions contemplated herein or therein and for any
counterclaim therein (in each case whether based on contract, tort or any other theory and whether predicated on common law, statute or
otherwise). Each of Greif (on behalf of Greif and its Affiliates) and NSC (on behalf of NSC and its Affiliates) (1) certifies that no
representative, agent or attorney of any other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event of
a Proceeding, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver, and (2) acknowledges that it and the other parties have been induced to enter into this
JV Agreement by, amongst other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this clause.
5.6 Severability
If any provision of this JV Agreement shall be held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent
agree that such provision will be enforced to the maximum extent permissible so as to effect the intent of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and
Dabbagh Parent and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this JV Agreement shall not in any way be
affected or impaired thereby. If necessary to effect the intent of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent, each of Greif, NSC, Greif
Parent and Dabbagh Parent will negotiate in good faith to amend this JV Agreement to replace the unenforceable language with
enforceable language that as closely as possible reflects such intent.
5.7 Amendments
This JV Agreement may be modified only by a written amendment signed by each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent.
28

5.8 Waiver
Any term or provision of this JV Agreement may be waived at any time by the Person entitled to the benefit thereof by a written
instrument duly executed by such Person. The waiver by Greif, NSC, Greif Parent or Dabbagh Parent of any instance of another Person’s
noncompliance with any obligation or responsibility herein shall be in writing and signed by the waiving Person and shall not be deemed
a waiver of other instances of such other Person’s noncompliance.
5.9 Counterparts
This JV Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be binding as of the date first written above, and all
of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. Each such copy shall be deemed an original, and it shall not be necessary in
making proof of this JV Agreement to produce or account for more than one such counterpart.
5.10 Entire Agreement
The provisions of this JV Agreement set forth the entire agreement and understanding among each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and
Dabbagh Parent as to the formation of the Global Alliance and supersede all prior agreements, oral or written, and all other prior
communications between Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent relating to the formation of such Global Alliance, other than the
other Transaction Documents.
5.11 No Assignment; No Third Party Beneficiaries
This JV Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the respective heirs, legal representatives,
successors and permitted assigns of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent. Nothing in this JV Agreement shall confer any rights
upon any Person other than Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and
permitted assigns, except as provided in this Section 5.11 . None of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent shall assign this JV
Agreement, or any right, benefit or obligation hereunder. Any attempted assignment of this JV Agreement in violation of this Section 5.11
shall be void and of no effect.
5.12 Publicity
Each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent shall consult in good faith with each other with a view to agreeing upon any press
release or public announcement relating to the Transactions or by the other Transaction Documents prior to the consummation thereof.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, each party may make any public disclosures required by Law or stock exchange regulation, but will make
commercially reasonable efforts to give the other parties an opportunity to review any such disclosure prior to release (to the extent
practicable).
5.13 Construction
This JV Agreement has been negotiated by Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent and their respective counsel and shall be fairly
interpreted in accordance with its terms and without any strict construction in favor of or against any of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and
Dabbagh Parent.
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5.14 Disclaimer of Agency
Except for provisions herein expressly authorizing one (1) Person to act for another, this JV Agreement shall not constitute any of Greif,
NSC, Greif Parent or Dabbagh Parent as a legal representative or agent of another party, nor shall any of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and
Dabbagh Parent have the right or authority to assume, create or incur any Liability or any obligation of any kind, expressed or implied,
against or in the name or on behalf of another party or any of its Affiliates or any of the Global Alliance Entities unless otherwise
expressly permitted by each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent.
5.15 Relationship of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC
Nothing contained in this JV Agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership entity among any of Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent
and NSC or any of their Affiliates.
5.16 Language
Each of Greif, NSC, Greif Parent and Dabbagh Parent have negotiated this JV Agreement in, and the definitive version of this JV
Agreement shall be in, the English language and all communications relating hereto shall be in the English language.
5.17 Interpretation and Construction of this JV Agreement
The definitions in Annex 1 to the Formation Agreement shall apply equally to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined.
Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words
“include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation.” Unless the context shall require
otherwise, the word “or” shall be inclusive and not exclusive. All references herein to Articles, Sections, Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules
shall be deemed to be references to Articles and Sections of, and Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules to, this JV Agreement unless the
context shall otherwise require. The table of contents and the headings of the Articles and Sections are inserted for convenience of
reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the meaning or interpretation of this JV Agreement. Unless the context shall
otherwise require, any reference to any agreement or other instrument or statute or regulation is to such agreement, instrument, statute or
regulation as amended and supplemented from time to time (and, in the case of a statute or regulation, to any successor provision). Any
reference in this JV Agreement to a “day” or a number of “days” (without the explicit qualification of “Business”) shall be interpreted as a
reference to a calendar day or number of calendar days. If any action or notice is to be taken or given on or by a particular calendar day,
and such calendar day is not a Business Day, then such action or notice shall be deferred until, or may be taken or given, on the next
Business Day. In the event of a conflict between any provision of a Transaction Document (other than this JV Agreement) and any
provision of this JV Agreement, each of Greif, Greif Parent, Dabbagh Parent and NSC agree to cause the provision of the Transaction
Document to be amended to conform to the relevant provision of this JV Agreement to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law.
Unless otherwise noted, all references in this JV Agreement to “$” shall refer to U.S. Dollars.
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SIGNATORIES
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , Greif Parent, Greif, Dabbagh Parent and NSC have caused their respective duly authorized officers to execute
this JV Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

GREIF, INC.
By: /s/ Michael J. Gasser
Name: Michael J. Gasser
Title: Chairman & CEO
GREIF INTERNATIONAL HOLDING SUPRA C.V.
By:

Greif CV-Management LLC

By: /s/ Michael J. Gasser
Name: Michael J. Gasser
Title: Chairman
NATIONAL SCIENTIFIC COMPANY LIMITED
By: /s/ Waheed Ahmed Shaikh
Name: Waheed Ahmed Shaikh
Title: COO
DABBAGH GROUP HOLDING COMPANY
LIMITED
By: /s/ Mohamed Husnee Jazeel
Name: Mohamed Husnee Jazeel
Title: CFO
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SALE AGREEMENT
This SALE AGREEMENT, dated as of December 8, 2008 (this “ Agreement ”), by and between GREIF PACKAGING LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (“ GP ”), and each other entity from time to time party hereto as an Originator (each, an “ Originator ” and
collectively, the “ Originators ”), and GREIF RECEIVABLES FUNDING LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ SPV ”). The
parties hereto agree as follows:
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, in the ordinary course of its business, the Originators acquire and originate, from time to time, Receivables and related rights
arising pursuant to certain Contracts between the Originators and various Obligors;
WHEREAS, Grief, Inc. (“ Greif ”) owns all of the outstanding membership interests of the SPV;
WHEREAS, the Originators wish to sell, contribute or otherwise convey certain Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets to the SPV, from
time to time, and the SPV is willing to purchase or otherwise acquire Receivables and Related Assets from the Originators, on the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth herein;
WHEREAS, the Originators and the SPV intend the conveyances effected hereunder to be true sales or contributions, as the case may be, of
Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets (including all of the Originators’ rights, titles and interests in and to any related Contracts) by the
Originators to the SPV, providing the SPV with the full benefits of ownership of the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets, and the
Originators and the SPV do not intend the conveyances effected hereunder to be characterized as loans from the SPV to the Originators;
WHEREAS, the Originators and the SPV acknowledge that a lien and security interest in the Conveyed Receivables and certain of the
Related Assets sold, contributed or otherwise conveyed by the Originators to the SPV hereunder will be granted and assigned by the SPV
pursuant to the Second Tier Agreement (as hereinafter defined) and the related Transaction Documents to Bank of America, National
Association, as Agent, on behalf of the Secured Parties;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, other good and valuable consideration, and the mutual terms and covenants
contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
SECTION 1.1 Definitions . All capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings specified herein or, if not so specified, the meaning
specified in, or incorporated by reference into, the Second Tier Agreement (all such meanings to be equally applicable to the singular and plural
forms of the terms defined). As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“ Asset Purchase Price ” is defined in Section 3.1(a) .
“ Conveyed Receivable ” shall mean each Receivable sold by an Originator to the SPV in accordance with Section 2.1 .
“ Deferred Purchase Price ” is defined in Section 3.1(b) .
“ Initial Purchase ” is defined in Section 2.1(a) .
“ Initial Purchase Date ” shall mean the Closing Date or such later date as the parties hereto shall agree.
“ Minimum Capital Test ” shall mean a test that is satisfied on any day when (a) the Aggregate Unpaid Balance minus (b) the Net
Investment minus (c) the then outstanding aggregate Deferred Purchase Price is equal to or greater than $5,000,000.
“ Originator Indemnified Amounts ” is defined in Section 8.1 .
“ Originator Indemnified Parties ” is defined in Section 8.1 .
“ Originators ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereto.
“ Permitted Payments ” is defined in Section 3.2(b) .
“ Purchase ” shall mean, as the context may require, the Initial Purchase or a Subsequent Purchase.
“ Purchase Date ” shall mean the Initial Purchase Date or a Subsequent Purchase Date, as the context may require.
“ Purchase Termination Date ” is defined in Section 7.1 .
“ Related Assets ” shall mean, with respect to each Receivable:
(A) any Returned Goods and documentation or title evidencing the shipment or storage of any goods relating to any sale giving rise to
such Receivable;
(B) all other security interests or liens and property subject thereto from time to time, if any, purporting to secure payment of such
Receivable, whether pursuant to the related Contract or otherwise, together with all financing statements and other filings authorized by an
Obligor relating thereto;
(C) all guarantees, indemnities, warranties, letters of credit, insurance policies and proceeds and premium refunds thereof and other
agreements or arrangements of any kind from time to time supporting or securing payment of such Receivable, whether pursuant to the
Contract related to such Receivable or otherwise;
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(D) all records, instruments, documents and other agreements (including any Contract with respect thereto) related to such Receivable;
(E) all Collections with respect to such Receivable; and
(F) all proceeds of the foregoing.
“ Retained Receivable ” shall mean a Receivable owed by any of the Obligors listed on Schedule IV hereto.
“ Returned Goods ” means all right, title and interest of any Originator in and to returned, repossessed or foreclosed goods and/or
merchandise the sale of which gave rise to a Receivable.
“ Second Tier Agreement ” means the Transfer and Administration Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2008, by and among the SPV, the
Originators, GP, as initial Servicer, YC SUSI Trust, as a Conduit Investor and Uncommitted Investor, Bank of America, National Association,
as the Agent, a Managing Agent, an Administrator and a Committed Investor, and the various Investor Groups, Managing Agents and
Administrators from time to time parties thereto.
“ Senior Obligations ” means all Aggregate Unpaids which may now or hereafter be owing by the SPV to the Agent and the other Secured
Parties.
“ Solvent ” means “ Solvent ” means, with respect to any Person at any time, a condition under which:
(i) the fair value and present fair saleable value of such Person’s total assets is, on the date of determination, greater than such Person’s
total liabilities (including contingent and unliquidated liabilities) at such time;
(ii) such Person is and shall continue to be able to pay all of its liabilities as such liabilities mature; and
(iii) such Person does not have unreasonably small capital with which to engage in its current and in its anticipated business.
For purposes of this definition:
(A) the amount of a Person’s contingent or unliquidated liabilities at any time shall be that amount which, in light of all the facts and
circumstances then existing, represents the amount which can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability;
(B) the “fair value” of an asset shall be the amount which may be realized within a reasonable time either through collection or sale of
such asset at its regular market value;
(C) the “regular market value” of an asset shall be the amount which a capable and diligent business person could obtain for such asset
from an interested buyer who is willing to purchase such asset under ordinary selling conditions; and
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(D) the “present fair saleable value” of an asset means the amount which can be obtained if such asset is sold with reasonable promptness in
an arm’s length transaction in an existing and not theoretical market.
“ SPV ” shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble hereto.
“ Subordinated Obligations ” means all obligations which may now or hereafter be owing by the SPV to each Originator and its successors
or assigns (including the obligation to pay the purchase price of any Receivable and interest thereon).
“ Subsequent Purchase ” shall mean each Purchase other than the Initial Purchase.
“ Subsequent Purchase Date ” shall mean the date of any Subsequent Purchase.
SECTION 1.2 Other Terms . All terms defined directly or by incorporation herein shall have the defined meanings when used in any
certificate or other document delivered pursuant thereto unless otherwise defined therein. For purposes of this Agreement and all such
certificates and other documents, unless the context otherwise requires: (a) accounting terms not otherwise defined herein, and accounting
terms partly defined herein to the extent not defined, shall have the respective meanings given to them under, and shall be construed in
accordance with, GAAP; (b) terms used in Article 9 of the UCC in the State of New York, and not specifically defined herein, are used herein
as defined in such Article 9; (c) references to any amount as on deposit or outstanding on any particular date means such amount at the close of
business on such day; (d) the words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import refer to this Agreement (or the certificate
or other document in which they are used) as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement (or such certificate or document);
(e) references to any Section, Schedule or Exhibit are references to Sections, Schedules and Exhibits in or to this Agreement (or the certificate
or other document in which the reference is made) and references to any paragraph, subsection, clause or other subdivision within any Section
or definition refer to such paragraph, subsection, clause or other subdivision of such Section or definition; (f) the term “including” means
“including without limitation”; (g) references to any law or regulation refer to that law or regulation as amended from time to time and include
any successor law or regulation; (h) references to any agreement refer to that agreement as from time to time amended or supplemented or as
the terms of such agreement are waived or modified in accordance with its terms; (i) references to any Person include that Person’s successors
and assigns; (j) headings are for purposes of reference only and shall not otherwise affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision hereof;
and (k) each reference to “ Originator ” herein refers severally to each of the Originators as to itself and the Receivables and Related Assets
owned by it from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Related Assets” as used herein excludes the SPV’s rights under this
Agreement.
SECTION 1.3 Computation of Time Periods . Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement, in the computation of a period of time from a
specified date to a later specified date, the word “from” means “from and including” and the words “to” and “until” each means “to but
excluding.”
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ARTICLE II
SALE AND PURCHASE OF RECEIVABLES
SECTION 2.1 Sale . (a) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, each of the Originators hereby sells to the SPV on the
Initial Purchase Date, and the SPV hereby purchases from each of the Originators on the Initial Purchase Date, all of each Originator’s right,
title and interest, in, to and under each and every Receivable (other than any Retained Receivable) existing at the opening of each Originator’s
business on the Initial Purchase Date, together with all other Related Assets and all proceeds thereof, whether such Related Assets or proceeds
relating thereto exist at such time or arise or are acquired thereafter. The foregoing purchase and sale are herein sometimes collectively called
the “ Initial Purchase ”.
(b) On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, each of the Originators hereby sells to the SPV effective as of each
Subsequent Purchase Date, and the SPV hereby purchases from each of the Originators effective as of each Subsequent Purchase Date, each
Receivable (other than any Retained Receivable), together with all Related Assets and all proceeds thereof, whether such Related Assets or
proceeds relating thereto exist at such time or arise or are acquired thereafter, arising after the Initial Purchase Date and through and including
the Termination Date, provided that notwithstanding the foregoing, no Originator shall have an obligation to sell to the SPV any Receivable or
Related Assets under this Agreement if immediately prior thereto SPV is not solvent.
SECTION 2.2 Intent of the Parties; Grant of Security Interest . (a) The Originators and the SPV intend that the sale, assignment and transfer
of the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets to the SPV hereunder shall be treated as a sale for all purposes, other than federal and state
income tax purposes. If notwithstanding the intent of the parties, the sale, assignment and transfer of the Conveyed Receivables and Related
Assets to the SPV is not treated as a sale for all purposes, other than federal and state income tax purposes, then (i) this Agreement also is
intended by the parties to be, and hereby is, a security agreement within the meaning of the UCC, and (ii) the sale, assignment and transfer of
the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets provided for in this Agreement shall be treated as the grant of, and the Originators hereby grant
to the SPV, a security interest in the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets to secure the payment and performance of the Originators’
obligations to the SPV hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents or as may be determined in connection therewith by applicable
Law. The Originators and the SPV shall, to the extent consistent with this Agreement, take such actions as may be necessary to ensure that, if
this Agreement were deemed to create a security interest in, and not to constitute a sale of, the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets, such
security interest would be deemed to be a perfected security interest in favor of the SPV under applicable Law and shall be maintained as such
throughout the term of this Agreement.
(b) The Originators hereby grant to the SPV a security interest in the Blocked Accounts as additional collateral to secure the payment and
performance of the Originators’ obligations to the SPV hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents or as may be determined in
connection therewith by applicable Law, and shall take such actions as may be necessary to ensure that such security interest would be deemed
to be a perfected security interest in favor of the SPV under applicable Law and shall be maintained as such throughout the term of this
Agreement.
5

SECTION 2.3 No Recourse . Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, the purchase and sale of the Conveyed Receivables and
Related Assets under this Agreement shall be without recourse to any Originator.
SECTION 2.4 No Assumption of Obligations . The SPV shall not have any obligation or liability with respect to any Conveyed
Receivables, Contracts or other Related Assets, nor shall the SPV have any obligation or liability to any Obligor or other customer or client of
any Originator (including without limitation any obligation to perform any of the obligations of any Originator under any Conveyed
Receivables, Contracts or other Related Assets).
SECTION 2.5 UCC Filing . The Originators shall record and file, at their own expense, any financing statements (and continuation
statements with respect to such financing statements when applicable) with respect to the Conveyed Receivables and the Related Assets then
existing and thereafter created (and, in any case, conveyed to the SPV hereunder) for the transfer and grant, as applicable, of accounts,
equipment, instruments, chattel paper and general intangibles (as defined in the UCC) meeting the requirements of applicable state law in such
manner and in such jurisdictions as are reasonably requested by the SPV or any Managing Agent and necessary to perfect the transfer and
assignment of such Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets to the SPV (and to the Agent (for the benefit of the Secured Parties) as assignee
thereof). The Originators have delivered or shall, within two (2) Business Days following the Purchase Date of any Conveyed Receivable,
deliver a file-stamped copy of such financing statements to the SPV and the Agent, and have taken, or shall take, at the Originators’ own
expense, all other steps as are necessary under applicable Law (including the filing of any additional financing statements in connection with
any Subsequent Purchase) to perfect such transfers and assignments and has delivered to the SPV and the Agent, or shall deliver, confirmation
of such steps including any assignments, as are necessary or are reasonably requested by the SPV or any Managing Agent. The Originators
hereby authorize the Servicer to file such financing statements or take such other action described in this Section 2.5 on behalf of the
Originators, at the Originators’ expense.
Each Originator further agrees, at its own expense, with respect to the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets conveyed by it to the SPV
hereunder, on or prior to each Purchase Date, to indicate on its computer files that such Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets have been
conveyed pursuant to this Agreement. Each Conveyed Receivable and Related Asset purchased hereunder shall be included in and become part
of the Records.
ARTICLE III
CONSIDERATION AND PAYMENT
SECTION 3.1 Purchase Price .
(a) The SPV hereby agrees to pay each Originator with respect to any Conveyed Receivables and the Related Assets purchased by the SPV
from such Originator on each Purchase Date a purchase price (in each case, the “ Asset Purchase Price”) equal to the fair market value of all
such Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets then being sold by such Originator to the SPV on such Purchase Date.
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(b) The SPV shall pay each Originator the Asset Purchase Price with respect to each Conveyed Receivable and Related Assets sold by such
Originator to the SPV on the applicable Purchase Date by transfer of funds, to the extent that the SPV has funds available for that purpose after
(i) satisfying the SPV’s current obligations under the Second Tier Agreement and (ii) taking into account the proceeds that the SPV expects to
receive from the Investors pursuant to the Second Tier Agreement on such Purchase Date. To the extent that such funds are insufficient, then at
the election of such Originator, either (x) the remaining Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets shall be deemed to have been transferred by
such Originator to the SPV as a capital contribution, in return for an increase in the value of the membership interests of the SPV held by such
Originator or (y) if the Minimum Capital Test is satisfied and the applicable Originator so elects, by notice to the Agent, the remainder of the
Asset Purchase Price shall be deferred (the “ Deferred Purchase Price ”) and shall be paid by the SPV from time to time when the SPV has
funds that are not otherwise needed to satisfy the SPV’s obligations under the Second Tier Agreement (to the extent then due and payable), to
pay for new Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets or to pay interest pursuant to subsection 3.1(d) ; provided , that the remainder of the
Asset Purchase Price shall in any event be payable not later than one (1) year after the Final Payout Date.
(c) All Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets, if any, that have been conveyed hereunder by way of capital contribution by an
Originator shall be administered and otherwise treated hereunder in the same way as Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets that have been
conveyed by way of sale.
(d) The SPV shall pay interest on the aggregate Deferred Purchase Price outstanding from time to time under this Agreement at a variable
rate per annum equal to the rate of interest publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America as its “prime rate”. Such interest shall be
computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a 360 day year and shall be paid on each Settlement Date, to the extent the
SPV has available funds that are not needed to satisfy the SPV’s obligations under the Second Tier Agreement (to the extent then due and
payable) or to pay for new Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets.
SECTION 3.2 Subordination .
(a) The payment and performance of the Subordinated Obligations is hereby subordinated to the Senior Obligations and, except as set forth
in this Section 3.2 , the Originators will not ask, demand, sue for, take or receive from the SPV, by setoff or in any other manner, the whole or
any part of any Subordinated Obligations, unless and until the Senior Obligations shall have been fully paid and satisfied (the temporary
reduction of outstanding Senior Obligations not being deemed to constitute full payment or satisfaction thereof).
(b) Notwithstanding clause (a) above and subject to clauses (c) and (e) below, the SPV may pay the purchase price for the Conveyed
Receivables and Related Assets, interest thereon and other Restricted Payments as provided in Section 3.1 from funds available in accordance
with Section 2.14 of the Second Tier Agreement (all such payments being herein called “ Permitted Payments ”).
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(c) Prior to payment in full of the Senior Obligations, the Originators shall have no right to sue for, or otherwise exercise any remedies with
respect to, any Permitted Payment, or otherwise take any action against the SPV or the SPV’s property with respect to any Permitted Payment.
(d) Should any payment or distribution be received by any Originator upon or with respect to the Subordinated Obligations (other than
Permitted Payments) prior to the satisfaction of all of the Senior Obligations, such Originator shall receive and hold the same in trust, as
trustee, for the benefit of the holders of Senior Obligations, and shall forthwith deliver the same to the Agent (in the form received, except
where endorsement or assignment by the Originators is necessary), for application to the Senior Obligations, whether or not then due.
(e) In the event of any Event of Bankruptcy with respect to the SPV, (i) the Originators shall promptly file a claim or claims, in the form
required in such Event of Bankruptcy, for the full outstanding amount of the Subordinated Obligations, and shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to cause such claim or claims to be approved and all payments or other distributions in respect thereof to be made directly to the Agent
(for the benefit of the holders of Senior Obligations) until all Senior Obligations shall have been paid and performed in full and in cash, and
(ii) the Originators shall not be subrogated to the rights of any such holder to receive payments or distributions from the SPV until one (1) year
and one (1) day after payment in full and in cash of all Senior Obligations.
(f) If at any time any payment (in whole or in part) made with respect to any Senior Obligation is rescinded or must be restored or returned
(whether in connection with any Event of Bankruptcy or otherwise), the subordination provisions contained in this Section 3.2 shall continue to
be effective or shall be reinstated, as the case may be, as though such payment had not been made.
(g) The subordination provisions contained in this Section 3.2 shall not be impaired by amendment or modification to the Transaction
Documents or any lack of diligence in the enforcement, collection or protection of, or realization on, the Senior Obligations or any security
therefor.
ARTICLE IV
ADMINISTRATION AND COLLECTION
SECTION 4.1 Servicing of Receivables . Notwithstanding the sale of Conveyed Receivables pursuant to this Agreement, GP, for so long as
it acts as Servicer under the Second Tier Agreement, shall continue to be responsible for the servicing, administration and collection of the
Conveyed Receivables, all on the terms set out in (and subject to any rights to terminate the initial Servicer as servicer pursuant to) the Second
Tier Agreement.
SECTION 4.2 Deemed Collections .
(a) If on any day the Unpaid Balance of an Eligible Receivable is reduced (but not cancelled) as a result of any Dilution, the applicable
Originator(s) shall be deemed to have received on such day a Collection of such Receivable in the amount of such reduction. If on any
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day an Eligible Receivable is canceled as a result of any Dilution, the applicable Originator(s) shall be deemed to have received on such day a
Collection of such Receivable in the amount of the Unpaid Balance (as determined immediately prior to such Dilution) of such Eligible
Receivable.
(b) If on any day any representation or warranty of an Originator set forth in Section 5.1(d) , or Sections 5.2(a) or (h) with respect to any
Eligible Receivable (whether on or after the date of transfer thereof to the SPV as contemplated hereunder) is determined to be incorrect as of
such time when such representation or warranty was made or confirmed, such Originator shall be deemed to have received on such day a
Collection of such Eligible Receivable in an amount equal to its Unpaid Balance.
(c) Not later than the second Business Day following any deemed Collection under Section 4.2(a) or (b) , such Originator(s) shall pay to the
SPV an amount equal to such deemed Collection, and such amount shall be paid by the SPV as a Collection in accordance with Section 2.12 of
the Second Tier Agreement.
(d) To the extent that the SPV subsequently receives actual Collections with respect to any deemed Collections with respect to any
Receivable referenced in Section 4.2(a) or (b) above, the SPV shall pay such Originator an amount equal to the amount so collected, such
amount to be payable in the same manner and priority as the Deferred Purchase Price.
SECTION 4.3 Actions Evidencing Purchases . (a) On or prior to the Initial Purchase Date, each Originator shall mark its master data
processing records evidencing Receivables with a legend, reasonably acceptable to the SPV, evidencing that the Conveyed Receivables have
been sold in accordance with this Agreement. In addition, each Originator agrees that from time to time, at its expense, it shall promptly
execute and deliver all further instruments and documents, and take all further action, that the SPV or its assignee may reasonably request in
order to perfect, protect or more fully evidence the purchases hereunder, or to enable the SPV or its assigns to exercise or enforce any of their
respective rights with respect to the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each
Originator shall, upon the request of the SPV or its designee; (i) execute and file such financing or continuation statements, or amendments
thereto or assignments thereof, and such other instruments or notices, as may be necessary or appropriate and (ii) mark conspicuously each
Contract evidencing each Retained Receivable with a legend, acceptable to the SPV, evidencing that the related Retained Receivables have not
been sold in accordance with this Agreement.
(b) Each Originator hereby authorizes the SPV or its designee to (i) file one or more financing or continuation statements, and amendments
thereto and assignments thereof, relative to all or any of the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets now existing or hereafter arising in the
name of such Originator and (ii) to the extent permitted by the Second Tier Agreement, notify Obligors of the assignment of the Conveyed
Receivables and Related Assets.
(c) Without limiting the generality of Section 4.3(a) , each Originator shall, not earlier than six (6) months and not later than three
(3) months prior to the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date of filing of the financing statements filed in connection with the Closing Date or any
other financing statement filed pursuant to this Agreement, if the Final Payout Date shall not have
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occurred: (i) execute and deliver and file or cause to be filed appropriate continuation statements; and (ii) deliver or cause to be delivered to the
Agent an opinion of counsel for such Originator in form and substance and delivered by counsel reasonably satisfactory to the SPV, confirming
and updating the opinion delivered in connection with the Initial Purchase Date relating to the validity, perfection and priority of the SPV’s
interests in the Conveyed Receivables.
ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
SECTION 5.1 Mutual Representations and Warranties . Each Originator and the SPV represents and warrants to the other, as to itself only,
that, on the Initial Purchase Date and on each Subsequent Purchase Date:
(a) Corporate Existence and Power . It (i) is validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of formation, (ii) was
duly organized, (iii) has all corporate or limited liability company power and all licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals of all Official
Bodies required to carry on its business in each jurisdiction in which its business is now and proposed to be conducted (except where the failure
to have any such licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals would not individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect) and (iv) is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in every other jurisdiction in which the nature of its
business requires it to be so qualified, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect.
(b) Authorization; No Contravention . The execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement, the Second Tier Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party (i) are within its corporate or limited liability company powers, (ii) have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate or limited liability company action, (iii) require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Official
Body or official thereof (except as contemplated by this Agreement, (iv) do not contravene or constitute a default under (A) its organizational
documents, (B) any Law applicable to it, (C) any provision of any indenture, agreement or other instrument evidencing material Indebtedness
to which it is a party or by which any of its property may be bound or (D) any order, writ, judgment, award, injunction, decree or other
instrument binding on or affecting it or its property except , with respect to clauses (B) , (C) and (D) above, to the extent the contravention or
default under such Law, contractual restriction, order, writ, judgment, award, injunction, decree or other instrument would not reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, or (v) result in the creation or imposition of any Adverse Claim upon or with respect to its property
(except as contemplated hereby).
(c) Binding Effect . Each of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party have been duly executed and
delivered and constitute its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with their terms, subject to applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally (whether at law or equity).
(d) Preference; Voidability . The SPV shall have given reasonably equivalent value to each Originator in consideration for the transfer to
the SPV of the Conveyed Receivables and
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Related Assets from such Originator, and each such transfer shall not have been made for or on account of an antecedent debt owed by any
Originator to the SPV and no such transfer is or may be voidable under any section of the Bankruptcy Code.
(e) Compliance with Applicable Laws; Licenses, etc .
(A) It is in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and orders of all Official
Bodies (including, without limitation, the Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act, as amended, Regulation Z of the Board of Governors of
the Federal Reserve System, as amended, laws, rules and regulations relating to usury, truth in lending, fair credit billing, fair credit
reporting, equal credit opportunity, fair debt collection practices and privacy and all other consumer laws, rules and regulations applicable to
the Conveyed Receivables), a breach of any of which, individually or in the aggregate, would be reasonably likely to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
(B) It has not failed to obtain any licenses, permits, franchises or other governmental authorizations necessary to the ownership of its
properties or to the conduct of its business (including, without limitation, any registration requirements or other actions as may be necessary
in any applicable jurisdiction in connection with the ownership of the Contracts or the Conveyed Receivables and other related assets),
which violation or failure to obtain would be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
SECTION 5.2 Originators’ Additional Representations and Warranties . Each Originator represents and warrants to the SPV, as to itself
only, that, on the Initial Purchase Date and on each Subsequent Purchase Date:
(a) Perfection; Good Title . Immediately preceding each Purchase hereunder, each Originator is the owner of all of the Conveyed
Receivables and all Related Assets to be sold by it pursuant to such Purchase, free and clear of all Adverse Claims (other than any Adverse
Claim arising hereunder or under the Second Tier Agreement). The representations set forth on Schedule III are true and correct as applied to
each Originator. This Agreement constitutes a valid sale, transfer and assignment of the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets to the SPV
and, upon each Purchase, the SPV shall acquire a valid and enforceable perfected first priority ownership interest or a first priority perfected
security interest in each Conveyed Receivable and all of the Related Assets that exist on the date of such Purchase, with respect thereto, free
and clear of any Adverse Claim (other than pursuant to this Agreement or the Second Tier Agreement).
(b) Accuracy of Information . All factual information (taken as a whole) heretofore or contemporaneously furnished by or on behalf of the
SPV, the Servicer, the Originator or Greif, Inc. or any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates in writing to any Investor, Managing Agent or the
Agent (including, without limitation, all information contained in the Transaction Documents) for purposes of or in connection with this
Agreement or any transaction contemplated herein is, and all other such factual information (taken as a whole) hereafter furnished by or on
behalf of the SPV, the Servicer, the Originator or Greif, Inc. or any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates in
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writing to any Investor, Managing Agent or the Agent for purposes of or in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated
herein, when taken as a whole, do not contain as of the date furnished any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements contained herein or therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading. The SPV, the Servicer, the Originator and Greif, Inc. and any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates have disclosed to each Investor,
each Managing Agent and the Agent (a) all agreements, instruments and corporate or other restrictions to which SPV, the Servicer, the
Originator or Greif, Inc. or any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates is subject, and (b) all other matters known to any of them, that individually or
in the aggregate with respect to (a) and (b) above, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
(c) Tax Status . Each of the Originators has (i) timely filed all tax returns (federal, state and local) required to be filed by it and (ii) paid or
made adequate provision for the payment of all taxes, assessments and other material governmental charges, other than those taxes,
assessments, or charges that are being contested in good faith through appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves in accordance
with GAAP have been provided and (b) to the extent that the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect.
(d) Action, Suits . It is not in violation of any order of any Official Body. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.1(g) to the Second Tier
Agreement, there are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the best knowledge of the SPV, threatened (i) against the SPV, the
Servicer, any Originator or Greif, Inc. or any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates challenging the validity or enforceability of any material
provision of any Transaction Document, or (ii) that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(e) Use of Proceeds . No proceeds of any Purchase hereunder shall be used by an Originator (i) to acquire any security in any transaction
which is subject to Section 13 or 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, (ii) to acquire any equity security of a class which is registered
pursuant to Section 12 of such Act or (iii) for any other purpose that violates applicable Law, including Regulation U of the Federal Reserve
Board.
(f) Principal Place of Business; Chief Executive Office; Location of Records . The principal place of business, chief executive office and
the offices where each Originator keeps all its Records, are located at the address(es) described on Schedule I or such other locations notified to
the SPV in accordance with Section 6.3(g) in jurisdictions where all action required by Section 4.3 has been taken and completed.
(g) Subsidiaries; Tradenames, Etc. As of the date hereof, no Originator has, within the last five (5) years, operated under any tradename
other than its legal name, and, within the last five (5) years, no Originator has changed its name, merged with or into or consolidated with any
other Person or been the subject of any proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code. Schedule I lists the correct Federal Employer Identification
Number of each Originator.
(h) Nature of Receivables . Each Conveyed Receivable is an Eligible Receivable. On the Purchase Date of any Conveyed Receivable by the
SPV hereunder, no Originator has any knowledge of any fact (including any defaults by the Obligor thereunder on any other Conveyed
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Receivable represented by it to be an Eligible Receivable) that would cause it or should have caused it to expect any payments on such
Receivable not to be paid in full when due; provided, however, that any such Receivables may be subject to historical delinquency or default
issues to the same extent as other previous receivables of such Originator.
(i) Credit and Collection Policy . Each Originator has at all times complied in all material respects with the Credit and Collection Policy
with regard to each Eligible Receivable.
(j) Material Adverse Effect . On and since the Closing Date there has been no Material Adverse Effect.
(k) No Termination Event . No event has occurred and is continuing and no condition exists which constitutes a Termination Event or a
Potential Termination Event as applied to any Originator.
(l) Not an Investment Company or Holding Company . No Originator is, or is controlled by, an “investment company” within the meaning
of the Investment Company Act of 1940, or such Originator is exempt from all provisions of such act.
(m) ERISA . Except as, in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, no steps have been taken by
any Person to terminate any Pension Plan the assets of which are not sufficient to satisfy all of any Originator’s benefit liabilities (as
determined under Title IV of ERISA), no contribution failure has occurred or is expected to occur with respect to any Pension Plan sufficient to
give rise to a lien under Section 302(f) of ERISA, and each Pension Plan has been administered in all material respects in compliance with its
terms and applicable provision of ERISA and the Code.
(n) Blocked Accounts . The names and addresses of all the Blocked Account Banks, together with the account numbers of the Blocked
Accounts at such Blocked Account Banks, are specified in Schedule II (or at such other Blocked Account Banks and/or with such other
Blocked Accounts as have been notified to the SPV and each Managing Agent and for which Blocked Account Agreements have been
executed in accordance with Section 6.3(g) and delivered to the Servicer and the Agent). All Blocked Accounts are subject to Blocked Account
Agreements. All Obligors have been instructed to make payment to a Blocked Account; provided that if cash or cash proceeds other than
Collections on Receivables are deposited into a Blocked Account (the “ Excluded Amounts ”), such Excluded Amounts shall not comprise a
part of the Related Assets, and the SPV shall have no right, title or interest in any such Excluded Amounts.
(o) Bulk Sales . No transaction contemplated hereby or by the Second Tier Agreement requires compliance with any bulk sales act or
similar law.
(p) Nonconsolidation . Each Originator shall take all actions required to maintain SPV’s status as a separate legal entity, including (i) not
holding the SPV out to third parties as other than an entity with assets and liabilities distinct from such Originator and such Originator’s other
Subsidiaries; (ii) not holding itself out to be responsible for any Indebtedness of the SPV or, other than by reason of owning membership
interests of the SPV, for any decisions or actions
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relating to the SPV; (iii) having separate financial statements for the SPV, which may be consolidated under the financial statements of Greif,
Inc.; (iv) taking such other actions as are necessary on its part to ensure that all corporate and limited liability company procedures required by
its and the SPV’s respective organizational documents are duly and validly taken; (v) keeping correct and complete records and books of
account and corporate minutes; and (vi) not acting in any manner that could foreseeably mislead others with respect to the SPV’s separate
identity. In addition to the foregoing, each Originator shall take the following actions:
(A) maintain company records and books of account separate from those of the SPV;
(B) continuously maintain as official records the resolutions, agreements and other instruments underlying the transactions described in
this Agreement;
(C) maintain an arm’s-length relationship with the SPV and shall not hold itself out as being liable for any Indebtedness of the SPV;
(D) keep its assets and its liabilities wholly separate from those of the SPV;
(E) not mislead third parties by conducting or appearing to conduct business on behalf of the SPV or expressly or impliedly representing
or suggesting that such Originator is liable or responsible for any Indebtedness of the SPV or that the assets of such Originator are available
to pay the creditors of the SPV;
(F) at all times have stationery and other business forms and a mailing address and telephone number separate from those of the SPV;
(G) at all times limit its transactions with the SPV only to those expressly permitted hereunder or under any other Transaction Document;
and
(H) comply in all material respects with (and cause to be true and correct in all material respects) each of the facts and assumptions
relating to it contained in the opinion(s) of Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP, delivered pursuant to Section 5.1(l) of the Second Tier
Agreement.
SECTION 5.3 Notice of Breach . Upon discovery by an Originator of a breach of any of the representations and warranties made by it in
Sections 5.1 and 5.2 , the Originator shall give prompt written notice to the SPV within three (3) Business Days of such discovery.
ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS
SECTION 6.1 Mutual Covenants . At all times from the date hereof to the Final Payout Date, each Originator and the SPV shall:
(a) Compliance with Laws, Etc . Comply in all material respects with all Laws to which it or its respective properties may be subject, and
preserve and maintain its corporate or
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limited liability company existence, rights, franchises, qualifications and privileges, except to the extent any non-compliance would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(b) Reporting Requirements . Provide periodic financial statements, information and reports as reasonably requested by the other party. All
such statements, information and reports shall be true and accurate in all material respects.
(c) Separate Business; Nonconsolidation . Not take any action that is inconsistent with the terms of Sections 6.1(k)(i) or 6.1(l) of the Second
Tier Agreement or Section 5.2(p) hereof.
(d) Solvency of SPV . In the case of the SPV, ensure that (i) the fair value of the assets of the SPV, at a fair valuation, will, at all times prior
to the Final Payout Date, exceed its debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise; (ii) the present fair saleable value of the
property of the SPV, at all times prior to the Final Payout Date, will be greater than the amount that will be required to pay the probable
liability of its debts and other liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and other liabilities become absolute and matured;
(iii) the SPV will, at all times prior to the Final Payout Date, be able to pay its debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as
such debts and liabilities become absolute and matured; and (iv) the SPV will not, at any time prior to the Final Payout Date, have
unreasonably small capital with which to conduct the business in which it is engaged as such business is now conducted and is proposed to be
conducted.
SECTION 6.2 Affirmative Covenants of the Originator . At all times from the date hereof to the Final Payout Date:
(a) Conduct of Business; Ownership . Each Originator shall continue to engage in business of the same general type as now conducted by
them (including businesses reasonably related or incidental thereto) and do all things necessary to remain duly organized, validly existing and
in good standing in its jurisdiction of formation and maintain all requisite authority to conduct its business in each jurisdiction in which its
business is conducted, except where the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The SPV shall at
all times be a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Originators, each of which at all times must be a direct or indirect Subsidiary of Greif, Inc.
(b) Furnishing of Information and Inspection of Records . Each Originator shall furnish to the SPV or any Managing Agent from time to
time such information with respect to the Related Assets as the SPV or such Managing Agent may reasonably request, including listings
identifying the Obligor and the Unpaid Balance for each Receivable. Each Originator shall, at any time and from time to time during regular
business hours upon reasonable notice (which shall be at least 2 Business Days), as requested by the SPV or any Managing Agent, permit the
SPV or such Managing Agent, or their respective agents or representatives, (i) to examine and make copies of and take abstracts from all
books, records and documents (including computer tapes and disks) relating to the Conveyed Receivables or other Related Assets, including
the related Contracts and (ii) to visit the offices and properties of such Originator for the purpose of examining such materials described in
clause (i) , and to discuss matters relating to the Conveyed Receivables, the Related Assets or such Originator’s performance hereunder, under
the Contracts and under the other Transaction Documents to which such Person is a party
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with any of the officers, directors, employees or independent public accountants of such Originator having knowledge of such matters (but only
in the presence of a Responsible Officer of the SPV); provided that unless a Termination Event or Potential Termination Event shall have
occurred and be continuing, the Originator shall not be required to reimburse the reasonable expenses of more than one (1) such visit per
calendar year.
(c) Keeping of Records and Books of Account . Each Originator shall maintain and implement administrative and operating procedures
(including an ability to recreate records evidencing Conveyed Receivables and related Contracts in the event of the destruction of the originals
thereof), and keep and maintain all documents, books, computer tapes, disks, records and other information reasonably necessary or advisable
for the collection of all Conveyed Receivables (including records adequate to permit the daily identification of each new Conveyed Receivable
and all Collections of and adjustments to each existing Conveyed Receivable). Each Originator shall give the SPV and the Agent prompt notice
of any material change in its administrative and operating procedures referred to in the previous sentence (and the Agent will promptly forward
such notice to each Managing Agent).
(d) Performance and Compliance with Conveyed Receivables, Contracts and Credit and Collection Policy . Each Originator shall (i) at its
own expense, timely and fully perform and comply with all material provisions, covenants and other promises required to be observed by it
under the Contracts related to the Conveyed Receivables in accordance with the Credit and Collection Policy; and (ii) timely and fully comply
in all material respects with the Credit and Collection Policy in regard to each Conveyed Receivable and the related Contract.
(e) Notice of Agent’s Interest . In the event that any Originator shall sell or otherwise transfer any interest in accounts receivable or any
other financial assets (other than as contemplated by the Transaction Documents), any computer tapes or files or other documents or
instruments provided by such Originator in connection with any such sale or transfer shall disclose the SPV’s ownership of the Conveyed
Receivables and the Agent’s interest therein.
(f) Collections . The Originators have instructed, or shall instruct, all Obligors to cause all Collections to be deposited directly to a Blocked
Account or to post office boxes to which only Blocked Account Banks have access and shall instruct the Blocked Account Banks to cause all
items and amounts relating to such Collections received in such post office boxes to be removed and deposited into a Blocked Account on a
daily basis.
(g) Collections Received . Each Originator shall hold in trust, and deposit, promptly, but in any event not later than two (2) Business Days
following its receipt thereof, to a Blocked Account all Collections received by it from time to time.
(h) Blocked Accounts . Each Blocked Account shall at all times be subject to a Blocked Account Agreement.
(i) Sale Treatment . No Originator shall treat the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any manner other than as a sale or
contribution (as applicable) of Conveyed Receivables by such Originator to the SPV, except to the extent that such transactions are not
recognized on account of consolidated financial reporting in accordance with GAAP or are
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disregarded for tax purposes. In addition, each Originator shall disclose (in a footnote or otherwise) in all of its financial statements (including
any such financial statements consolidated with any other Person’s financial statements) the existence and nature of the transaction
contemplated hereby and the interest of the SPV in the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets.
(j) Ownership Interest, Etc. Each Originator shall, at its expense, take all action necessary or desirable to establish and maintain a valid and
enforceable ownership or first priority perfected security interest in the Conveyed Receivables, the associated Related Assets and proceeds with
respect thereto, in each case free and clear of any Adverse Claim, in favor of the SPV, including taking such action to perfect, protect or more
fully evidence the interest of the SPV and the Agent, as the Agent may request.
(k) Perfection Covenants . Each of the Originators shall comply with each of the covenants set forth in Schedule III to this Agreement
which are incorporated herein by reference.
(l) Information for Servicer Report . Each Originator shall promptly deliver any information, documents, records or reports with respect to
the Conveyed Receivables that the SPV shall require to complete the Servicer Report pursuant to Section 2.8 of the Second Tier Agreement.
SECTION 6.3 Negative Covenants of the Originator . At all times from the date hereof to the Final Payout Date, unless the Majority
Investors shall otherwise consent in writing:
(a) No Sales, Liens, Etc . Except as otherwise provided herein and in the Second Tier Agreement, no Originator shall sell, assign (by
operation of law or otherwise) or otherwise dispose of, or create or suffer to exist any Adverse Claim upon (or the filing of any financing
statement) or with respect to (A) any of the Conveyed Receivables or Related Assets, or (B) any proceeds of inventory or goods, the sale of
which may give rise to a Receivable, or assign any right to receive income in respect thereof.
(b) No Extension or Amendment of Receivables . Except as otherwise permitted in Section 7.2 of the Second Tier Agreement, no
Originator shall extend, amend or otherwise modify the terms of any Conveyed Receivable, or amend, modify or waive any term or condition
of any Contract related thereto.
(c) No Change in Business or Credit and Collection Policy . No Originator shall make any change in the character of its business or in the
Credit and Collection Policy, which change would, in either case, materially impair the collectability of any Eligible Receivable or reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(d) No Mergers, Etc . No Originator shall consolidate or merge with or into, or sell, lease or transfer all or substantially all of its assets to,
any other Person, unless (i) no Termination Event would be expected to occur as a result of such transaction and (ii) such Person executes and
delivers to the Agent and each Managing Agent an agreement by which such Person assumes the obligations of the applicable Originator
hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, or confirms that such obligations remain
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enforceable against it, together with such certificates and opinions of counsel as the Agent or any Managing Agent may reasonably request.
(e) Change in Payment Instructions to Obligors . No Originator shall add or terminate any bank as a Blocked Account Bank or any account
as a Blocked Account to or from those listed in Schedule II or make any change in its instructions to Obligors regarding payments to be made
to any Blocked Account, unless (i) such instructions are to deposit such payments to another existing Blocked Account or to the Collection
Account or (ii) the SPV and the Agent shall have received written notice of such addition, termination or change at least thirty (30) days prior
thereto and the SPV and the Agent shall have received a Blocked Account Agreement executed by each new Blocked Account Bank or an
existing Blocked Account Bank with respect to each new Blocked Account reasonably acceptable to the SPV and the Agent, as applicable.
(f) Deposits to Blocked Accounts . No Originator shall deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit to be so deposited or credited, any
Excluded Amounts to the Collection Account. If Excluded Amounts (including any inadvertent deposits) are deposited into any Blocked
Account, the applicable Originator(s) will promptly identify such Excluded Amounts for segregation and removal from such Blocked Account.
Other than as permitted in the foregoing sentence, no Originator will, or will permit any other Person to, commingle Collections or other funds
to which the SPV or any other Secured Party is entitled with any other Excluded Amounts.
(g) Change of Name, Etc. No Originator shall change its name, identity or structure (including pursuant to a merger) or the location of its
jurisdiction or formation or any other change which could render any UCC financing statement filed in connection with this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document to become “seriously misleading” under the UCC, unless at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of any
such change the Originator delivers to the SPV, the Agent and each Managing Agent (i) such documents, instruments or agreements, executed
by the applicable Originator(s) as are necessary to reflect such change and to continue the perfection of the SPV’s and the Agent’s ownership
interests or security interests in the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets and (ii) if necessary, new or revised Blocked Account
Agreements executed by the Blocked Account Banks which reflect such change and enable the Agent to continue to exercise its rights
contained in Section 7.3 of the Second Tier Agreement.
(h) Amendment of this Agreement . None of the Originators shall amend, modify or supplement this Agreement or waive any provision
hereof, in each case except with the prior written consent of the Majority Investors; nor shall any Originator take any other action under this
Agreement that would reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect on the Agent, any Managing Agent or any Investor.
ARTICLE VII
TERM AND TERMINATION
SECTION 7.1 Term . This Agreement shall commence as of the Closing Date and shall continue in full force and effect until the earliest of
(a) the date after the Final Payout Date designated by the SPV or the Originators as the termination date at any time following sixty (60) day’s
written notice to the other (with a copy thereof to the Agent) or (b) the occurrence of the
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Termination Date (any such date being a “ Purchase Termination Date ”); provided that the occurrence of the Purchase Termination Date
pursuant to this Section 7.1 shall not discharge any Person from any obligations incurred prior to the Purchase Termination Date, including any
obligations to make any payments with respect to the interest of the SPV in any Receivable sold prior to the Purchase Termination Date; and
provided further that (i) the rights and remedies of the SPV with respect to any representation and warranty made or deemed to be made by any
Originator pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) the indemnification and payment provisions of Article VIII , and (iii) the agreements set forth in
Sections 2.2 , 2.3 , 2.4 and 9.9 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
SECTION 7.2 Effect of Purchase Termination Date . Following the occurrence of the Purchase Termination Date pursuant to Section 7.1 ,
no Originator shall sell to, and the SPV shall not purchase from any Originator, any Receivables or Related Assets. No termination or rejection
or failure to assume the executory obligations of this Agreement in any Event of Bankruptcy with respect to any Originator or the SPV shall be
deemed to impair or affect the obligations pertaining to any executed sale or executed obligations, including pre-termination breaches of
representations and warranties by any Originator or the SPV. Without limiting the foregoing, prior to the Purchase Termination Date, the
failure of any Originator to deliver computer records of any Conveyed Receivables or any reports regarding any Conveyed Receivables shall
not render such transfer or obligation executory, nor shall the continued duties of the parties pursuant to Article IV or Section 8.1 render an
executed sale executory.
ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION
SECTION 8.1 Indemnities by the Originator . Without limiting any other rights which the Originator Indemnified Parties may have
hereunder or under applicable Law, each Originator hereby agrees, jointly and severally, to indemnify the SPV and its successors, transferees
and assigns and all officers, directors, shareholders, controlling persons, employees, counsel and other agents of any of the foregoing
(collectively, “ Originator Indemnified Parties ”) from and against any and all damages, losses, claims, liabilities, costs and expenses, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees (which attorneys may be employees of any Originator Indemnified Party) and disbursements (all of the foregoing
being collectively referred to as “ Originator Indemnified Amounts ”) awarded against or incurred by any of them in any action or proceeding
between any Originator and any of the Originator Indemnified Parties or between any of the Originator Indemnified Parties and any third party,
in each case arising out of or as a result of this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents, the ownership or maintenance, either directly or
indirectly, by the SPV or any other Originator Indemnified Party of any interest in any Conveyed Receivable and Related Assets or any of the
other transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, excluding, however, (i) Originator Indemnified Amounts to the extent resulting from gross
negligence or willful misconduct on the part of such Originator Indemnified Party or (ii) recourse for uncollectible Receivables, or (iii) any
Excluded Taxes. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Originator shall indemnify each Originator Indemnified Party for
Originator Indemnified Amounts relating to or resulting from:
(a) any representation or warranty made by any Originator or any officers of any Originator under or in connection with this Agreement, any
of the other Transaction Documents,
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any Servicer Report or any other information or report delivered by any Originator pursuant hereto, or pursuant to any of the other Transaction
Documents which shall have been incomplete, false or incorrect in any respect when made or deemed made;
(b) the failure by any Originator to comply with any applicable Law with respect to any Receivable or the related Contract, or the
nonconformity of any Conveyed Receivable or the related Contract with any such applicable Law;
(c) the failure to vest and maintain vested in the SPV a first priority, perfected ownership interest in the Conveyed Receivables and Related
Assets, free and clear of any Adverse Claim;
(d) the failure by any Originator, following a request from the Agent, to file, or any delay in filing, financing statements, continuation
statements, or other similar instruments or documents under the UCC of any applicable jurisdiction or other applicable laws with respect to any
of the Conveyed Receivables and Related Assets;
(e) any dispute, claim, offset or defense (other than discharge in bankruptcy) or as a result of the uncollectibility of any Receivable) of the
Obligor to the payment of any Conveyed Receivable (including a defense based on such Receivable or the related Contract not being the legal,
valid and binding obligation of such Obligor enforceable against it in accordance with its terms), or any other claim resulting from the sale of
merchandise or services related to such Receivable or the furnishing or failure to furnish such merchandise or services, or from any breach or
alleged breach of any provision of the Conveyed Receivables or the related Contracts restricting assignment of any Conveyed Receivables;
(f) any failure of any Originator to perform its duties or obligations in accordance with the provisions hereof;
(g) any products liability claim or personal injury or property damage suit or other similar or related claim or action of whatever sort arising
out of or in connection with merchandise or services which are the subject of any Conveyed Receivable;
(h) the transfer to the SPV of an interest in any Receivable other than an Eligible Receivable;
(i) the failure by any Originator to comply with any term, provision or covenant contained in this Agreement or any of the other Transaction
Documents to which it is a party or to perform any of its respective duties or obligations under the Conveyed Receivables or related Contracts;
(j) the failure of any Originator to pay when due any sales, excise or personal property taxes payable in connection with any of the
Conveyed Receivables;
(k) any repayment by any Originator Indemnified Party of any amount previously distributed in reduction of Net Investment which such
Originator Indemnified Party believes in good faith is required to be made;
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(l) the commingling by any Originator of Collections at any time with any other funds;
(m) any investigation, litigation or proceeding related to this Agreement, any of the other Transaction Documents, the use of proceeds of
purchases by any Originator, the ownership of the Asset Interest, or any Conveyed Receivable or Related Asset;
(n) failure of any Blocked Account Bank to remit any amounts held in the Blocked Accounts or any related lock-boxes pursuant to the
instructions of the Servicer, the SPV, any Originator or the Agent (to the extent such Person is entitled to give such instructions in accordance
with the terms hereof, of the Second Tier Agreement and of any applicable Blocked Account Agreement) whether by reason of the exercise of
set-off rights or otherwise;
(o) any inability to obtain any judgment in or utilize the court or other adjudication system of, any state in which an Obligor may be located
as a result of the failure of any Originator to qualify to do business or file any notice of business activity report or any similar report;
(p) any attempt by any Person to void, rescind or set-aside any transfer by any Originator to the SPV of any Conveyed Receivable or
Related Assets under statutory provisions or common law or equitable action, including any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or other
insolvency law;
(q) any action taken by any Originator or the Servicer (if the Servicer is an Affiliate or designee of an Originator) in the enforcement or
collection of any Conveyed Receivable (unless such action was directed by the Agent or the Investors in bad faith or with gross negligence or
willful misconduct);
(r) the use of the proceeds of any Purchase hereunder; or
(s) any and all amounts paid or payable by the SPV pursuant to Sections 9.3, 9.4 or 9.5 of the Second Tier Agreement.
ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
SECTION 9.1 Waivers; Amendments . (a) No failure or delay on the part of the SPV in exercising any power, right or remedy under this
Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right or remedy preclude any other
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other power, right or remedy. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and
nonexclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.
(b) Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by
each of the parties hereto and consented to in writing by the Agent.
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SECTION 9.2 Notices . All communications and notices provided for hereunder shall be provided in the manner described in Section 11.3
of the Second Tier Agreement.
SECTION 9.3 Governing Law . THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT REFERENCE TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES
THEREOF OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).
SECTION 9.4 Integration . This Agreement contains the final and complete integration of all prior expressions by the parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof and shall constitute the entire Agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof
superseding all prior oral or written understandings.
SECTION 9.5 Severability of Provisions . If any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason whatsoever be held
invalid, then such provisions shall be deemed severable from the remaining provisions of this Agreement and shall in no way affect the validity
or enforceability of such other provisions.
SECTION 9.6 Counterparts; Facsimile Delivery . This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties
hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall
constitute one and the same Agreement. Delivery by facsimile of an executed signature page of this Agreement shall be effective as delivery of
an executed counterpart hereof.
SECTION 9.7 Successors and Assigns; Binding Effect . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto
and their respective successors and assigns and shall also inure to the benefit of the parties to the Second Tier Agreement and their respective
successors and assigns; provided that none of the Originators nor the SPV may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its duties hereunder or
under any of the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party without the prior written consent of each Managing Agent. Each Originator
acknowledges that the SPV’s rights under this Agreement may be assigned to the Agent, on behalf of the Investors, under the Second Tier
Agreement and consents to such assignment and to the exercise of those rights directly by the SPV, to the extent permitted by the Second Tier
Agreement.
SECTION 9.8 Costs, Expenses and Taxes . In addition to its obligations under Section 8.1 , each Originator agrees to pay on demand (a) all
costs and expenses (including attorneys’, accountants’ and other third parties’ fees and expenses, any filing fees and expenses incurred by
officers or employees of the SPV or its assigns) incurred by the SPV and its assigns in connection with the enforcement of, or any actual or
claimed breach of, this Agreement, including the reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing or in
advising such Persons as to their respective rights and remedies under this Agreement in connection with any of the foregoing and (b) all stamp
and other taxes and fees payable or determined to be payable in connection with the execution, delivery, filing and recording of this
Agreement, other than taxes based upon income.
22

SECTION 9.9 No Proceedings; Limited Recourse . Each Originator covenants and agrees, for the benefit of the parties to the Second Tier
Agreement, that it shall not institute against SPV, or join any other Person in instituting against SPV, any proceeding of a type referred to in the
definition of Event of Bankruptcy until one (1) year and one (1) day after the Final Payment Date. In addition, all amounts payable by the SPV
to an Originator pursuant to this Agreement shall be payable solely from funds available for that purpose pursuant to Section 2.14 of the
Second Tier Agreement.
SECTION 9.10 Further Assurances . The SPV and each Originator agree to do and perform, from time to time, any and all acts and to
execute any and all further instruments required or reasonably requested by the other party more fully to effect the purposes of this Agreement.
[SIGNATURES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the SPV and each Originator have caused this Sale Agreement to be duly executed by their respective officers
as of the day and year first above written.
GREIF PACKAGING LLC,
as an Originator
By: /s/ Donald S. Huml
Name: Donald S. Huml
Title: Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
GREIF RECEIVABLES FUNDING LLC,
as the SPV
By: /s/ John K. Dieker
Name: John K. Dieker
Title:
Acknowledged and Consented to:
GREIF, INC.,
By: /s/ Donald S. Huml
Name: Donald S. Huml
Title: Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Sale Agreement

SCHEDULE I
ORIGINATOR INFORMATION
Actions, Suits, Litigation or Proceedings:
None
Principal Place of Business:
Greif Packaging LLC:
425 Winter Road
Delaware, OH 43015
Chief Executive Office:
Greif Packaging LLC:
425 Winter Road
Delaware, OH 43015
Location of Records:
Greif Packaging LLC:
425 Winter Road
Delaware, OH 43015
Tradenames:
Greif Packaging LLC:
Greif
Greif Industrial Packaging & Services LLC
Greif Containers, Inc.
Federal Employer Identification Number:
Greif Packaging LLC :
36-3268123
Schedule I-1

SCHEDULE II
BLOCKED ACCOUNT BANKS AND ACCOUNT INFORMATION
Bank Name & Address

JPM Morgan — 550 W. Van Buren St, 14 th Floor,
Chicago, IL 60607
Description — Great Lakes
JPM Morgan — 550 W. Van Buren St, 14 th Floor,
Chicago, IL 60607
Description — Massillon Bank Account
JPM Morgan — 550 W. Van Buren St, 14 th Floor,
Chicago, IL 60607
Description — Greif Corporate Bank Account

JPM Morgan — 550 W. Van Buren St, 14 th Floor,
Chicago, IL 60607
Description — CorrChoice Bank Account

Type of Account

Account / ABA Nos.

Collection

Acct
# 323414842
LBX# 88911
ABA# 021000021
Acct# 323414850
LBX # 88908
ABA# 021000021
Acct# 323414559
LBX # 88879
LBX# 532416
ABA# 021000021

Collection
Collection

Collection

Acct# 304234117
LBX # 88209
LBX# 533035
ABA# 021000021

Lockbox Address (PO Box & Street)

Greif
P.O. Box 88911
Chicago, IL 60695-1879
Greif
P.O. Box 88908
Chicago, IL 60695-1879
Greif
P.O. Box 88879
Chicago, IL 60695-1879
Greif
P.O. Box 532416
Atlanta, GA 303532416
Greif
P.O. Box 88209
Chicago, IL 60695-1879
Greif
P.O. Box 533035
Atlanta, GA 303532416

JPM Morgan — 550 W. Van Buren St, 14 th Floor,
Chicago, IL 60607
Description — Greif Receivables Funding Conc.

Concentration

Schedule II-1

Acct# 323414397
ABA# 021000021

SCHEDULE III
PERFECTION REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS
In addition to the representations, warranties and covenants contained in this Agreement, each Originator hereby represents, warrants, and
covenants as follows:
General
1. The First Tier Agreement creates a valid and continuing security interest (as defined in UCC Section 9-102) in the Conveyed Receivables
and Related Assets in favor of the SPV, which security interest is prior to all other Adverse Claims, and is enforceable as such as against
creditors of and purchasers from the Originators.
2. The Conveyed Receivables constitute “accounts” within the meaning of UCC Section 9-102. The rights of the Originators under the First
Tier Agreement constitute “general intangibles” within the meaning of UCC Section 9-102.
3. Each Originator has taken all steps necessary to perfect its security interest against the applicable Obligors in the Conveyed Receivables
and Related Assets (if any) securing the Conveyed Receivables.
Creation
4. Immediately prior to the transfer and assignment herein contemplated, each Originator had good title to the Conveyed Receivables
transferred by it to the SPV under the First Tier Agreement, and was the sole owner thereof, free and clear of all Adverse Claims and, upon the
transfer thereof, the SPV shall have good title to such Conveyed Receivables, and will (i) be the sole owner thereof, free and clear of all liens,
encumbrances, security interests, and rights of others, or (ii) have a first priority security interest in such Conveyed Receivables, and the
transfer or security interest has been perfected under the UCC. No Originator has taken any action to convey any right to any Person that would
result in such Person having a right to payments due under the Conveyed Receivables, except as contemplated by the First Tier Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents.
Perfection
5. Each Originator has taken or will have taken all steps reasonably necessary to assist the SPV to cause, within ten (10) days after the
effective date of the First Tier Agreement, the filing of all appropriate financing statements in the proper filing office in the appropriate
jurisdictions under applicable law in order to perfect the sale of, or security interest in, the Conveyed Receivables and the rights of the SPV
under the First Tier Agreement from SPV to the Agent.
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Priority
6. Other than the transfer of the Conveyed Receivables under the First Tier Agreement, none of the Originators has pledged, assigned, sold,
granted a security interest in, or otherwise conveyed any of the Conveyed Receivables or the Related Assets.
7. None of the Originators has any knowledge of any judgment, ERISA or tax lien filings against it which would reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.
8. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, the Perfection Representations contained in
this Schedule shall be continuing, and remain in full force and effect until such time as all obligations under the First Tier Agreement have been
finally and fully paid and performed.
9. In order to evidence the interests of the SPV under the First Tier Agreement, each Originator shall, from time to time, take such action, or
execute and deliver such instruments (other than filing financing statements) as may be necessary (including such actions as are requested in
writing by the Agent) to maintain the SPV’s ownership interest and to maintain and perfect, as a first-priority interest, the SPV’s security
interest in the Conveyed Receivables and the other Related Assets. The Originators shall, upon the request of the Agent, from time to time and
within the time limits established by Law, prepare and present to the Agent for the Agent’s authorization and approval all financing statements,
amendments, continuations or other filings necessary to continue, maintain and perfect as a first-priority interest the SPV’s interest in the
Conveyed Receivables and other Related Assets. The Agent’s approval of such filings shall authorize the Originators to file such financing
statements under the UCC. Notwithstanding anything else in the Transaction Documents to the contrary, the Originators shall not have any
authority to file a termination, partial termination, release, partial release, or any amendment that deletes the name of a debtor or excludes
collateral of any such financing statements, without the prior written consent of the Agent.
SCHEDULE III-2

SCHEDULE IV
LIST OF OBLIGORS OF RETAINED RECEIVABLES
None.
Schedule IV-1

Exhibit 10(gg)
EXECUTION COPY
FIRST AMENDMENT
Dated as of September 30, 2010
to
SALE AGREEMENT
Dated as of December 8, 2008
This FIRST AMENDMENT (this “ Amendment ”), dated as of September 30, 2010, is entered into among GREIF PACKAGING LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“ GP ”), each other entity from time to time party to the Sale Agreement (defined below) as an Originator
(each, an “ Originator ” and collectively, the “ Originators ”) and GREIF RECEIVABLES FUNDING LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (the “ SPV ”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the parties hereto have entered into that certain Sale Agreement dated as of December 8, 2008 (the “ Sale Agreement ”);
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Sale Agreement as provided herein;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements contained herein and the Sale Agreement, the parties
hereto agree as follows:
SECTION 1. Definitions . All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein are used as defined in the Sale Agreement.
SECTION 2. Amendment to Sale Agreement . The Sale Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
2.1. The definition of “Retained Receivable” in Section 1.1 of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
““ Retained Receivable ” shall mean: (i) any receivable owed by an obligor which is an Affiliate of any Originator, or (ii) a receivable
owed by any of the obligors listed on Schedule IV hereto.”
2.2. Schedule II of the Sale Agreement is hereby amended to delete the following two Blocked Accounts and their corresponding lockboxes:
“JPM Morgan, Acct # 323414842, LBX # 88911, ABA # 021000021” and
“JPM Morgan, Acct # 323414850, LBX # 88908, ABA # 021000021.”
SECTION 3. Conditions Precedent . Section 2 hereof shall become effective on the date first written above upon receipt by the Agent of a
counterpart (or counterparts) of this Amendment, duly executed by each of the parties hereto, or other evidence satisfactory to the Agent of the
execution and delivery of this Amendment by such parties.

SECTION 4. Miscellaneous .
4.1. Representations and Warranties . GP hereby represents and warrants that this Amendment constitutes a legal, valid and binding
obligation of GP, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.
4.2. References to Sale Agreement . Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Sale Agreement to “this Agreement”,
“hereunder”, “hereof”, “herein”, or words of like import shall mean and be a reference to the Sale Agreement as amended hereby, and each
reference to the Sale Agreement in any other document, instrument or agreement executed and/or delivered in connection with the Sale
Agreement shall mean and be a reference to the Sale Agreement as amended hereby.
4.3. Effect on Sale Agreement . Except as specifically amended above, the Sale Agreement and all other documents, instruments and
agreements executed and/or delivered in connection therewith shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.
4.4. Governing Law . This Amendment, including the rights and duties of the parties hereto, shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York.
4.5. Successors and Assigns . This Amendment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
4.6. Headings . The Section headings in this Amendment are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the meaning or
interpretation of this Amendment or any provision hereof.
4.7. Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed by the parties hereto in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original and all of which shall constitute together but one and the same agreement.
[SIGNATURES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have caused this Amendment to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized,
as of the date first above written.
GREIF PACKAGING LLC ,
as an Originator
By: /s/ John K. Dieker
Name: John K. Dieker
Title: Vice President and Treasurer
GREIF RECEIVABLES FUNDING LLC ,
as the SPV
By: /s/ John K. Dieker
Name: John K. Dieker
Title: Vice President and Treasurer
Acknowledged and Consented to:
GREIF, INC. ,
By: /s/ John K. Dieker
Name: John K. Dieker
Title: Vice President and Treasurer
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
Signature Page to the First Amendment

Acknowledged and Agreed to:
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. ,
as Agent
By: /s/ Nina Austin
Name: Nine Austin
Title: Vice President
Signature Page to the First Amendment

EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT
Per item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulation S-K, names of particular subsidiaries may be omitted if the unnamed
subsidiaries, considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary as of
October 31, 2010. Significant subsidiaries are defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.
Name of Subsidiary

United States:
American Flange & Manufacturing Co. Inc.
Greif Packaging LLC
Greif Receivables Funding LLC
Soterra LLC
Greif USA LLC
STA Timber LLC
Olympic Oil, Ltd.
Trilla Steel Drum Corporation
Trilla-St. Louis Corporation
Delta Petroleum Company Inc.
Greif U.S. Holdings, Inc.
Box Board Products, Inc.
Southline Metal Products Company
Container Lifecycle Management LLC
Storsack Inc
International:
Greif Algeria Spa
Greif Argentina S.A.
Austro Fass Vertriebs GmbH
Storsack Austria GES.m.b.H
Greif Coordination Center BVBA
Greif Packaging Belgium NV
Greif Insurance Company Limited
Greif Embalagens Industrialis Do Brasil Ltda
Greif Embalagens Industrialis Do Amazonas Ltda
Cimplast Embalagens Importacao, Exportacao E. Comercio S.A
Greif Brasil Participacoes Ltda
Plimax Industria de Embalagens Plasticas Ltda
Greif Bros. Canada Inc.
Vulsay Industries Ltd.
Greif Chile S.A.
Greif (Shanghai) Packaging Co. Ltd.
Greif (Ningbo) Packaging Co., Ltd.
Greif (Taicang) Packaging Co Ltd.
Greif China Holding Company Ltd. (Hong Kong)
Greif Huizhou Packaging Co. Ltd.
Greif Tianjin Packaging Co., LTD
Greif Shenzen Packaging Co Ltd.
Unsa Hangzhou Packaging Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (China)
Greif Columbia S.A.
Greif Costa Rica S.A.
Greif Czech Republic a.s.
Greif Denmark A/S
Greif Packaging Denmark A/S
Greif Egypt LLC
Greif France SAS

Incorporated or Organized
Under Laws of

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Illinois
Illinois
Louisiana
Nevada
North Carolina
Texas
Delaware
Texas
Algeria
Argentina
Austria
Austria
Belgium
Belgium
Bermuda
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Canada
Canada
Chile
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
Columbia
Costa Rica
Czech Republic
Denmark
Denmark
Egypt
France

Name of Subsidiary

Greif France Holdings SAS
Greif Packaging France Investments SAS
Storsack France SAS
Storsack International GmbH
Storsack Holding GmbH
Storsack Germany GmbH & Co. KG
Greif Germany GmbH
Greif Hellas AE
Greif Hungary Kft
Greif Italia SpA
Greif Malaysia Sdn Bhd
Greif Packaging (East Coast) Sdn Bhd
Greif Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Greif Packaging Morocco S.A.
Greif Brazil Holding B.V.
Greif International Holding BV.
Emballagefabrieken Verma B.V.
Greif Finance B.V.
Greif Nederland B.V.
Pinwheel Asset Holding B.V.
Pinwheel Trading Holding B.V.
Ligtermoet B.V.
Pinwheel TH Netherlands B.V.
Greif Norway AS
Greif Holding Poland Sp Zoo
Greif Portugal, Lda.
Storsack Romania N.E. SRL
Greif Upakovka CJSC
Greif Perm LLC
Greif Volga-Don LLC
Greif Vologda LLC
Greif Angarsk LLC
Bipol Co Ltd.
Greif Saudi Arabia Ltd.
Greif Eastern Packaging Pte. Ltd.
Greif Singapore Pte Ltd
Greif South Africa Pty Ltd
Greif Spain Holdings, SL
Greif Packaging Spain SA
Greif Investments S.A.
Greif Packaging Spain Holdings SL
Greif Sweden AB
Greif Sweden Holding AB
Greif Packaging Sweden AB
Greif Hua I Taiwan Co., Ltd
Greif Mimaysan Ambalaj Sanayi AS
Unsa Ambalaj Sanayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi
Sunjut Suni Jut Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S.
Storsack Ukraine LLC
Greif Horizon LLC
Greif UK Holding Ltd.
Greif UK Ltd.
Storsack UK Ltd.
Greif Venezuela, C.A.

Incorporated or Organized
Under Laws of

France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Greece
Hungary
Italy
Malaysia
Malaysia
Mexico
Morocco
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Norway
Poland
Portugal
Romania
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Saudi Arabia
Singapore
Singapore
South Africa
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Taiwan
Turkey
Turkey
Turkey
Ukraine
United Arab Emirates
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Venezuela

EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-26767) pertaining to the Greif, Inc. 1996 Directors Stock
Option Plan
2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-26977) pertaining to the Greif, Inc. Incentive Stock Option
Plan
3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-35048) pertaining to the Greif 401(k) Retirement Plan
4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-61058) pertaining to the Greif, Inc. 2000 Nonstatutory Stock
Option Plan
5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-61068) pertaining to the Greif, Inc. 2001 Management Equity
Incentive and Compensation Plan
6) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-123133) pertaining to the Greif, Inc. 2005 Outside Directors
Equity Award Plan
7) Registration Statement (Form S-4 No. 333-142203) 6 3 / 4 percent Senior Notes due 2017
8) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-151475) pertaining to Greif, Inc. Amended and Restated
Long-Term Incentive Plan
9) Registration Statement (Form S-4 No. 333-162011) 7 3 / 4 percent Senior Notes due 2019;
of our reports dated December 22, 2010, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Greif,
Inc. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Greif, Inc. included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Greif, Inc. for the year ended October 31, 2010.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Columbus, Ohio
December 22, 2010

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael J. Gasser, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Greif, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
• Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
• Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
• Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
• Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Michael J. Gasser
Michael J. Gasser, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
Date: December 22, 2010

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Donald S. Huml, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Greif, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
• Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
• Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
• Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
• Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Donald S. Huml
Donald S. Huml, Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)
Date: December 22, 2010

EXHIBIT 32.1
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
In connection with the Annual Report of Greif, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended
October 31, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I,
Michael J. Gasser, the chief executive officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Michael J. Gasser
Michael J. Gasser, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer
Date: December 22, 2010
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Greif, Inc. and will be
retained by Greif, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 32.2
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
In connection with the Annual Report of Greif, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended
October 31, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Donald
S. Huml, the chief financial officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Donald S. Huml
Donald S. Huml, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
Date: December 22, 2010
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Greif, Inc. and will be
retained by Greif, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

